## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

12-3-2020 2:00 PM

# Targeting CD5 to enhance immune T cell activation and function in treatment of solid tumours

Faizah Alotaibi, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Koropatnick, James, *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Min, Weiping, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Microbiology and Immunology © Faizah Alotaibi 2020

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Immunotherapy Commons, Medical Immunology Commons, and the Translational Medical Research Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Alotaibi, Faizah, "Targeting CD5 to enhance immune T cell activation and function in treatment of solid tumours" (2020). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 7669. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7669

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## Abstract

CD5 is a member of scavenger receptor cysteine-rich superfamily that is expressed primarily on T cells. It can attenuate T-cell receptor signaling and impair cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) activation and is a therapeutic targetable tumour antigen expressed on leukemic T and B cells. However, the potential therapeutic effect of functionally blocking CD5 to increase T cell anti-tumour activity against tumours (including solid tumours) has not been explored. CD5<sup>-</sup> solid tumours in CD5 knockout mice display increased in anti-tumour immunity. Hence, blocking CD5 function may have a potential therapeutic effect by enhancing CTL function. Here, I assessed CD5 levels in T cell subsets in different organs in mice bearing syngeneic 4T1 breast tumour homografts and determined the association between CD5 and increased CD69 and PD-1 (markers of T cell activation and exhaustion) by flow cytometry. I report that CD5 levels in T cells was higher in peripheral organs than in lymphocytes infiltrated into tumours, and that CD5<sup>high</sup> T cells from peripheral organs exhibited higher levels of activation and exhaustion than CD5<sup>low</sup> T cells from the same organs. Interestingly, among the population of tumour-infiltrated lymphocyte subtypes, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with low CD5 were activated to a higher level than CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with high CD5, with concomitantly increased exhaustion markers. Thus, differential CD5 levels among T cells in tumours and lymphoid organs can be associated with different levels of T cell activation and exhaustion, suggesting that CD5 could be a therapeutic target for immunotherapeutic activation in cancer therapy. I then studied the effect on primary T cell effector function of targeting CD5 ex vivo using an anti-CD5 MAb. The result showed enhanced cytotoxic T cell capacity to respond to activation and enhanced the capacity of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to kill 4T1-mouse tumour cells in an *ex vivo* assay. These data support the potential of blockade of CD5 function to enhance T cell-mediated anti-tumour immunity. Based on these results I tested anti-CD5 *in vivo* as a single agent and in combination with other drugs and found a significant increase in activation and effector function of T cells: an effect that resulted in decreased 4T1 tumour homograft growth in vivo. These data suggest potential use of anti-CD5 MAb to enhance immune activation to poorly immunogenic tumour antigens and reduce tumour growth.

ii

# Keywords

Cancer immunotherapy, CD5, CTL, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell, anti-CD5 MAb, anti-PD-1 MAb, PD-1, immune cell, breast cancer, 4T1 tumour, immunotherapy, TILs, poorly immunogenic tumour antigen, T cell exhaustion, T cell activation

## Summary for lay audience

T cells are an important part of the immune system, containing molecules that participate in recognizing foreign substances (antigens) including antigens that arise in cancer cells. When antigens stimulate those molecules, they activate T cells to recognize and kill the foreign organisms that contain those antigens (including cancer cells that contain unusual molecules that act as antigens). On the other hand, T cells also contain proteins that control their degree of activation by limiting their response to antigen recognitions: those proteins are termed "inhibitory receptors". CD5 is such a receptor, expressed mainly on T cells, that limits T cell capacity to undergo activation in response to recognition of tumour antigen. Other studies have shown that mice with deleted CD5 and intact immune systems had delayed growth of transplanted tumours, suggesting that loss of CD5 can lead to increased immune activation in response to cancer cell antigen recognition, and immune cell-mediated attack and destruction of cancer cells resulting in slower cancer growth. I propose that blocking CD5 will coax T cells into better anti-cancer action, both as a treatment applied alone and in combination with already-approved immunotherapies. In this thesis, I describe my study of the correlation between CD5 level and T cell activation and exhaustion, and my assessment of dynamic CD5 expression among peripheral organs. I also inhibited CD5 on T cells obtained from mouse spleens using an anti-CD5 blocking antibody, a step taken to make them more active in recognizing and killing cancer cells. I found a significant increase in T cell effector function following treatment with a blocking anti-CD5 antibody and, based on these results, I then moved on to test the efficacy of this drug to treat mice with fully functional immune systems and transplanted mouse breast tumours. Treating mice with anti-CD5 antibody increased T cell activation function in spleen, lymph node and tumour. Furthermore, tumour growth was delayed by the treatment. These findings suggest that treatment with anti-CD5 MAb can result in increased T cell effector function and reduced tumour homograft growth. Further investigation of reduction of CD5 in combination with other immunotherapy approaches may enhance anti-cancer immune T cells.

iv

# **Co-authorship statement**

All work presented in this thesis and submitted and published in peer-reviewed journals were completely done by Faizah Alotaibi. All laboratory members who contributed through constructive criticism, providing additional information, and assisting in animal experiments assistance are named in the acknowledgements section.

## **Dedications**

To my Parents (Mesfer and Sara), my husband Bandar and

my siblings Majed and Hawazin

Thank you for your unconditional love and support throughout the years

To my little angel Ryan

Who joined in during the first year of my PhD, it is a pleasure watching you grow along with my PhD research project. You have taught me multitasking, determination, patience, love and joy which I needed to thrive in graduate school

To my grandma Dede

Growing up by her side she used to tell me with a warm smile on her face, "Faizah, you are one person but equal to seven brave men". I always laughed when she said that, and I said but why only seven grandma!

To Dr. Jim Koropatnick and my M.Sc. supervisor Dr. Peter Greer

When I joined your labs, I wanted nothing but the fact that I want to fight cancer. Thank you for opening the gate for me.

Both of you will always be part of my continued future success

## Acknowledgments

First and for the most, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. James Koropatnick for providing me with the tremendous support and mentorship. What I learned from you throughout the years exceeds academia, for that I am very grateful.

I would like also to thank my co-supervisor Dr. Wei-ping Min for his support and guidance and my committee members Dr. Joseph Mymryk and Dr. Mark Vincent for serving in my PhD committee and providing me with guidance throughout my PhD journey.

I would like to thank all the past and present members of Dr. Koropatnick and Dr. Min labs for the criticism and suggestion to my project, and specially Rene Figueredo and Ronak Zareardalan for animal assistance.

And finally, I must express my gratitude to the tough circumstances that arose during my four years of my PhD which added learning values in my life. These circumstances, including but not limited to: losing three of my grandparents, Canada-Saudi diplomatic dispute, sudden medical leave, no maternity leave, family separation and the COVID-19 pandemic. To these unfortunate circumstances I say

"A determined woman is unstoppable and can finish on time"

# Table of contents

Abstractii
Keywordsiii
Summary for Lay audienceiv
Co-authorship Statementv
Dedicationsviii
Acknowledgmentsvii
List of Tablesxii
List of Figuresxiii
List of Abbreviationsxvi
Chapter 1. Introduction1
1.1 Cancer Immunity1
1.2 Cancer Immunosurveillance2
1.3 Current and Developing Immunotherapy Strategies4
1.3.1 Current immunotherapy strategies4
1.3.2 Developing immunotherapy strategies7
1.3.3 Increasing T-cell receptor affinity9
1.4 CD512
1.5 CD5 in CD5 <sup>+</sup> Non-solid Tumours (T and B Malignancies)15
1.5.1 CD5 as diagnostic marker for T and B malignancies
1.5.2 CD5 as prognostic marker for T and B cell malignancies16
1.5.3 CD5 as therapeutic target on T and B tumour cells
1.6 CD5 Blockade as a Therapy to Treat CD5 <sup>-</sup> Solid Tumours
1.7 CD5 Blockade-mediated Immune Cell Activation21
1.7.1 CD5 on T cells21

1.7.2 CD5 on B cells	22
1.7.3 CD5 on dendritic cells	24
1.8 CD5 in Clinical Trials	25
1.9 Mouse Models to Study Cancer Immunotherapy Drugs	29
1.9.1 Humanized tumour model	29
1.9.2 Syngeneic tumour models	29
1.9.2.1 The murine 4T1 breast tumour cell line	30
1.10 Hypothesis and Objectives	31
Chapter 2. Material and methods	33
2.1 Key resources table 2	33
2.2 Experimental model and subject details	40
2.2.1 Mice	40
2.2.2 Cell lines	41
2.2.3 Syngeneic mouse tumour model.	41
2.2.4 <i>In vivo</i> drug treatment	40
2.3 Methods	46
2.3.1 Splenocytes and lymphocytes preparation	46
2.3.2 Tumour-infiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) preparation	47
2.3.3 4T1 mouse breast tumour lysate preparation	47
2.3.4 Western immunoblotting	48
2.3.5 <i>In vitro</i> activation	49
2.3.6 <i>Ex vivo</i> activation	49
2.3.7 T cell apoptosis	50
2.3.8 T cell proliferation	50
2.3.9 Flow cytometry	51
2.3.10 Intracellular cytokine staining (ICS)	51

2.3.11 <i>Ex vivo</i> cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) assay52
2.3.12 CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell purification53
2.3.13 Cell counting53
2.3.14 Statistical Analysis54
Chapter 3. CD8 <sup>+</sup> T tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes with downregulated cell surface expression of CD5 exhibited an increased level of activation and exhaustion
3.1 Preamble
3.2 Results
3.2.1 Differential CD5 expression among organs and T cell subsets 56
3.2.2 CD5 level on CD4 <sup>+</sup> and CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells is induced upon TCR/CD3 stimulation60
3.2.3 CD5 <sup>high</sup> T cells in spleen and lymph nodes exhibit increased activation63
3.2.4 CD5 <sup>-/low</sup> T cells display increase activation in the tumour67
3.2.5 CD5 <sup>high</sup> T cells in spleen and lymph nodes exhibit increased exhaustion70
3.2.6 CD5 <sup>-/low</sup> CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells display increased exhaustion in the tumour73
Chapter 4. CD5 blockade enhances <i>ex vivo</i> CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell activation and tumour cell cytotoxicity76
4.1 Preamble
4.2 Results77
4.2.1 CD5 blockade enhances CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell receptor signaling77
4.2.2 CD5 blockade enhances CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell activation and proliferation80
4.2.3 Increased fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> IFNγ <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti- CD5 MAb85
4.2.4 CD5 blockade increases FasR- and FasL-dependent death of CD8⁺ T cells92
4.2.5 CD5 blockade enhances tumour killing by CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells102

Chapter 5. Administration of anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i> enhances CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell activation and function in a poorly immunogenic 4T1 breast tumour
mode105
5.1 Preamble
5.2 Results106
5.2.1 Anti-CD5 MAb treatment increases the fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells relative to CD4+ T cells in tumours and draining lymph nodes 106
5.2.2 Increased CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell activation after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i> 109
5.2.3 Increased CD8⁺T cell exhaustion after treatment of anti-CD5 MAb <i>in</i> <i>vivo</i> 112
5.2.4 Increased activation-induce cell death and level of Fas receptor on CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells after anti-CD5 MAb treatment115
5.2.5 Enhanced T cell tumour reactivity and degranulation after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i> 120
5.2.6 No overt toxicity is associated with anti-CD5 MAb treatment <i>in vivo</i> 
5.2.7 Mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb had significant accumulation of T <sub>reg</sub> cells in tumour-draining lymph nodes129
5.2.8 Myeloid-derived suppressor cells express higher levels of inhibitory ligands in mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb132
5.2.9 Increased fraction of activated CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells in mice treated with anti- CD5 + anti-PD-1 MAbs135
5.2.10 Increased fraction of effector CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells in anti-CD5 and anti-PD- 1 combination therapy138
5.2.11 Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i> reduces 4T1 tumour growth in mice144
Chapter 6. Discussion
Chapter 7. References 170
Curriculum Vitae

# List of tables

Table 1: Clinical trials for CD5 in solid and non-solid tumours	28
Table 2 <sup>.</sup> Key resources	33

# List of figures

Chapter 1		
Figure 1	Antigen-presenting cell interaction with CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells or CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells	p.11
Figure 2	CD5 Timeline of its discovery and potential use as a therapeutic target in immune-related disorders.	p.14
Figure 3	CD5 blocking and its possible effect during immunological synapse	p.32
Chapter 2		
Figure 4	Scheme of the first in vivo treatment design	p.42
Figure 5	Scheme of the second in vivo treatment design	p.43
Figure 6	Scheme of the third in vivo treatment design	p.44
Figure 7	Scheme of the fourth in vivo treatment design	p.45
Figure 8	Scheme of the fifth in vivo treatment design	p.46
Chapter 3		
Figure 9	CD5 levels in T cell subsets and lymphoid organs	p.58
Figure 10	CD5 expression by CD4 <sup>+</sup> and CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells is increased upon activation	p.61
Figure 11	The correlation of CD5 with CD69 on CD4 <sup>+</sup> and CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells.	p.64
Figure 12	The fraction of CD5 <sup>high</sup> and CD5 <sup>-/low</sup> tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) expressing CD69	p.68
Figure 13	The correlation of CD5 level with PD-1 level in CD4 <sup>+</sup> and CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells from spleen and lymph nodes of tumour-bearing mice	p.71

Figure 14 CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from tumour-bearing mice exhibit p.74 an exhaustion phenotype compared to CD5<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

## Chapter 4

Figure 15	Increased ERK phosphorylation in anti-CD3/anti-CD5 MAb-treated splenocytes.	p.78
Figure 16	CD8⁺ T cell activation after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb blockade.	p.81
Figure 17	CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb blockade	p.83
Figure 18	Increased fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> IFN- $\gamma^+$ T cell after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb.	p.86
Figure 19	Increased fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> IFN-γ <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>ex vivo</i>	p.88
Figure 20	IFNγ in purified CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells following activation, with or without anti-CD5 MAb blockade.	p.90
Figure 21	Increased CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell apoptosis after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 antibodies and treatment with anti- CD5 MAb	p.94
Figure 22	Increased CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell apoptosis after activation with 4T1 tumour cell lysate and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb	p.96
Figure 23	Increased fractions of FasR <sup>+</sup> /CD8 <sup>+</sup> and FasL <sup>+</sup> /CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells after stimulation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>ex vivo</i> .	p.98
Figure 24	Increased fractions of FasR <sup>+</sup> CD8 <sup>+</sup> and FasL <sup>+</sup> CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells after stimulation with 4T1 tumour cell lysate and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>ex vivo</i>	p.100
Figure 25	Anti-CD5 MAb enhances <i>ex vivo</i> CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated killing of mouse 4T1 breast tumour cells	p.103
Chapter 5		
Figure 26	Fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> T and CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i> .	p.107

Figure 27	Fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> CD69 <sup>+</sup> T and CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD69 <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i>	p.110
Figure 28	The fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> PD-1 <sup>+</sup> T and CD4 <sup>+</sup> PD-1 <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i>	p.113
Figure 29	Increased early apoptosis of CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells apoptosis (upper graph) and AICD (low graph) after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb	p.116
Figure 30	The level of Fas receptor on CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cell and CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i>	p.118
Figure 31	The fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> CD107a <sup>+</sup> T and CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD107a <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i> .	p.122
Figure 32	The fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> CD137 <sup>+</sup> T and CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD137 <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb <i>in vivo</i> .	p.124
Figure 33	Body weight measurements.	p.127
Figure 34	The fraction of $T_{reg}$ and MDSC after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb	p.130
Figure 35	Level of PD-L1 and Fas ligand on MDSC	p.133
Figure 36	The fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> CD69 <sup>+</sup> T and CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD69 <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD1 <i>in vivo</i>	p.136
Figure 37	The fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> CD107a <sup>+</sup> T and CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD107a <sup>e</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD1 <i>in vivo</i>	p.139
Figure 38	The fraction of CD8 <sup>+</sup> CD137 <sup>+</sup> T and CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD137 <sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD1 <i>in vivo</i>	p.141
Figure 39	Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb + anti-PD-1 MAb, first treatment design	p.145
Figure 40	Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb + anti-PD-1 MAb, second treatment design	p.147
Figure 41	Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb + Gemcitabine.	p.149
Figure 42	Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb + 5-FU	p.151

# List of abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning
5FU	5-fluorouracil
APCs	Antigen-presenting cells
ACK	Ammonium-Chloride-Potassium
ATC	Adoptive T cell
ADC	Antibody-drug conjugates
AICD	Activation-induced death
BCR	B cell receptor
CARs	Chimeric antigen receptors
CTL	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte
CTLA-4	T lymphocyte antigen 4
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
CTCL	Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia
CK2	Casein kinase II
cDCs	Conventional DCs
DCs	Dendritic cells
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DLBCLs	Diffuse large B-cell lymphomas
DCs	Dendritic cells
DOX	Doxorubicin
Erk1/2	Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase

FOXP3	Forkhead box P3
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
i.p.	Intraperitoneal
i.v.	Intravenous
IFN	Interferon
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
IL-2	Interleukin-2
ICS	Intracellular cytokine staining
ICBs	Immune checkpoint blockers
Lag3	Lymphocyte-activation gene 3
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MDSC	Myeloid-derived suppressor cell
mDCs	Myeloid DCs
MCL	Hairy cell leukemia, mantle cell lymphoma
NK	Natural killer
NK-92	IL-2-dependent NK cell line
NHL	Chronic non-Hodgkin B cell lymphoma
PD-1	Programmed death 1
PD-L2	Programmed death ligand 1
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PI	Propidium iodide
pDCs	Plasmacytoid DCs
p.t	Peritumoural
RNA	Ribonucleic acid

RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
SRCR	Scavenger receptor cysteine-rich
SLL	Small cell leukemia/lymphoma
SHP-1	Src homology-2 protein phosphatase-1
SD	Standard deviation
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
Tregs	T regulatory cells
Tigit	T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TAAs	Tumour-associated antigens
TCRs	T cell receptors
T-ALL	T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
ZAP70	Zeta-chain-associated protein kinase 70

## **Chapter 1**

#### 1. Introduction

Part of this chapter has been submitted for consideration as a mini-review article titled "*CD5* as a Targetable Antigen in Solid and Non-Solid Tumours" in the *European Journal of Immunology*.

## 1.1 Cancer immunity

Early evidence suggesting a role for the human immune system in response to, and treatment of tumours was reported in 1891 when William Coley, known today as the "Father of Immunotherapy", injected live bacteria as an immune activator in treatment of cancer patients (1). He used streptococcal bacteria that causes a cellulitis infection of the superficial layer of skin known as erysipelas (St. Anthony's Fire)(2). In response to that injection, some patients showed spontaneous remission from their cancers (1). Coley began injecting live and weakened bacteria, including Streptococcus pyogenes and Serratia marcescens, into the tumours of patients: the first immune-based treatments for cancer (3). Despite promising results including long-term survival in some (but certainly not all) cancer patients, Coley's toxins were widely forgotten for over fifty years due to the risk of infecting cancer patients with potentially life-threatening bacteria, lack of clear understanding of the mechanism of action for these toxins, and the rise of radiation-based treatments (with comparatively clear and consistent results) at approximately the same time as Coley reported responses to bacterial injections. In the late 1950s, Burnet and Thomas published a series of papers

proposing a theory of cancer immunosurveillance (*i.e.*, that lymphocytes act as sentinels in recognizing and eliminating continuously arising, nascent transformed cells): a role for the immune system in defending against tumour initiation and growth (4, 5). However, the enthusiasm for developing immunotherapeutic drugs was, thereafter, slow due to limited understanding of immune mechanisms and the increase interest in chemotherapeutic approaches. Cancer immunosurveillance theory re-emerged in 1974 when more immune cell subsets and their function were discovered.

#### 1.2 Cancer immunosurveillance

It is clear now that the interaction between the immune system of host organisms and cancers arising in, or transplanted into, those host organisms is complex. Several studies conducted using mouse models and human samples suggest a role for the immune system in cancer formation (6). The immune system not only carries out cancer immunosurveillance to eliminate cancer cells but also, paradoxically, promotes the growth of poorly immunogenic tumour cells that can escape immune surveillance (6, 7). Tumours are composed of a population of transformed cells that are morphologically, phenotypically, and genetically heterogeneous (8). Because immune cells rely on specific tumour cell antigens and susceptibility to innate and humoral immune events to induce death (described below), that heterogeneity renders tumour cells variably susceptible to immune recognition and attack (9). These immune cells become alerted to the stromal remodeling by tumour cells and production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines (10). This results in recruitment of immune cells such as

monocytes and natural killer T cells and cytotoxic T cells. The recruited tumourinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) and monocytes eliminate tumour cells by cytotoxic mechanisms such as production of interferon gamma (11), in addition to production of perforin (12), and pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumour necrosis factor (TNF) (13) which modulate cells in the tumour and was shown to exert portent anti-tumour effect through inducing tumour cell cycle arrest, apoptosis and necroptosis (14). However, these cytotoxic mechanisms result in identification and killing of some, but not all, transformed cells that comprise tumour.

Tumour cells that escape the early stage of immunosurveillance can then be recognized by immune cells (T lymphocytes) that secrete IFN-γ to eliminate escaping tumour cells. Although many tumour cells that escaped immune-cell elimination are destroyed during this phase, some non-immunogenic tumour cells and cells that are well-recognized by immune cells and antibodies but are resistant to the mechanisms that induce death survive this stage (15). This stage can last for many years and can result in a heterogeneous parental population that is highly capable of escaping the immune system. There are several mechanisms, selected for tumour cells in this stage which undergoing continuous exposure to immune cells and immune cell products, contribute to increasing tumour cell immune resistance. These include production of tumour-driven soluble factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and Fas and Fas ligand which are produced by many cell types including tumour cells (16, 17) and immune cells (18, 19) and can initiate T cell death and mediate immune

resistance (20). In addition, inhibitory signaling molecules such as PD-L1 (21) and CTLA-4 (22) and the presence of inhibitory immune cells such as myeloidderived-suppressor cells (MDSCs) (23) and T regulatory ( $T_{reg}$ ) cells (24) can suppress T cell effector function. Our understanding of cancer immunosurveillance has led to identification of mechanisms by which cancer cells can escape immune recognition and elimination (25) and therapeutic approaches to prevent tumour cell escape from immune-mediated killing. Those therapeutic approaches are described below.

#### **1.3 Current and developing immunotherapy strategies**

#### 1.3.1 Current immunotherapy strategies

Tumours with abundant T cell infiltration ("inflamed" tumours), unlike "T-cell desert" tumours (characterized by the absence of immune cells) or "T-cell excluded" tumours (with peripheral invasion of T cells around tumours but poor infiltration into tumours), are a good prognostic biomarker (26). However, the presence of T cells within tumours is not sufficient, in itself, to lead to tumour regression or elimination. Tumour cells can have multiple characteristics that lead to lack of T cell activity, including high levels of immune checkpoint molecules that inhibit T cell activation. These molecules are expressed by several immune cells including T cells and, after binding to their ligands, can induce inhibitory signaling in immune cells (27). Although immune checkpoint molecules are necessary to ameliorate and "fine tune" T cell function, their activity also reduces their ability to recognize and eliminate tumour cells. Treatment with immune checkpoint blockers (ICBs) that target immune

checkpoint molecules can enhance T cell activation potential and are among the most successful immunotherapeutic agents in current clinical use (28). ICBs currently used therapeutically antibodies that target T cell immune checkpoint molecules and have exhibited good results in enhancing overall survival in cancer patients. The first ICB to show a clinical benefit was the anti-CTLA-4 antibody Ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma (29, 30), non-smallcell lung cancer (31), small-cell lung cancer (32), renal cell carcinoma (33), and prostate cancer (34). Following anti-CTLA-4 blockade, further evidence showed clinical benefit in response to treatment with antibodies nivolumab and pembrolizumab (35, 36) that target programmed death-1 (PD-1), and antibodies durvalumab, atezolizumab and avelumab (37) targeting its ligand PD-L1 (38). The use of these monoclonal antibodies to target immune checkpoints has been tested and approved in different cancers including advanced melanoma (39, 40), non-small cell lung cancer (41), and Hodgkin lymphoma (42), improving overall survival in metastatic settings (43). However, these drugs benefit only a minority of patients (44). Additional studies are required and under way to investigate treatment of other tumour types with ICBs, and the capacity of combining blockers with other treatment modalities for additive and/or synergistic therapeutic effectiveness.

Another current immunotherapeutic approached is the use of adoptive T cell (ATC) therapy which was first proposed in 1966 after demonstration that half the patients with advanced cancer exhibited tumour suppression after patient-derived leukocyte infusion into those patients (45). This approach can either use

TILs (46) which can be obtained from excised tumours and expanded in vitro before infusion back into the patients, or by obtaining peripheral blood lymphocytes that can be engineered to express tumour-specific receptor prior to expansion and infusion back to patients (47). The use of TILs was first reported in the late 1980s when lymphocytes isolated from a tumour biopsy and then expanded in vitro in the presence of IL-2 to generate large numbers of tumourreactive lymphocytes were then reinfused back to the same patient, with continued *in vivo* treatment with IL-2 to maintain TIL survival in the body. The response rate of this treatment was 34% with a medium time of 4 months (48). Although this approach yielded promising results, there were challenges in recovering and expanding lymphocytes in vitro. Response to these challenges led to development of TCR-engineered lymphocytes and, later, synthetic chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) genetically engineered to recognize tumourspecific or tumour-associated antigens presented by MHC molecules on antigenpresenting cells, including tumour cells. T cell receptor-engineered T cells are prepared from lymphocytes isolated from cancer patients, genetically engineered to express chimeric antigen receptors (CARs), and then infused back to the same patients. CARs contain an antigen-binding domain associated with the signaling domain of the TCR and various co-stimulatory molecules such as CD28 and CD40 which increase T cell activity in vivo (49, 50).

Cancer vaccines are another immunotherapeutic approach used in the clinic to enhance the immune system and stimulate anticancer immunity. They can be either "preventable vaccines" (for example, to prevent infection by

oncogenic viruses; Gardasil, targeting human papillomavirus subtypes is one such preventable vaccine (51)) or "therapeutic vaccines" aimed at activating immune cells to eliminate tumour cells (52). Bacillus Calmette–Guérin is an example of a vaccine to prevent tuberculosis that can also be used as therapeutic vaccine for bladder cancer (53), and sipuleucel (Provenge), a vaccine composed of activated antigen-presenting dendritic cells, is approved for use in treatment of advanced metastatic prostate cancer (54). Other anti-cancer vaccines for use in combination with agents targeting immune checkpoints (anti-CTLA-4 antibodies, for example) have been explored in the preclinical setting to treat melanoma (55) but haves not yet received FDA or Health Canada approval for standard treatment of human patients.

## 1.3.2 Developing immunotherapy strategies

Scientists are also investigating newly-discovered strategies to enhance antitumour immunity. Following the clinical success of blockade of immune checkpoint blockade molecules (PD-1 and CTLA-4), therapeutic targeting of additional negative regulators of T cell activation is under investigation: candidate targets for therapeutic suppression include the lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG3), T cell immunoglobulin 3 (TIM3) and T cell immunoreceptor with immunoglobulin and immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif domains (TIGIT)(56). LAG3 is an inhibitory ligand that binds to CD4 and blocks its binding to MHC class II molecules (57). Similar to PD-1, LAG3 is a marker for T cell exhaustion and can induce cell cycle arrest (57). Although monotherapy with an anti-LAG3 drug has not succeeded in reaching its declared targets in clinical

trials, 50% of patients with metastatic breast cancer responded to combination of LAG3 blockade and paclitaxel (58). Another negative regulator of the T cell response is TIM3: unlike LAG3, it regulates apoptosis following galectin 9 binding (59). Increased levels of TIM3 correlated with poor prognosis in non-small-cell lung cancer, suggesting a role for it in cancer progression (60). Furthermore, increased TIM3 could mediate resistance to anti-PD-1 blockade (61), making it a candidate for combination with anti-PD1 therapy. Lastly, TIGIT, which inhibits T cell hyperactivation, is highly expressed in TILs compared to peripheral lymphocytes. Therapeutic targeting of TIGIT has shown promising results in enhancing the effect of pre-existing checkpoint blockade and reversing T cell exhaustion (62). So far, the blockade of immune checkpoints other than PD-1 and CTLA-4 has not shown promising results as single agents but rather as adjuvant cancer drugs to increase the effectiveness of other treatments (63).

Immune suppression by inhibitory immune cells such as MDSCs can contribute to escape of cancer cells from immune detection and elimination. It has become clear that some immune checkpoint inhibitor-resistant immune cells can successfully respond to immunotherapeutic approaches when combined with elimination of immune-suppressor cells (64). MDSCs are among the main immune-suppressor cells and have been shown to suppress anti-tumour T cell immunity through several mechanisms, including production of arginase, reactive oxygen species, IL-10, and sequestration of cystine which is an essential amino acid for T cell activation (65, 66). There are a broad range of strategies that can be used to reduce the function of MDSCs or reduce their number *in vivo*, and

which are in pre-clinical trials but have not yet received FDA or Health Canada approval. For example, treatment with some chemotherapeutic drugs reduces intratumoural and splenic MDSCs (67). In vivo administration of gemcitabine into immunologically-competent mice bearing syngeneic large tumour homografts derived from five cancer lines grown in both C57BI/6 and BALB/c mice resulted in reduction in the total number of MDSCs in the spleen (68). This elimination reduced tumour growth after treatment with immunotherapy (68). The depletion of cells was specific to MDSCs as the number of T cell and B cells in spleen was not changed in these mice (68). The exact mechanism of this specificity is not well understood, but it is possible that because gemcitabine reduced tumour growth, it similarly reduced the number of tumour-induced MDSCs. Other chemotherapeutic drugs (doxorubicin (69) and 5-FU (70)) administered to syngeneic tumour-bearing mice resulted in a similar selective reduction in splenic and tumour MDSCs. This strategy and others such as use of a small-molecule inhibitor of CXCR1 and CXCR2 and the use of histone deacetylase inhibitors (71, 72) are under investigation to enhance understanding of MDSC function and assess the capacity of drug-induced MDSC cell reduction to treat cancer and enhance anti-tumour immunotherapy.

## 1.3.3 Increasing T-cell receptor affinity

Cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells recognize tumour-associated antigens (TAAs) through their T cell receptors (TCRs) which bind to small antigenic epitopes presented by the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules on the surface of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) or tumour cells (73). The efficiency of triggering

T cell activation depends on the affinity of TAAs (bound to MHC Class I or Class II molecules) for the TCR, with TCR-MHC interaction stabilising the interaction: stronger interactions lead to superior T cell activation and high responsiveness to tumour antigens (74) (Figure 1). Induction of effective anti-tumour T cell immunity can be increased by enhancing TCR affinity and consequent ability to bind and recognize TAAs presented by MHC molecules. On the other hand, to avoid hyper-activation and pathological inflammation, T cells have the ability to reduce their antigen recognition and responsiveness through molecular mechanisms including interaction of the TCR with associated inhibitory molecules (75): Increased levels and activity of these molecules results in low anti-tumour T cell immunity, as they play a key role in TCR-mediated signaling (75). One example of these molecules is CD5, which can regulate TCR signaling (76). CD5 function in anti-tumour immunity is the focus of my thesis: current understanding of CD5 in solid and non-solid tumours is discussed below.



Figure 1. Antigen presenting cell interaction with CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell.
(A) Structure of MHC-II binding to TCR on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (B) Structure of MHC-I binding to TCR on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

## 1.4 CD5

CD5 was first discovered in the late 1960s and was known as Lyt-1, Ly-A or Ly-1 (mouse), T1 or Leu-1 (human) (77) until its official name was assigned during the first International Workshop and Conference on Human Leukocyte Differentiation Antigens (HLDA) in the early 1980s (78). It was initially used as a cell surface marker for lymphocytes and to distinguish subpopulations of T and B cells (79, 80). It was not until the 1990s, after the first successful cloning of CD5 genes (81, 82) when more functional studies were performed to increase understanding of CD5 structure and function in T and B cells (83, 84) (Figure 2). CD5 is a 67 kDa type-I transmembrane glycoprotein and a member of the highly conserved group B scavenger receptor cysteine-rich (SRCR) protein superfamily (85). It contains three SRCR domains, protein modules of 90 -110 amino acids each (86). This superfamily includes more than 30 soluble or membrane-bound receptors including CD6, each with at least one SRCR extracellular domain in common, and some shown to regulate innate and adaptive responses (87) and to play a role in pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) recognition (88).

CD5 is associated with the antigen-specific receptor complex in both T and B cells (89-91) and is expressed on both  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\gamma\delta$  of T cells (92). It is detectable at early stage T cell development (the "double negative" when the TCR is present but CD8 and CD4 are not) and its expression increases during development from double negative to single positive (CD4<sup>+</sup>/CD8<sup>-</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup>/CD4<sup>-</sup>) stages (76). It has shown to fine-tune positive and negative selection and enhance the development of high affinity antigen binding (76, 89). The level of

CD5 has been linked to the strength of T cell receptor signaling (89). It has also been reported to be expressed on multiple subsets of immune cells such as monocytes (including macrophages (93)) and dendritic cells (94). It is increased in regulatory T and B cells (95, 96). Furthermore, T and B cells exposed to chronic stimulation are characterize by increased levels of CD5 (97, 98).

Ligands for CD5 were hard to identify due to the susceptibility of CD5 to denaturation and loss during experimental isolation. However, by using soluble CD5 purified at neutral pH to stabilize biological activity, CD5 has been shown to facilitate species-specific homophilic interactions and that CD5 is a ligand for itself (99). Further, the B cell surface protein CD72 in human or Lyb-2 in mice is a ligand for CD5 (100). Because CD5 is a member of scavenger receptors which play a role in PAMP recognition (101), CD5 can bind to exogenous ligands such as  $\beta$ -D-glucan (102) which is a polysaccharide found in the cell walls of yeast and mushrooms shown to promote immune response and is anti-tumourigenic (103, 104). Evaluation of the role of CD5 role in the T-cell antigen receptor signaling pathway has been reviewed previously (105). Here, I review the potential therapeutic targeting of CD5 (both depleting or non-depleting approaches) in solid and non-solid tumours.



Figure 2. CD5 Timeline of its discovery and potential use as a therapeutic target in immune-related disorders.

## 1.5 CD5 in CD5<sup>+</sup> non-solid tumours (T and B malignancies)

## 1.5.1 CD5 as diagnostic marker for T and B malignancies

Non-solid tumours (specifically, malignant lymphomas) are neoplasms that arise from B or T immune cells during various stages of development (106). Although the initial diagnosis of malignant lymphoma is made on the basis of cell morphology using histologic or cytologic tests (107), histologically similar malignant lymphomas are immunophenotypically and molecularly heterogeneous. Immunophenotyping of normal, non-transformed lymphocytes can be subdivided based on lineage markers expressed on their cell surfaces. For example, T cells express CD2, CD3, CD4, CD5, and CD8 while B cells express markers such as CD19, CD20 and CD22. In non-solid B and T cells tumours, lineage marker patterns may be similar (108). Hence, the majority of non-solid tumours are subdivided according to the pattern of marker expression.

CD5 is expressed on T cells and a subset of B cells (B1 cells)(109). CD5 has been used as characteristic surface marker of T and B cell malignancies. Nearly 70% of T-cell malignancies are CD5-positive, including T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (T-ALL) and T-lymphoma (110). CD5 has also been used as a useful marker to detect certain B-cell malignancies including B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), chronic non-Hodgkin B cell lymphoma (NHL), hairy cell leukemia, mantle cell lymphoma (MCL), and small cell leukemia/lymphoma (SLL)(111, 112). Approximately 6% of NHL are MCL (113) which are mostly CD5<sup>+</sup>, similar to their normal counterparts which are generated

from the mantle zone cells in lymphoid follicles. Furthermore, almost 10% of diffuse large B-cell lymphomas (DLBCLs) express CD5 (114). In contrast to CD5, other T-cell markers are rarely expressed in B-cell lymphomas, drawing attention to CD5 as a diagnostic marker for non-solid tumours.

#### 1.5.2 CD5 as prognostic marker for T and B cell malignancies

CD5 on T and B malignancies vary in amount and is associated with clinical outcome and, sometimes, treatment resistance (115). High CD5 levels can be correlated with either a positive or negative prognosis, depending on the malignancy. Unlike T cell malignancy, CD5 is expressed by a smaller percentage of B cell malignancies. The level of CD5 varies among patients with B-CLL (116) and high CD5 is associated with better clinical outcome (117). CD5 acts as suppressor for B cell receptor (BCR) signaling (118) whereas, upon CD5 phosphorylation, Src homology-2 protein phosphatase-1 (SHP-1) is recruited to the cell membrane resulting in impaired BCR signaling. Because BCR signaling is critical for B-CLL tumour cell survival, increased CD5 is associated with better clinical outcomes and can be used as prognostic tool for B-CLL patients (119). In contrast, high CD5 is correlated with poor prognosis in patients with DLBCL (120), the most common subtype of NHL and highly invasive (121). 9.2% of DLBCL patients have tumours that express CD5, and this expression was not associated with age, sex, or clinical stages but rather with worse clinical outcomes (120). These lymphomas exhibit higher BCL-2 and increased recurrence in the central nervous system (122). In addition, CD5 has been proposed as an independent prognostic factor for DLBCL in elderly patients

(123). MCL is a disease consisting of several subtypes, most of which are CD5positive as they are generated from mantle zone cells in lymphoid follicles (124). Mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) patients with a fraction of CD5<sup>+</sup> cells less than 80% have decreased overall survival compared to those with a fraction higher than 80% (125). This indicates that favorable prognosis in high CD5<sup>+</sup> in MCL is an indicator of a favourable prognosis.

#### 1.5.3 CD5 as therapeutic target on T and B tumour cells

Several studies have validated therapeutic targeting of CD5 on T and B tumour cells as a therapeutic strategy. Anti-CD5 antibodies conjugated with various cytotoxic molecules (ADCs, or antibody-drug conjugates) have been used to treat non-solid CD5<sup>+</sup> tumours. Anti-human CD5 monoclonal antibody (T101) conjugated to the chemotherapeutic drug doxorubicin (DOX) suppresses human T-cell leukaemia in athymic mice more effectively than T101 alone or DOX alone (126). Selective delivery of immunoconjugates consisting of monoclonal antibody T101 targeting CD5 linked to the potent toxin ricin A and labeled with radionuclides to the human T lymphoblastoid CEM and MOLT-4 tumour cell lines expressing CD5 suppressed tumour growth compared to control antibody that was minimally inhibitory (127). Killing of CD5<sup>+</sup> non-solid tumours occurs after diffusion of the potent toxin ricin A through the cell membrane into the cytoplasm of the cell to inactivate ribosomes and inhibit protein synthesis to induce cell death (128). The use of radiolabeled antibody enhances tumour killing at a distance from the binding site and increases the killing directly by affecting DNA and plasma membrane and killing adjacent tumour cells relatively
insensitive to immunoconjugate within the heterogeneous population of transformed cells within the tumour (the "bystander" effect). In contrast, CAR-T cells exerted a better anti-tumour response against CD5<sup>+</sup> tumour cells. In 2015, Mamonkin *et al.* transduced human T cells with chimeric antigen receptor targeting CD5 (CD5-CAR-T) to eliminate and kill malignant T cells lines as well as primary T-ALL blasts (129). CD5<sup>+</sup> CAR-T cells were expanded *in vitro* and were able to target and eliminate CD5<sup>+</sup> non-solid malignant T cells and to control disease progression in a xenograft mouse model (129). However, there was a lack of sustained effect as expansion of anti-CD5 CAR-T cells was transient due to cell self-killing (fratricide).

Anti-CD5 CAR-T cells have exerted better anti-tumour activity than anti-CD5 MAbs in directly targeting aggressive T-cell malignancies. However, because the majority of T cells express CD5, the treatment approach comes with some limitations due to fratricide in the engineered CAR-T cells expressing CD5 and the off-target toxicity from T-cell aplasia (130). T cell aplasia is a lifethreatening condition resulting in immune system suppression, unlike CAR therapy in B cell malignancies which can be managed through intravenous infusion of immunoglobulins (131). This problem was resolved by switching to two other approaches: CD5-CRISPR-Cas9-edited T cells and CD5-negative NK cells (132). The first approach is use of genome-editing CRISPR-Cas9 to knock out CD5 in the human Jurkat T cell line. The CD5-edited CD5-CAR-modified Jurkat T cells exhibited reduced fratricide and self-activation which can result from interactions with self and neighboring CD5 antigens and enhanced

activation when co-cultured with target cells (132). The second approach involves use of CD5-negative NK cells engineered to express anti-CD5 CARs. An IL-2-dependent NK cell line (NK-92) expressing anti-CD5 CAR effectively targeted a CD5<sup>+</sup> T cell leukemia cell line *in vivo* and *in vitro* (132). However, the lack of IL-2 led to low efficacy of the treatment which is essential to maintain NK-92 proliferation and function. The use of both approaches has potential to overcome fratricide in CAR-T cells and enhance the capacity of CAR-T cells to therapeutically target CD5 directly on non-solid immune cell malignancies. Therapeutic targeting of CD5 on non-tumour cells, on the other hand, has potential as a cancer immunotherapy and is described below.

#### 1.6 CD5 blockade as a therapy to treat CD5<sup>-</sup> solid tumours

The possible immunotherapeutic potential of anti-CD5 MAb in treatment of CD5<sup>-</sup> solid tumours was first reported in the early 1980s (133). Passive administration of unconjugated/non-depleting anti-CD5 polyclonal antibody reduced tumour growth in mice harbouring non-solid tumour (EL-4 leukemia) and solid tumour (Lewis lung carcinoma) (133). This effect was abolished when mice were thymectomized, suggesting that the anti-tumour efficacy of anti-CD5 polyclonal antibody was not directly on the tumour cells but rather on CD5<sup>+</sup> normal immune cells. Furthermore, genetic knockout of CD5 in mice enhances anti-tumour immunity and reduces homograft tumour growth without impairing mouse viability: syngeneic mouse B16 melanoma tumours have delayed growth in host CD5<sup>-/-</sup> (knockout) mice (134). Transgenic mice with increased expression of soluble human CD5 (sCD5) displayed slower B16F10 tumour homograft

growth than control mice (135), a phenomenon associated with a reduced number of T<sub>regs</sub> in lymph node and spleen and an increased number of natural killer cells in the spleen. Because soluble CD5 is capable of binding cell surface CD5 (99) the authors hypothesized that sCD5 acted to block CD5 from binding within the TCR/CD3 complex and impaired the capacity of cell surface CD5 to attenuate TCR signaling on T cells (135).

The correlation between CD5 level and anti-tumour immunity has been also reported in several human studies. TILs isolated from lung cancer patients have been reported to exhibit different anti-tumour activity based on CD5 expression, where CD5 levels were negatively correlated with anti-tumour activity (136). Increased tumour-mediated activation-induced death (AICD) has been reported in T cells with undetectable CD5 levels compared to CD5<sup>high</sup> T cells, suggesting that CD5 could impair activation of anti-tumour T cells (137). This observation was associated with increased TIL activation as shown by increased activation markers such as CD25 and CD69 (134). However, the delay in tumour growth was transit due to increased AICD which can be reverted by blocking pathway that induced AICD such as Fas/FasL signaling pathway. Therefore, CD5 may negatively regulate T-cell responsiveness to tumour neoantigens and TAAs of low immunogenicity and if therapeutically reduced could lead to increased T cell recognition and killing of tumour cells expressing such antigenic molecules. As such, blocking CD5 signaling could lead to increased anti-tumour immunity and enhanced immune cell activation.

# 1.7 CD5 blockade-mediated immune cell activation

## 1.7.1 CD5 on T cells

CD5 has been shown to interact with TCR and impair its signaling pathway (89). Previous studies have shown that CD5 plays a role in signal transduction and participate in phosphorylation of intracellular substrates including protein kinase C (138, 139), and enhance intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration (140). CD5 has four tyrosine residues (Y378, Y429, Y411, and Y463) in its cytoplasmic domain. When tyrosine residues are phosphorylated they recruit several molecules and kinases away from the TCR complex, resulting in suppression of TCR signaling strength (141). Recruited and excluded molecules include casein kinase II (CK2), CBL, SHP-1, PI3K and zeta-chain-associated protein kinase 70 (ZAP70), which play roles in regulating the TCR signaling pathway (142). SHP1 inhibits Ca<sup>2+</sup> and decrease activation of PLC gamma (142) while ZAP70 promotes Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling which activates ERK and recruits and activates other molecules such as PLC gamma (143).

The role of CD5 on the CD3/TCR signaling pathway has an impact on T cell function and survival. As previously reported, TILs with low CD5 levels have reduced survival: they undergo more AICD as a result of increased activation (137). Furthermore, T cells isolated from among TILs and peripheral blood lymphocytes from lung cancer patients have been reported to differ in their antitumour effect based on their CD5 levels: higher CD5 levels correlated with lower anti-tumour effect (136). Not only the presence or absence of CD5 but also its

level has an effect on T cell activation threshold (76). CD5 is detectable at very early stages of T cell development, and its level increases as T cells progress from hematopoietic precursors through to commitment to CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> expression (76). CD5 is upregulated by engagement of the antigen receptor in both immature and mature T cells. These observations support a previously study reporting that T cells with genetically-deleted CD5 are hyper-responsive to antigen stimulation, a potentially positive characteristic for anti-tumour immunity (141). Together, these data support the potential of blocking CD5 to increased anti-tumour immunity and enhanced immune cell activation.

#### 1.7.2 CD5 on B cells

CD5 on B cells was first studied in B-CLL until it was shown that CD5 is also expressed in other subpopulations of B cells isolated from spleen, lymph nodes, and blood (144, 145). Further studies on B cell subpopulation revealed that B1 cells can be subdivided into two types based on CD5 level (CD5<sup>+</sup> B1a cells and CD5- B1b cells) (146). Similar to T cells, the physical correlation between CD5 and BCR suggests a potential functional role that can regulate B cell activation. It was reported that CD5 plays a negative role in BCR signaling: CD5-deficient B1 cells treated with anti-IgM antibodies show increased proliferation (147). Furthermore, CD5-deficient B1 cells showed decreased apoptosis and promoted NF*k*B translocation to the nucleus (147). The link between CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells and tumour immunity has been previously reported. CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells lacking IL-6R $\alpha$  and isolated from within tumours was reported to bind IL-6 directly through CD5 (148). This interaction leads to activation of gp130 and Jak3 which results in

activation of STAT3 (148). Furthermore, CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells but not CD5<sup>-</sup> B cells promoted B16 melanoma growth, suggesting that CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells might promote tumour progression (148). The same year, another study reported that IL-6binding to CD5 in B cells promotes tumour growth via JAK-STAT signaling (149).

Most studies focus on CD5 as a marker for B malignancies and autoimmune diseases, which may not represent the normal physiological function of CD5 in untransformed B cells. Hence, the underlining mechanism through which CD5 regulates B cell survival and development is still not well understood. It has been shown that B cells expressing CD5 produced greater amounts of IL-10 compared to B cells lacking CD5 (150). Furthermore, BCR stimulation in B cells lacking CD5 are more susceptible to apoptosis compared to B cells expressing CD5 (151). These results suggest a regulatory role for CD5 in B cell survival. A further study investigated the role of CD5 as a regulator molecule for B cell survival using B-CLL cells as a model (152). In this study, Daudi B cells transfected with a CD5 expression vector had hyperphosphorylated tyrosine residues on CD5 suggesting that CD5 activation in B cells may enhance B cell survival in the context of B cell malignancy (152). The exact mechanism underling CD5-mediated B cell survival requires further investigation. Several studies reported potential involvement of specific signaling pathways: crosslinking of anti-CD5 in a subset of B-CLL cells induces PKC activation which resulted in induction of the Bcl-2 pro-survival family protein known as Mcl-1 (153). Another study supported a role for CD5 as an anti-apoptotic molecule in B-

CLL, and suggested that Lyn-mediated SHP-1 recruitment of CD5 could promote resistance to apoptosis (115).

In contrast to T cells, CD5 expressed in a subset of B cells exhibited a proapoptotic function. CD5-deficient B1 cell has been shown improved survival compared to wild type B1 cells, suggesting that CD5 may protect them from apoptosis. These data are difficult to interpret as CD5-deficient B1 cells represent a small fraction of all B cells and their function compared to B1a cells is not yet well understood (147). Furthermore, one study reported that CD5 on resting B cells could induce apoptosis, as opposed to T cells where it was not associated with apoptosis (154). In fact, treatment with anti-CD5 in B-CLL induced tumour apoptosis in some patients (155-157). These data suggest that CD5 function may have a dual function based on the type of cell; it may be proapoptotic in certain malignancies such as B-CLL but anti-apoptotic in normal B and T cells.

#### 1.7.3 CD5 on dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are a heterogeneous group of professional APCs comprised of conventional DCs (cDCs), including plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and CD11c myeloid DCs (mDCs)(158). The first study to report CD5-expressing DCs was published in 1992, showing that DCs isolated from human peripheral blood express CD5 (159). Later, human cDC2 isolated from lymph nodes, skin (Langerhans cells), and tonsils have been reported to be sub-dividable based on their CD5 level (160-162). Furthermore, in mice the majority of DC subtypes have been reported to express CD5 but to a lesser degree than T cells (159).

CD5 expression has not been reported to affect DC generation and maturation but rather to affect their function. The functional relevance of CD5 in DCs is not well understood: one published report indicated that CD5<sup>+</sup> DCs isolated from blood represents a mature phenotype, however their function differ according to their CD5 expression (160). CD5<sup>high</sup> DCs were able to induce proliferation of naïve T cells better than CD5<sup>low</sup> DCs (160). Furthermore, CD5<sup>high</sup> DCs induced increased generation of  $T_{regs}$  (*i.e.*, those expressing IL-10, IL-22, and IL-4) whereas CD5<sup>low</sup> DCs were able to induce increased numbers of IFNy-producing T cells (cytotoxic T cells)(160). It has been reported that CD5-deficient DCs produced higher levels of IL-12 compared to wild-type DCs when challenged with LPS (163). CD5-deficient DCs were able to induce anti-tumour immunity in mice (163). Furthermore, CD5-deficient DCs were capable of inducing higher activation of both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells as assessed by increased production of IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  (163). These effects were abolished after restoring CD5 expression to the CD5-deficent DCs, suggesting that CD5 can reduce production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in DCs: that reduction can decrease their ability to activate T cells and induce strong adaptive immunity. The functional relevance of CD5 in DC, therefore, requires further investigation.

#### 1.8 CD5 in clinical trials

Several phase I clinical trials have been conducting using an anti-CD5 monoclonal antibody. The first was to test the therapeutic effectiveness of a monoclonal mouse antibody (T101) directed against CD5 on human patients suffering from two types of leukemia: eight patients in total, four with cutaneous

T-cell lymphoma (CTCL) and four with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (164) and reported relative specificity and efficacy of monoclonal antibody therapy but the clinical benefit was limited. Another study reported testing of T101 in 13 patients [eight with CTCL and five with various other T cell malignancies] and reported complete remission in one patient with convoluted T cell lymphoma and partial remission in one patient with CTCL (165). These studies reported that higher doses of the antibody were associated with higher toxicity to the patients and the treatment outcome was limited due to antigen modulation as well as development of human anti-mouse antibodies resulting in neutralization of treatment. Further studies validated immunoconjugated T101 to enhance treatment outcome. A phase I clinical trial tested the use of radioimmunoconjugate 90Y-T101 in ten patients [eight with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma and two with chronic lymphocytic leukemia](166). All patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma developed human an anti-mouse response after finishing one cycle of the infusion and therefore did not receive any further infusion. Five of the patients, two with chronic lymphocytic leukemia and three with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, showed partial responses and one patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma is in complete remission after 6 years (166). The use of monoclonal anti-CD5 immunoconjugate with ricin A chain toxin shows some limitation in patients due to development of human anti-mouse antibodies (167). Some durable limiting toxicities to kidney and liver due to non-specific uptake of the toxin conjugate were observed but were not fatal (167). These clinical trials show the need for further research into passive therapy and suggest that the use

of CAR-T cells may be of more clinical value. Work by Mamonkin et al. (129), showed the efficacy of CD5<sup>+</sup> CAR T cells in targeting CD5<sup>+</sup> malignant T cells and led to initiation of a phase I clinical trial (NCT03081910) in 2017 with an estimated primary completion date of 2021. This clinical trial has been recently published a promising result and demonstrate that CD5 CAR T cells are safe when administrated in five patients with relapsed or refractory (r/r) non-Hodgkin T cell lymphoma (T-NHL) and induce clinical responses without inducing complete T-cell aplasia (168). Furthermore, genetic variants of CD5 may affect tumour development and could be used as prognostic markers in patients with certain tumours. Two studies have shown the effect of two CD5 single nucleotide polymorphisms SNPs (rs2241002 and rs2229177) in solid and non-solid tumours (169, 170). A study has investigated two cohort of patients with melanoma and revealed increased survival in patients with ancestral haplotype (169). Another study has reported chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients carrying ancestral P224-A471 haplotype showed increased progression-free survival (170)(Table 1).

	Cancer type	Treatment approach	Phase	Year	Publication
				initiate	d
•	Chronic lymphocytic	Monoclonal antibody to	Phase I	1984	(164)
	leukemia	human T-cell (T101)			
٠	Cutaneous T-cell				
	lymphoma				
•	Cutaneous T cell	Monoclonal antibody to	Phase I	1986	(165)
	lymphomas (CTCL)	human T-cell (T101)			
٠	Various other T cell				
	malignancies				
•	Cutaneous T-cell	Radioimmunoconjugate	Phase I	1998	(166)
	lymphoma	90Y-T101			
٠	Chronic lymphocytic				
	leukemia				
•	Cutaneous T-cell	H65-RTA	Phase I	1991	(167)
	lymphoma	immunoconjugate			
•	Melanoma	CD5 single nucleotide	Prognostic	2016	(169)
		polymorphisms SNPs	study		
		rs2241002 and			
		rs2229177			
•	Chronic lymphocytic	CD5 single nucleotide	Prognostic	2017	(170)
	leukaemia	polymorphisms SNPs	study		
		rs2241002 and			
		rs2229177			
•	T-cell Acute Lymphoma	CD5-CAR T cells	Phase I	2017	[NCT03081910]
•	T-non-Hodgkin				
	Lymphoma				
•	T-cell Acute Leukemia				

# Table 1: Clinical trials for CD5 in solid and non-solid tumours

#### 1.9 Mouse models to study cancer immunotherapy drugs

The validation of immunotherapeutic drugs efficacy requires the availability of reliable mouse models that represent the complexity of immune cells interaction within the tumour. Several mouse models have been developed to test different aspect of cancer. Herein, I briefly describe the most widely-used mouse models employed to assess cancer immunotherapy.

# 1.9.1 Humanized tumour models

Human xenograft models are among the oldest models used to examine the efficacy of cytotoxic drugs to treat cancer by inoculating immunocompromised mice such as athymic nude or severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) animals with human tumour cell lines (171). SCID mice are deficient in a DNA-dependent protein kinase required for T- and B-cell development therefore result in lack in normal thymic development and deficient in T-cell function. Although this model lacks T-cell function, innate immune cells such as neutrophils and dendritic cells remain present and limit the engraftment of human hematopoietic tumour cell lines. Therefore, the use of this model is limited in testing cancer immunotherapy drugs.

#### 1.9.2 Syngeneic tumour models

These models are among the first preclinical models used to test anticancer agents. Fully immunocompetent mice (inbred strains such as C57BL/6 and BALB/c) have been used to validate immuno-oncology agents without the need for adoptive transfer of immune cells into host mice. In these models, mouse tumour cell lines are expanded *in vitro* and then injected into the host to

grow tumours either subcutaneously or orthotopically (*i.e.*, at the organ site specific to the tumour type). The use of syngeneic tumour cell lines is relatively easy compared to other models as it can be rapidly expanded prior to implantation into the host and are relatively reproducible in different research contexts. Another logistical advantage of using this model is the flexibility in selection of model tumour cell lines based on criteria such as poor or good immunogenicity, and relative ease of genetic manipulation of tumourigenic cell lines prior to implantation (as opposed genetic manipulation of mice to create tumour-prone animal lines) to induce expression of antigens of interest to examine antigen-specific anti-tumour responses.

#### 1.9.2.1 The murine 4T1 breast tumour cell line

The 4T1 syngeneic mouse tumour cell was first isolated as subpopulation 410.4 from a mammary tumour arising in BALB/cfC3H mice (172). This is a poorly immunogenic tumour model that can metastasize to multiple distant sites such as lymph nodes, liver, lung and brain (173). It can grow progressively causing lethal disease even after tumour excision (174). There is several characteristics that makes 4T1 tumour a suitable experimental animal model to validate targeting CD5 in T cells. First, it recapitulates the triple-negative breast cancer in human as it metastasizes to the draining lymph nodes and other organs (174). Second, it can be easily transplanted into mammary gland as an orthotopic tumour. Also, 4T1 tumour cell expresses poorly immunogenic tumour antigens which makes it a suitable model to examine the ability of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to recognize tumour antigen after CD5 blockade.

# 1.10 Hypothesis and objectives:

*Hypothesis:* Functional blockade of CD5 on the surface of primary mouse cytotoxic T cells will enhance recognition of poorly immunogenic tumour antigens and promote T cell activation (Figure 3).

Objectives:

- **Objective 1.** Characterize CD5 levels in T cell subsets and under different activation conditions (quiescence and induced activation).
- **Objective 2.** Explore the association of CD5 with T cell activation and exhaustion.
- Objective 3. Target CD5 receptor using CD5-blocking antibodies *ex vivo*, in primary CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from mouse spleen, and assess CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and function.
- Objective 4. Evaluate the anti-tumour efficacy of anti-CD5 as single treatment *in vivo* and evaluate T cell function and activation in T cell subsets derived from spleen, lymph nodes, and tumours.
- **Objective 5:** Evaluate the anti-tumour efficacy of anti-CD5 antibody in combination with immune checkpoint inhibitors *in vivo*.



# Figure 3: CD5 blocking and its possible effect during immunological

**synapse**. In the immunological synapse in normal T lymphocytes, CD5 physically interacts with TCR, limiting TCR function and TAA recognition. When CD5 is targeted using anti-CD5 MAb, TCR affinity is increased which leads to enhanced T cell activation. This figure was generated by me and was selected for the "In This Issue" section in the *European Journal of Immunology (vol. 50, no. 5)*. It can be accessed at

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/eji.202070053

# Chapter 2

# 1 Materials and methods

# 2.1 Table 2: Key resources

REAGENT or RESOURCE	SOURCE	CLONE	IDENTIFIER	
Antibodies (For in vivo administration)				
Anti-CD5 Mouse IgG2a, Fc Silent™, Kappa	Absolute Antibody	YTS 121.5.2	Ab00208-2.3	
<i>InVivoMAb</i> anti-mouse PD-1 (CD279), IgG2a	Bio X cell	RMP1- 14	BE0146	
Anti-Fluorescein Mouse IgG2a, Fc Silent™, Kappa (isotype control)	Absolute Antibody	4-4-20	Ab00102-2.3	
Antibodies (For in vitro administration)				
Purified NA/LE Hamster Anti- Mouse CD3e	BD Biosciences	145- 2C11	553057	
Ultra-LEAF™ Purified anti-mouse CD3e	BioLegend	145- 2C11	100340	

Purified NA/LE Hamster Anti- Mouse CD28	BD Biosciences	37.51	553294
Ultra-LEAF ™ Purified anti-mouse CD28	BioLegend	37.51	102116
Purified anti-mouse CD5	BioLegend	53-7.3	100602
Purified Rat IgG2a, κ Isotype Ctrl Antibody	Biolegend	RTK275 8	400502
Purified Rat IgG2a, к Isotype Ctrl Antibody	BD Biosciences	R35-95	553927
Antibodies (For flow cytometry)	_		
Antibodies (For flow cytometry) Brilliant Violet 711™ anti-mouse CD3	BioLegend	17A2	100241
Antibodies (For flow cytometry) Brilliant Violet 711 <sup>™</sup> anti-mouse CD3 Alexa Fluor® 700 anti-mouse CD4	BioLegend BioLegend	17A2 GK1.5	100241 100430
Antibodies (For flow cytometry)Brilliant Violet 711 ™ anti-mouseCD3Alexa Fluor® 700 anti-mouseCD4PE/Cyanine7 anti-mouse CD5	BioLegend BioLegend BioLegend	17A2 GK1.5 53-7.3	100241 100430 100622
Antibodies (For flow cytometry)Brilliant Violet 711™ anti-mouseCD3Alexa Fluor® 700 anti-mouseCD4PE/Cyanine7 anti-mouse CD5FITC Rat Anti-Mouse CD5	BioLegend BioLegend BioLegend BD Biosciences	17A2 GK1.5 53-7.3 53-7.3	100241 100430 100622 553020

CD8a			
PE-Cy™7 Rat Anti-Mouse CD8a	BD Biosciences	53-6.7	552877
Brilliant Violet 605™ anti-mouse CD25	BioLegend	PC61	102036
PE Hamster Anti-Mouse CD69	BD Biosciences	H1.2F3	561932
PE anti-mouse CD95 (Fas) Antibody	BioLegend	SA367H 8	152608
Brilliant Violet 421™ anti-mouse CD107a (LAMP-1)	BioLegend	1D4B	121618
PE anti-mouse CD137	BioLegend	17B5	106106
PE Hamster Anti-Mouse CD152 (CTLA-4)	BD Biosciences	UC10- 4F10-11	561718
PE anti-mouse CD152 (CTLA-4)	BioLegend	UC10- 4B9	106306
PE anti-mouse CD178 (FasL)	BioLegend	MFL3	106606
PE/Dazzle™ 594 anti-mouse	BioLegend	29F.1A1	135228

CD279 (PD-1)		2		
PE/Dazzle™ 594 anti- mouse/human CD11b	BioLegend	M1/70	101256	
APC anti-mouse Ly-6G/Ly-6C (Gr-1)	BioLegend	RB6- 8C5	108412	
PE anti-mouse IFN-γ	BioLegend	XMG1.2	505808	
Purified anti-mouse CD16/32 (For Fc block)	BioLegend	93	101302	
Alexa Fluor® 488 anti- mouse/rat/human FOXP3	BioLegend	150D	320012	
Isotype antibodies (for flow cytometry)				
FITC Rat IgG2a, к Isotype Control Antibody	BD Biosciences	R35-95	553929	
PE Armenian Hamster IgG Isotype Control Antibody	BioLegend	HTK888	400908	
PE-Cy™7 Rat IgG2a, к Isotype Control Antibody	BD Biosciences	R35-95	552784	
PE-CF594 Hamster IgG2, λ1	BD	Ha4/8	562522	

Isotype Control	Biosciences			
FITC Mouse IgM, к Isotype	BD	G155-	553474	
Control	Biosciences	228		
Antibodies (For western blot)				
Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2)	Cell Signal	Polyclon	9101	
(Thr202/Tyr204) Antibody		al		
p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) Antibody	Cell Signal	Polyclon	9102	
		al		
Anti-actin Antibody	Sigma-	MM2/19	SAB4200248	
	Aldrich	3		
Anti-mouse horse radish	Cell Signaling		7076S	
peroxidase antibody conjugate				
Anti-rabbit horse radish	Cell Signaling		7074S	
peroxidase antibody conjugate				
Recombinant Proteins and Media for Cell Culture				
Roswell Park Memorial Institute	Sigma-	R8758-50	00ML	
(RPMI)-1640 Medium	Aldrich			
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's	Sigma-	D5796		

Medium (DMEM)	Aldrich				
Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)	Invitrogen	12483020			
Recombinant Human IL-2	Peprotech	200-02			
Other reagents	Other reagents				
Propidium iodide	BioLegend	421301			
FITC Annexin V	BioLegend	640906			
Annexin V Binding Buffer	BioLegend	422201			
Zombie NIR™ Fixable Viability Kit	BioLegend	423106			
MojoSort™ Magnet	BioLegend	480019			
MojoSort™ Buffer (5X)	BioLegend	480017			
MojoSort™ Mouse CD8 T Cell	BioLegend	480008			
Isolation Kit					
Fixation Buffer	BioLegend	420801			
Brefeldin A Solution (1,000X)	BioLegend	420601			
Intracellular Staining	BioLegend	421002			
Permeabilization Wash Buffer					
(10X)					

Female BALB/c mice	The Jackson Laboratories	000651
4T1 mouse breast tumour cells	The American Type Culture Collection	(ATCC® CRL-2539™)
Bradford Assay Kit	abcam	(ab102535)
Collagenase A	Sigma- Aldrich	C2674
CFSE Cell Division Tracker Kit	BioLegend	423801
Western Lightning Plus-ECL, Enhanced Chemiluminescence Substrate	Perkin Elmer, Inc Products	NEL103E001EA
Apparatus		
Incucyte® SX5 Live-Cell Analysis System	Essen BioScience	n/a
Cytomics FC 500	Beckman Coulter, Inc	n/a

BD™ LSR II Flow Cytometer	BD	n/a
	Biosciences	
Beckman Coulter Z1 Particle	Beckman	n/a
Counter	Coulter, Inc	
Vibra Cell™ ultrasonic processor	Sonics &	n/a
	Materials	
	Inc.,	
	Danbury, CT	
Semi-dry transfer apparatus	Bio-Rad	n/a
Software		
Prism, version 8	Graphpad	https://www.graphpad.com/
Flowjo, version 10	FlowJo, LLC	https://www.flowjo.com/

# 2.2 Experimental model and subject details

# 2.2.1 Mice

Female BALB/c mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratories (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME). All animals were between 8 and 12 weeks of age and housed in the Animal Care and Veterinary Services Facility at the Victoria Research Building, Lawson Health Research Institute, according to guidelines of the Canadian Council for Animal Care and under the supervision of the Animal Use Subcommittee of the University of Western Ontario.

# 2.2.2 Cell lines

4T1 mouse breast mouse tumour cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA), and cultured in Dulbecco modified Eagle medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS)(Invitrogen). All cells were kept at 37°C in 5% CO2.

# 2.2.3 Syngeneic mouse tumour model

4T1 tumour cells were counted by Coulter counter and resuspended into sterile PBS at a concentration of  $5 \times 10^5$  cells/ml. One hundred microliters of cells ( $5X10^4$ ) were injected subcutaneously into the right flanks of 2-month-old female BALB/c mice and allowed to grow until 21 days before animals were euthanized by CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation for immune cell assessment. For tumour growth assessment, the tumour growth was measured by caliper and the largest length and width dimensions were used to calculate tumour volumes and mice were euthanized once tumour size reach endpoint at 1500 mm<sup>3</sup>.

## 2.2.4 *In vivo* drug treatment

Four different treatment protocols were used to study the effect of CD5 blockade on tumour suppression *in vivo*.

# First treatment design

This experiment was design to test the impact of anti-CD5 MAb to reduce tumour growth as a single agent and in combination with anti-PD-1 MAb. Mice were injected subcutaneously with 4T1 tumour cells and as soon as tumours reached 50 mm<sup>3</sup> (day 7), mice were divided into 4 different groups and were administered one of the following treatments on days 7, 10, 13, and 16: isotype control MAb alone, anti-CD5 MAb alone, anti-PD-1 MAb alone, or a combination of both anti-CD5 + anti-PD-1 MAbs. Mice received their treatments by i.p injection of 200 µg of each agent/mouse (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Scheme of the first *in vivo* treatment design

Second treatment design

This experiment was designed to assess the less dosage of anti-CD5 MAb in reducing tumour growth as a single agent or in combination with anti-PD-1 MAb. Mice were injected subcutaneously with 4T1 tumour and cells as soon as tumours reached 50 mm<sup>3</sup> (day 7), mice were divided into 4 different groups and received one of the following treatments: isotype control MAb alone (200  $\mu$ g) (day 7), anti-CD5 MAb alone (200  $\mu$ g) (day 7), anti-PD-1 MAb alone (200  $\mu$ g) (days 10, 13, and 16), or a combination of anti-CD5 MAb (day 7) + anti-PD-1 MAb (days 10, 13, and 16) (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Scheme of the second *in vivo* treatment design

# Third treatment design

This experiment is design to assess whether anti-CD5 can enhance efficacy of chemotherapy gemcitabine to suppress tumour growth. Mice were injected subcutaneously with 4T1 tumour cells and as soon as tumours reached 50 mm<sup>3</sup> (day 7), mice were divided into 4 different groups and received one of the following treatments: PBS (day 7 and 10), gemcitabine alone (day 7), anti-CD5 MAb alone (day 10), or a combination of gemcitabine (day 7) + anti-CD5 MAb (day 10). Mice received only one treatment of 100 µg anti-CD5 MAb/mouse one treatment of 60 mg/kg gemcitabine (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Scheme of the third in vivo treatment design

# Fourth experiment design

This experiment is design to assess whether anti-CD5 can enhance efficacy of chemotherapy 5-FU to suppress tumour growth. Mice were injected subcutaneously with 4T1 tumour cells and as soon as tumours reached 50 mm<sup>3</sup> (day 7), mice were divided into 4 different groups and received one of the following treatments: PBS (day 7, 10 and 14), anti-CD5 MAb alone (days 7, 10, and 14), 5-FU alone (day 7), or both anti-CD5 MAb (days 7, 10, and 14) + 5-FU (day 7). The 5-FU dose was 50 mg/kg and the anti-CD5 MAb doses were 50 µg/mouse each (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Scheme of the fourth in vivo treatment design

## Fifth experiment design

This experiment is designed to assess whether anti-CD5 MAb has the capacity to suppress tumour growth when administered at lower dosage, and in treatment of a smaller number of injected tumour cells, than described in the "Fourth *in vivo* treatment design". Mice were injected subcutaneously with 5000 4T1 tumour cells and, as soon as tumours reached 50 mm<sup>3</sup> (day 7), mice were divided into two different groups and received one of the following treatments: isotype control on day 0 and every three to four days of a total of 11 injections and anti-CD5 MAb alone (on day 0 and every three to four days of a total of 11 injections. The isotype control and the anti-CD5 MAb doses were 25 µg/mouse each (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Scheme of the fifth *in vivo* treatment design.

# 2.3 Methods

# 2.3.1 Splenocyte and lymphocyte preparation

Single cell suspensions of lymphocytes were obtained from mice by pressing spleens or lymph nodes through a 70 µm Falcon Cell Strainer (VWR, Mississauga, ON) into RPMI 1640 medium (GIBCO). Cells were then centrifuged (300xg, 10 mins, 4°C), and erythrocytes were lysed using Ammonium-Chloride-Potassium (ACK) red cell lysis buffer. The resulting live (trypan blue-negative) splenocytes and lymphocytes were counted manually (microscope slide) and stained directly or cultured for further assessment.

# 2.3.2 Tumour-infiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) preparation

TILs were obtained from freshly-resected tumours, which were isolated immediately after euthanization of mice. Tumours were cut into 2-3 mm<sup>3</sup> fragments and each tumour was placed into individual wells of a 6 well plates and incubated in 2 ml of an enzyme digest mix consisting of RPMI1640 complete media containing 15% fetal bovine serum (FBS)(Invitrogen) and 10 mg/ml collagenase A (Sigma-Aldrich Canada, Oakville, ONT) and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature under continuous rotation.

## 2.3.3 4T1 mouse breast tumour lysate preparation

4T1 tumour lysate was prepared by detaching confluent cultures of 4T1 tumour cells with 0.01% EDTA for 10 min, washing the cells twice with PBS, resuspending cells in serum-free medium (5X10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml), and lysis by 5 freeze/thaw cycles (-80 to 37°C) accomplished by repetitive 5 min on dry ice followed by 5 min in a water bath at 37°C. To quantify lysate loading, lysate

protein concentrations were then determined using a Bradford assay following the manufacturer's recommended protocol.

#### 2.3.4 Western immunoblotting

Splenocytes were stimulated for 30 min with 2 µg/ml anti-CD3 MAb (Clone: 145-2C11. BD Biosciences) or 2 µg/ml anti-CD3 + 5 µg/ml anti-CD5 MAbs (Clone: 53-7.3. BioLegend) to induce activation of T lymphocyes. After stimulation, cells were washed twice with cold PBS and lysed with RIPA lysis buffer (10 mM Tris pH 7.2, 2mM EDTA, 0.1% SDS, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 1% Triton 100), supplemented with protease inhibitors, including 10 µg/ml aprotinin, 10  $\mu$ g/ml leupeptin, 100  $\mu$ M sodium orthovanadate, 100  $\mu$ M phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, and sonicated at 4°C using a Vibra Cell<sup>™</sup> ultrasonic processor (Sonics & Materials Inc., Danbury, CT) to disrupt membranes. Lysates were centrifuged at 13,000 × g for 15 min at 4°C. Protein concentration was measured using the Bradford assay. For SDS PAGE, 30 µg protein per lane was electrophoresed on a 7% polyacrylamide gel and proteins were then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane using a semi-dry transfer apparatus (Bio-Rad) and blocked with 5% skim milk in TBST for 1 hour. Membranes were incubated overnight with the primary antibody at 4°C. After washing three times in TBST, membranes were incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody-horse radish peroxidase conjugate for 1 hour at 21° C and proteins were then detected by using enhanced chemiluminescence reagents (Western Lightning Plus – ECL [Perkin Elmer, Inc Products]). Primary antibodies were used to detect anti-phospho-ERK, (Cell Signaling Technology/New England

Biolabs, Whitby, ON) and anti-actin (Sigma Aldrich Canada, Oakville, ON). Antimouse or anti-rabbit horse radish peroxidase antibody conjugates were purchased from Cell Signaling.

#### 2.3.5 In vitro activation

Single cell suspensions of splenocytes were generated from naïve mice using the protocol described in section 2.3.1 and in accord with MIATA guidelines. On day 0, cells (2X10<sup>5</sup>) were treated with or without purified antimouse anti-CD5 MAb at 5 µg/ml (Clone: 53-7.3. BioLegend) for 15 min before seeding into U-bottom 96-well plates pre-coated with 5 µg/ml anti-CD3 antibody, in RPMI media containing 10% FBS, IL-2 (50 IU/ml)(PeproTech Canada Inc), and soluble anti-CD28 antibody (Clone: 37.51. BD Biosciences, 2 µg/ml). Media was replaced every 48 hours with a fresh RPMI media containing 10% FBS, IL-2 (50 IU/ml) were kept at 37°C in 5% CO2 for the period of experiment.

# 2.3.6 Ex vivo activation

Single cell suspensions of splenocytes were generated from 4T1harbouring mice using the protocol described in section 2.3.1 and in accord with MIATA guidelines. Cells ( $2X10^5$ ) were reactivated by addition of 4T1 tumour cell lysate ( $200 \mu$ g/well) in a 96-well plate treated with or without purified anti-mouse anti-CD5 MAb at 5 µg/ml (Clone: 53-7.3. BioLegend), in RPMI media containing 10% FBS and IL-2 (50 IU/ml)(PeproTech Canada Inc). Cultured splenocytes, activated and unactivated, were kept at 37°C in 5% CO2 and the media refreshed every 48 hours.

## 2.3.7 T cell apoptosis

On day 7 of the *in vitro* and *ex vivo* activation, apoptotic and dead cell fractions were determined using a FITC-labeled Annexin-V and propidium iodide (PI) kit (Biolegend, San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, cells were stained with anti-mouse PE-Cy7-labeled anti-CD8 MAb at 4°C for 30 min, washed twice with cold FACS buffer, and resuspended in Annexin V staining buffer (Biolegend, San Diego, CA). FITC-Annexin V (1  $\mu$ g/ml) and PI (10  $\mu$ g/ml) were added to the cell suspension and incubated at 21°C for 15 min in the dark. Annexin V staining buffer (400  $\mu$ l) was added and cells were analyzed using a Cytomics FC 500 (Beckman Coulter, Inc).

# 2.3.8 T cell proliferation

For CFSE labelling, isolated splenocytes were stained with CFSE (1 µg/ml; Biolegend, San Diego, CA) for 15 min at 37°C and washed twice with FBS-containing buffer to stop the reaction. Cells were then cultured as described in section 2.3.5 and 2.3.6 for 7 days at 37°C in 5% CO2, followed by flow cytometry using a Cytomics FC 500 flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter, Inc). Data were analyzed using Flowjo software (BD Bioscience).

## 2.3.9 Flow cytometry

To assess the levels of surface protein expression, the antibodies described in Table 2 (Key Resources) were used for flow cytometry. Flow cytometry was performed using a Cytomics FC 500 (Beckman Coulter, Inc.) and

BD<sup>™</sup> LSR II Flow Cytometer and data analyzed using Flowjo software (BD Bioscience). To assess the level of the indicated markers, spleens, lymph nodes and TILs were collected from either tumour-naïve mice or tumour-bearing mice 21 days after tumour cell injection. Cells were prepared as previously described, and 2X10<sup>5</sup> cells were treated with purified anti-mouse CD16/32 antibody (Clone 93)(Biolegend, San Diego, CA) for 15 min at 21°C in the dark to block CD16/CD32 interactions with the Fc domain of immunoglobulins. Cells were then stained with appropriate antibodies for 25 mins on ice in the dark, washed twice with FACS staining buffer, suspended in 0.5 ml FACS staining buffer, and analyzed by flow cytometry. The European Journal of Immunology Guidelines for the use of flow cytometry and cell sorting in immunological studies (175) were followed.

### 2.3.10 Intracellular cytokine staining (ICS)

To measure IFN $\gamma$  in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, ICS was restricted to detection of IFN $\gamma$ (a cytokine produced by CD8<sup>+</sup> cells upon activation (176)). Splenocytes from either tumour-naïve or 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice were isolated and single cell suspensions prepared as described. Splenocytes from tumour-naïve mice (2X10<sup>5</sup>) were treated as described above. For splenocytes obtained from tumourbearing mice, 4T1 tumour lysate was added to re-stimulate the cells, with or without addition of function-blocking anti-CD5 MAb. Cells were incubated at 37°C overnight. Brefeldin A (10 µg/ml) was added to retain secretion of IFN $\gamma$  in the Golgi apparatus. After 3 hours cells were stained with anti-mouse FITC-CD8a (clone 53-6.7) MAb (Biolegend, San Diego, CA)(1 µg/ml in 50 µl FACS buffer) on

ice and incubated in the dark for 30 min. The samples were washed twice and fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde (50  $\mu$ I). To detect CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation, samples were stained for 30 min with PE-conjugated anti-mouse IFN $\gamma$  (1  $\mu$ g/ml in intracellular staining permeabilization wash buffer) (Biolegend, San Diego, CA). Samples were then washed and harvested in FACS buffer for flow cytometry. Flow cytometric data were analyzed using Flowjo software (BD Bioscience).

## 2.3.11 Ex vivo cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) assay

4T1 cells were stained with CFSE cell tracking dye (green) and plated in glass-bottomed 96-well plates (5X10<sup>3</sup> cells/well) in triplicate. After cells adhered to the plate for 2 hours, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens of tumour-bearing mice using a MojoSort<sup>™</sup> Mouse CD8 T Cell Isolation Kit (Biolegend, San Diego, CA) were treated with isotype control or anti-CD5 MAb and added into each well at a 1:1 ratio with a final well volume of 200 µl. Propidium iodide was added to wells to detect dead cells. Images were taken every 2 hours, and the cytotoxic capacity of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was measured using an IncuCyte Zoom live cell imaging system (Essen BioScience, Ann Arbor, MI) by counting yellow objects using metric phase object confluence (propidium iodide [red] binding to dead CFSE<sup>+</sup> 4T1 cells [green]).

# 2.3.12 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell purification

MojoSort<sup>™</sup> Mouse CD8 T Cell Isolation Kit (BioLegend, San Diego, CA) were used for magnet-based cell separation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. The protocol was followed based on the instructions provided by the kit manual. Briefly, non CD8<sup>+</sup>

T cells were depleted by incubating splenocytes with the biotin antibody cocktail followed by incubation with magnetic streptavidin nanobeads. The untouched CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were collected by decanting the liquid in a clean tube and the magnetically labeled fraction was retained using a magnetic separator.

#### 2.3.13 Cell counting

4T1 tumour cells were grown for 3 days before harvesting for an experiment, washed with PBS, trypsinized and counted on a Beckman Coulter Z1 Particle Counter (Beckman, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). Results were analyzed by calculating the average number and multiple by 80 as the following

number of cells/mL = 
$$\frac{A+B}{2}X$$
 80

Splenocytes and lymphocytes were isolation from mice and prepared for single cell suspension. The resulting cells were stained with trypan blue to distinguish dead cells from live cells and counted manually on microscope slides. Cell numbers were calculated using the following equation:

number of cells/ml = 
$$\frac{A+B}{2}$$
 X 2 X 10<sup>4</sup>

#### 2.3.14 Statistical analysis

Statistical differences were assessed using a Student's unpaired onetailed *t*-test (GraphPad Prism 8.2.1) to test the relationship between independent variables. No comparisons were made between dependent variables (that is, groups defined by segregation on the basis of one variable before making comparisons on the basis of a second variable) thereby validating use of *t*-testing
rather than ANOVA analysis. One-tailed analysis was employed in preference to two-tailed to analysis because only the capacity of experimental treatments to alter response of cells or tumours in one direction (increased or decreased levels of relevant measures) was of interest. Unpaired rather than paired testing was conducted because test subjects (mice and cells) were independent of each other (that is, not the same test subjects prior to and after treatments). Data points indicate means of n values ± standard deviation (SD). Differences between data sets where  $p \le 0.05$  were considered to be significant. Asterisks represent statistical significance.

## **Chapter 3**

## CD8<sup>+</sup> T tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes with downregulated cell surface expression of CD5 exhibited an increased level of activation and

## exhaustion

## 3.1 Preamble

CD5, a member of the scavenger receptor cysteine-rich superfamily, is a marker for T cells and a subset of B cells (B1a). CD5 associates with T-cell and B-cell receptors and increased CD5 is an indication of B cell activation. In tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) isolated from lung cancer patients, CD5 levels were negatively correlated with anti-tumour activity and tumour-mediated activation-induced T cell death, suggesting that CD5 could impair activation of anti-tumour T cells. I determined CD5 levels in T cell subsets in different organs in mice bearing syngeneic 4T1 breast tumour homografts and assessed the relationship between CD5 and increased CD69 and PD-1 (markers of T cell activation and exhaustion) by flow cytometry. I report that T cell CD5 levels were higher in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells than in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in 4T1 tumour-bearing mice, and that high CD5 levels on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were maintained in peripheral organs (spleen and lymph nodes). However, both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells recruited to tumours had reduced CD5 compared to CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in peripheral organs. In addition, CD5<sup>high</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD5<sup>high</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from peripheral organs exhibited higher levels of activation and associated exhaustion compared to CD5<sup>low</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and CD5<sup>low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell from the same organs. Interestingly,

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells among TILs and downregulated CD5 were activated to a higher level, with concomitantly increased exhaustion markers, than CD8<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>+</sup> TILs. Thus, differential CD5 levels among T cells in tumours and lymphoid organs can be associated with different levels of T cell activation and exhaustion, suggesting that CD5 may be a therapeutic target for immunotherapeutic activation in cancer therapy.

### 3.2 Results

#### 3.2.1 Differential CD5 expression among organs and T cell subsets

CD5 is expressed on the majority of T cells (76). However, differences in the levels of expression among T cell subsets isolated from different peripheral organs are not well-described. To determine the level of CD5 among T cell subsets and within peripheral organs and tumour cells, mice subcutaneously implanted with syngeneic triple-negative 4T1 breast tumours were euthanized on day 21 after implantation and spleen, lymph nodes, and tumour tissue were harvested and processed to generate single cell suspensions containing immune cells. The recovered cells were stained for CD5 and surface markers of T cell subsets and analyzed by flow cytometry. The results show that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleen and lymph nodes had higher levels of surface CD5 than CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in those tissues (Figure 9A). There was no significant difference between CD5 levels in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from spleen and lymph nodes (Figure 9B), and no significant difference in CD5 levels between CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from spleen and lymph nodes (Figure 9C). Interestingly, both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells infiltrated into tumours (TILs) had lower CD5 surface levels than CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from

lymph nodes and spleen (Figures 9B, 9C). Taken together, these data indicate that CD5 levels are significantly higher in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells compared to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Furthermore, a fraction of both CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells recruited to the tumour have lower CD5 levels than T cells in lymph and spleen, either because CD5 is downregulated by the tumour or T cells with lower CD5 are preferentially infiltrated into tumours.



**Figure 9: CD5 levels in T cell subsets and lymphoid organs**. T cells isolated from 4T1-harbouring BALB/c mice were stained with fluorescence-conjugated anti-CD3, anti-CD4, anti-CD8, and anti-CD5 MAbs. **(A)** CD5 levels on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in lymph nodes and spleen. **(B)** The fraction of CD5<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell isolated from the lymph nodes, spleen and TILs. **(C)** The fraction of CD5<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from the lymph nodes, spleen, and TILs. Data are shown as means ± SD of 3 mice per group and from one representative experiment of three independent experiments. FMO: Fluorescence Minus One Control. TILs: tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes. MFI: mean fluorescence intensity. NS: not significant. \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

## 3.2.2 CD5 level on CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is induced upon TCR/CD3

stimulation To determine if CD5 levels on T cells are affected by the presence of tumour homografts, T cells were isolated from lymph nodes of naïve mice and 4T1-harbouring mice on day 21 after tumour cell implantation. Cells were stained with anti-CD5 MAb in addition to antibodies targeting CD3, CD4, and CD8. The levels of CD5 on the surfaces of naïve T cell and T cell from 4T1 tumour homograft-harbouring mice showed different patterns of expression. CD5 levels on both CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Figure 10A) and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Figure 10B) were significantly higher in lymph nodes of mice harbouring 4T1 tumours than in tumour-naïve mice. Furthermore, as previously reported by us, CD5 levels on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell splenocytes were significantly increased after TCR/CD3 stimulation by ex vivo treatment with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs compared to non-stimulated CD8<sup>+</sup> T splenocytes (Figure 10C)(177). Together, these results reveal that the presence of tumour homografts in mice leads to elevated CD5 on T cells in lymph nodes, similar to the increase in CD5 seen after ex vivo stimulation of the TCR/CD3 complex on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.



Figure 10: CD5 expression by CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is increased upon activation. Lymphocytes isolated from naïve mice or 4T1 tumour-harbouring-BALB/c mice were stained with MAbs targeting CD4, CD8, and CD5. (A) The level of CD5 on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from lymph nodes of naïve mice and 4T1 tumour-harbouring mice. (B) The level of CD5 expression on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell isolated from lymph nodes of naïve mice and 4T1 tumour-harbouring mice. (C) Splenocytes isolated from naive BALB/c mice were treated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAb on day 0 and cells were quantified by flow cytometry after 24 h for CD5 level on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Data are shown as means ± SD of 3 mice per group and from one representative experiment of three independent experiments. FMO: Fluorescence Minus One Control. MFI: mean fluorescence intensity. \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test)

## 3.2.3 CD5<sup>high</sup> T cells in spleen and lymph nodes exhibit increased activation

The increased level of CD5 on T cells upon TCR/CD3 stimulation suggests that CD5 level may be directly increased by that activation. To address how CD5 levels may be associated with T cell activation, a gating strategy was applied to determine the activation level of CD5<sup>high</sup> T cells and CD5<sup>low</sup> T cells based on the level of the T cell activation marker CD69 (178)(gating strategy described in Figure 11C). Mice were challenged by subcutaneous injection of 4T1 tumour cells 21 days prior to euthanasia, at which time lymph nodes and spleens were collected. T cells isolated from those organs were stained with anti-CD69 and anti-CD5 MAbs in addition to antibodies against T cell markers (anti-CD3/anti-CD8/anti-CD4 MAbs). The results show that the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleen and lymph nodes was significantly higher than the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>low</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Figure 11A). Similarly, the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was significantly higher than the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleen and lymph nodes (Figure 11B). Collectively, these data suggest a correlation between CD5 level and T cell activation in peripheral organs.





## Figure 11: The correlation of CD5 with CD69 on CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

Lymphocytes isolated from 4T1-harbouring BALB/c mice were stained with fluorescence-conjugated anti-CD3, anti-CD4, anti-CD8 and anti-CD5 MAbs. (A) The fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>low</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell in spleen and lymph nodes. (B) The fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell and CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell in spleen and lymph nodes. (C) Gating strategy. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SD of 5 mice per group and from one representative experiment of three independent experiments. \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired onetailed *t*-test).

## 3.2.4 CD5-/low T cells display increased activation in the tumour

T cells recruited to the tumour have reduced CD5 levels compared to T cells in lymph nodes and spleens. To determine the level of activation of CD5<sup>+</sup> and CD5<sup>-/low</sup> tumour-infiltrating T cells, the level of the activation marker CD69 in both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell subpopulations in T cells isolated from 4T1 tumours excised from mice at 21 days following subcutaneous implantation of tumour cells was determined. The data show that the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>-/low</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from tumours was significantly higher than the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Figure 12A). Similarly, the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was significantly higher than the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Figure 12B). This suggests that the fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs with reduced CD5 levels in the tumour have higher levels of activation compared to CD5<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD5<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs, respectively.





## Figure 12. The fraction of CD5<sup>high</sup> and CD5<sup>-/low</sup> tumour-infiltrating

**Iymphocytes (TILs) expressing CD69.** TILs isolated from 4T1-harbouring-BALB/c mice were stained with fluorescence-conjugated anti-CD3, anti-CD4, anti-CD8, anti-CD5 and anti-CD69 MAbs. **(A)** The fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell in TILs. **(B)** The fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell and CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell in TILs. Data are shown as means ± SD of 4 mice per group and from one representative experiment of three independent experiments. \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

# 3.2.5 CD5<sup>high</sup> T cells in spleen and lymph nodes exhibit increased exhaustion

Upon activation, T cells express high levels of CD5. T cells can also upregulate exhaustion/activation markers such as PD-1 upon activation (179). To determine whether CD5<sup>high</sup>T cells exhibit a higher exhaustion phenotype compared to CD5<sup>low</sup> T cells, T cells from spleen and lymph nodes of 4T1 tumourharbouring mice were isolated on day 21 following subcutaneous implantation of the tumour cells. Recovered cells from spleen and lymph nodes were then stained with anti-PD-1 and anti-CD5 MAbs in addition to T cell panel markers (anti-CD3/anti-CD8/anti-CD4 MAbs) and analyzed by flow cytometry. The results show that the fraction of PD-1\*CD5<sup>high</sup>CD4\* T cell was substantially higher than the fraction of CD69\*CD5<sup>low</sup>CD4\* T cells in spleens and lymph nodes (Figure 13A). Similarly, the fraction of PD-1\*CD5<sup>high</sup>CD8\* T cells was significantly higher than the fraction of PD-1\*CD5<sup>low</sup>CD8\* T cells in spleen and lymph nodes (Figure 13B). Collectively, these data suggest that elevated CD5 levels on T cells is associated with T cell exhaustion.



Figure 13: The correlation of CD5 level with PD-1 level in CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from spleen and lymph nodes of tumour-bearing mice. Lymphocytes isolated from 4T1-harbouring-BALB/c mice were stained with fluorescenceconjugated anti-CD3, anti-CD4, anti-CD8, anti-CD5 and anti-PD-1 MAbs. (A) The fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>low</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell in spleen and lymph nodes. (B) The fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell and PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell in spleen and lymph nodes. Data are shown as means ± SD of 3 mice per group and from one representative experiment from three independent experiments. \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

## 3.2.6 CD5-/lowCD8<sup>+</sup>T cells display increased exhaustion in the tumour

Downregulation of CD5 level was associated with an increased fraction of activated CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the tumour. To determine the exhaustion level in CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> *vs* CD5<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs and in CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> *vs* CD5<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs, TILs were stained with anti-PD-1 MAb and with antibodies to detect CD5, CD4, CD8 and CD3 and analyzed by flow cytometry. The results show a significantly elevated fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs compared to PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs (Figure 14B). Interestingly, this was the opposite of what was observed in CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs, where the fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>-</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs was significantly lower than PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs (Figure 14A). These data suggest that, the fraction of CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs become exhausted in the tumour compared to CD5<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> TIL but not in the CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs.



PD-1

0

TILs

74

Figure 14. CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from tumour-bearing mice exhibit an exhaustion phenotype compared to CD5<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. TILs isolated from 4T1-harbouring-BALB/c mice were stained with fluorescence-conjugated anti-CD3, anti-CD4, anti-CD8, anti-CD5 and anti-PD-1 MAbs. (A) The fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell in TILs. (B) The fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell and PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell in TILs. Data are shown as means ± SD of 3 mice per group and from one representative experiment of three independent experiments. \**p* < 0.05 (Student's Unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

## **Chapter 4**

# CD5 blockade enhances *ex vivo* CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and tumour cell cytotoxicity

## 4.1 Preamble:

CD5 is a therapeutically-targetable tumour antigen expressed on leukemic T and B cells. However, the potential therapeutic effect of blocking CD5 function to increase T cell anti-tumour activity against tumours other than leukemia (including solid tumours) has not been explored. CD5 knockout mice show increased anti-tumour immunity and reduced homograft tumour growth: reducing CD5 on CTLs may be therapeutically beneficial to enhance the anti-tumour response. Here I show that ex vivo administration of a blocking anti-CD5 monoclonal antibody (MAb) to primary mouse CTLs isolated from spleens of both naive mice and mice bearing mouse 4T1 breast tumour homografts enhances their capacity to respond to activation by treatment with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs or 4T1 tumour cell lysates. Furthermore, ex vivo CD5 blocking MAb treatment reduced CD5 signaling (erk activation) and increased markers of spleen T cell activation including proliferation, CD69 levels, interferon-y production, apoptosis, and Fas receptor and Fas ligand levels. Finally, CD5 blocking MAb treatment enhanced the capacity of primary mouse spleen CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to kill 4T1 mouse tumour cells in an ex vivo assay. These data support the potential of blockade of CD5 function to enhance T cell-mediated anti-tumour immunity.

## 4.2 Results

## 4.2.1 CD5 blockade enhances CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell receptor signaling

Increased phosphorylation of Erk is a downstream effect of activating TCR signaling pathway (180). Erk2 regulates CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation and survival (181). A previous report showed elevated Erk phosphorylation in the absence of CD5-CK2 signaling (182). To determine if using anti-CD5 MAb could lead to impaired CD5 signaling pathway and increased Erk activation. I treated naïve splenocytes with anti-CD3 MAb alone or anti-CD3 and anti-CD5 MAbs and showed increased phosphorylation of Erk1/2 in cells receiving anti-CD3 and anti-CD5 MAbs using western blot (Figure 15A and B). Furthermore, treatment with anti-CD5 MAb alone did not induce Erk phosphorylation (Figure 15C).



## Figure 15. Increased ERK phosphorylation in anti-CD3/anti-CD5 MAb-

**treated splenocytes**. Splenocytes isolated from naive BALB/c mice were treated with anti-CD3 MAb or with anti-CD3 and anti-CD5 MAbs for 30 min and then cells were lysed and phosphorylation of Erk was detected by western blot. **(A)** The level of ERK phosphorylation was normalized to loading control actin. **(B)** Membrane immunoblotted for p-ERK and actin from cells treated with nothing, anti-CD3 and anti-CD3/anti-CD5. **(C)** Membrane immunoblotted for p-ERK and actin from cells treated with anti-CD5, anti-CD3 and anti-CD5. Data are mean ± SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three. \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

#### 4.2.2 CD5 blockade enhances CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and proliferation

CD5<sup>-/-</sup> T cells exhibit increased levels of T cell activation markers (CD25, CD69) after treatment with anti-CD3 MAb (183). To determine whether blocking CD5 function using an anti-CD5 MAb, in combination with activation by anti-CD3 MAb/anti-CD28 MAb, would enhance CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation, I treated primary splenocytes isolated from tumour-naive mice with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and anti-CD5 MAb for 24 hours in vitro and then assessed the level of the activation marker CD69 on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells among those splenocytes. Cells treated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs in addition to anti-CD5 MAb showed an increased fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells compared to cells received anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and isotype control MAb (82% vs 78% respectively, p < 0.05)(Figure 16A; for the gating strategy Figure 16B). To further assess CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation upon treatment with anti-CD5 MAb, proliferation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was examined. Splenocytes from either tumour-naïve mice or mouse 4T1 tumour-bearing mice were stained with CFSE cell tracking dye and treated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs or 4T1 tumour lysate, in addition to anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells treated with anti-CD5 MAb exhibited increased proliferation compared to those treated with isotype control MAb up to 5 divisions with almost 20% cells in each division with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and up to 5 divisions with 4T1 tumour lysate with almost 20% cells in division 3 and less than 10% cells in division 4 and 5. The increase percentage of cells in each divisions was significantly different in cells with anti-CD5 in division 3, 4 and 5 with p < 0.05(Figure 17A,B).





## Figure 16. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb

**blockade.** (A) Quantification of fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. (B) Gating strategy for splenocytes isolated from naive BALB/c mice were treated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAb with or without anti-CD5 MAb (day 0), CD69<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> cells were quantified by flow cytometry 24 h later using PE anti-mouse CD69. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 3 mice), one representative experiment of two. \*p < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).



## Figure 17. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb

**blockade.** (A) Splenocytes isolated from naive BALB/c mice were stained with cell tracking dye (CFSE) then activated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAb, with or without anti-CD5 MAb (day 0). (B) Splenocytes from mouse 4T1 breast tumour harbouring BALB/c mice were stained with cell tracking dye (CFSE) and then were treated with 4T1 lysate with or without anti-CD5 MAb (day 0). Cells were incubated for 7 days and media were replaced every 48 h. CFSE dye levels were quantified by flow cytometry: increased dilution of dye indicated increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation (A and B). Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 3 mice), one representative experiment of two. \*p < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

# 4.2.3 Increased fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> IFN $\gamma^+$ T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb

IFNy is an effector cytokine produced by activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (176). To determine whether treatment with anti-CD5 MAb enhances production of IFNy in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, splenocytes from either naïve mice or mouse 4T1 tumour-bearing mice were stimulated for 24 h in vitro with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs or 4T1 tumour lysate, respectively, in addition to anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. The fraction of cells positive for IFNy after treatment with both anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and anti-CD5 MAb was greater than the fraction after treatment with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and isotype control MAb, 18% vs 21% respectively p < 0.05 (Figure 18A). The MFI was higher in cells treated with both anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and anti-CD5 MAb treatment 3 x10<sup>3</sup> vs 5 x 10<sup>3</sup> respectively p < 0.05indicating that not only was fraction of  $IFN\gamma^+$  cells increased, but the level of  $IFN\gamma^$ in those cells was also higher (Figure 18A and B). The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from 4T1 tumour-bearing mice treated ex vivo with tumour lysate in addition to anti-CD5 MAb also had an increased fraction of IFN $\gamma^+$  T cells from 0.6% to 1.5%, *p* < 0.05 (Figure 19A and B). Furthermore, to assess if blocking CD5 has a direct affect on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, I purified CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from the whole splenocytes and then treat the cells with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs with or without ani-CD5 MAb. After 24 hours, the cells treated with addition of anti-CD5 MAb has greater production of IFNγ compared to the cells not received anti-CD5 MAb (Figure 20).





**Figure 18.** Increased fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> IFN- $\gamma^+$  T cell after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb. Splenocytes isolated from naive BALB/c mice were treated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAb with or without anti-CD5 MAb (day 0). (A) Quantification of the fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> IFN- $\gamma^+$  T cell and the MFI of IFN- $\gamma$ . (B) Gating strategy. Data are mean ± SD (*n* = 3mice), one representative experiment of three, \**p* < 0.05, (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test), MFI: mean fluorescence intensity.



## Figure 19. Increased fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>IFN- $\gamma^+$ T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *ex vivo*. Splenocytes from mouse 4T1 breast tumour-harbouring BALB/c mice were treated with 4T1 lysate with or without anti-CD5 MAb (day 0). (A) Quantification of the fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> IFN- $\gamma^+$ T cell and the MFI of IFN- $\gamma$ . (B) Gating strategy. Data are mean ± SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three. \**p* < 0.05, ns, not significant (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*test).


Figure 20: IFN $\gamma$  in purified CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells following activation, with or without anti-CD5 MAb blockade. (A) Gating strategy for purified CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after activation with or without anti-CD5 MAb (B) Quantified data. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells positive for IFN $\gamma^+$  were quantified by flow cytometry 24 hours later. Gating was based on the size of splenocytes, then gated on CD8<sup>+</sup> cells and then on IFN $\gamma$  and CD8. Data are mean ± SD (n=3 mice), \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test), one representative mouse of 3 is shown, MFI: mean fluorescence intensity .

## 4.2.4 CD5 blockade increases FasR- and FasL-dependent death of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells

CD5 may decrease TCR tumour antigen recognition, and CD5 blockade could enhance antigen recognition and intracellular TCR signaling. A consequence of repeated antigen stimulation of the CD3/TCR complex is activation-induced cell death (AICD)(20, 184). To assess whether anti-CD5 MAb could increase CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell death after activation as a consequence of enhanced TCR sensitivity to antigen, splenocytes from tumour-naive mice were treated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs, with or without anti-CD5 MAb, on day 0. Cells were cultured as previously described with media refreshed every 48 hours. On day 7 cells were stained with anti-CD8 MAb followed by staining with FITC-annexin V and PI (Figure 21A and B for gating strategy). The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells undergoing AICD (Annexin V<sup>+</sup>/PI<sup>+</sup>) was increased among those activated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and anti-CD5 MAb, compared to those treated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and isotype control MAb: 78% vs 60%, p < 0.05. For splenocytes from 4T1 tumour-bearing mice, treatment with anti-CD5 MAb enhanced AICD compared to treatment with isotype control MAb: 59% vs 40%, p < 0.05 (Figure 22A and B for gating strategy). AICD has been shown to depend on FasR/FasL interaction (185): consequently, I assessed the fraction of FasR<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> and FasL<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Splenocytes from tumour-naïve mice and mouse 4T1 tumour-bearing mice were isolated and treated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs or 4T1 lysate, respectively, with or without anti-CD5 MAb. Cells obtained from mice euthanized at 24, 48, 72, and 96 hours thereafter were stained with

fluorescent antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry to detect FasR and FasL on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Splenocytes treated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs in addition to anti-CD5 MAb had an elevated fraction of FasR<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells compared to the isotype control MAb-treated group at 48, 72, and 96 hours after activation 40% vs 30%, 50% vs 39% and 78% vs 50% respectively with p < 0.05 (Figure 23A and B) for gating strategy). In addition, the level of FasR in FasR<sup>+</sup> cells was increased after anti-CD5 MAb treatment compared to isotype control MAb-treated group at 48 hours 1.3 x 10<sup>3</sup> vs 1.2 x 10<sup>3</sup> and at 96 hours 1.6 x 10<sup>3</sup> vs 1.3 x 10<sup>3</sup> respectively with p < 0.05 (Figure 23A and B for gating strategy). The fraction of FasL<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was also increased in cells treated with anti-CD5 MAb at 72 hours 60% vs 30% and at 96 hours 80% vs 60% respectively with p < 0.05(Figure 23A and B). Similarly, the fraction of FasR<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells among mouse 4T1 tumour-bearing splenocytes treated with anti-CD5 MAb was increased compared to cells treated with isotype control MAb, at 48 and 72 hours after activation 45% vs 35% and 40% vs 35% respectively with p < 0.05; the fraction of FasL<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells treated with anti-CD5 MAb was increased compared to cells treated with isotype control MAb at 96 hours 65% vs 60% respectively with p < p0.05 (Figure 24A and B for gating strategy); and the level of FasR on FasR<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was higher at 96 hours after anti-CD5 treatment compared to isotype control MAb 3 x  $10^3$  vs 2 x  $10^3$  (Figure 24A and B gating strategy).



Figure 21. Increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell apoptosis after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 antibodies and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb. Splenocytes from naive, non-tumour bearing BALB/c mice were activated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAb, with or without anti-CD5 MAb. Cell viability was assessed by flow cytometry on day 7 (cells positive for Annexin V only were deemed to be undergoing early apoptosis; for both Annexin V and PI labelled as late apoptosis). (A) Quantified data (B) Gating strategy. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 3mice), one representative experiment of two, \*p < 0.05, ns, not significant (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).



#### Mouse 4T1 tumour-harbouring mice

Figure 22. Increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell apoptosis after activation with 4T1 tumour cell lysate and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb. Splenocytes from mice harbouring 4T1 breast tumours were treated with 4T1 lysate, with or without anti-CD5 MAb. Cell viability was assessed by flow cytometry on day 7 (cells positive for Annexin V only were deemed to be undergoing early apoptosis; for both Annexin V and PI labelled as late apoptosis). (A) Quantified data (B) Gating strategy. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 3 mice), one representative experiment of two, \*p < 0.05, ns, not significant (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).



Figure 23. Increased fractions of FasR<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> and FasL<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after stimulation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *ex vivo*. Splenocytes from naive, non-tumour bearing BALB/c mice were treated on day 0 with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAb with or without anti-CD5 MAb. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were quantified by flow cytometry every 24 h for FasR and FasL positivity. (A) Quantified data. (B) Gating strategy. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, \*p < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*test), MFI: mean fluorescence intensity.



Figure 24. Increased fractions of FasR<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> and FasL<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after stimulation with 4T1 tumour cell lysate and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb ex *vivo*. Splenocytes from BALB/c mice harbouring 4T1 breast tumours were treated with 4T1 lysate, with or without anti-CD5 MAb (day 0). CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were quantified by flow cytometry every 24 h for FasR and FasL positivity. (A) Quantified data. (B) Gating strategy. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, \*p < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*test), MFI: mean fluorescence intensity.

#### 4.2.5 CD5 blockade enhances tumour killing by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells

To determine if treatment of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with anti-CD5 MAb could enhance T cell-mediated cytotoxicity against tumour cells, I assessed *ex vivo* killing of mouse 4T1 tumour cells by primary CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from mice and treated with blocking anti-CD5 MAb. Mice were challenged with 4T1 tumour cells for 21 days and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were isolated and co-cultured with 4T1 cells *in vitro* in combination with *ex vivo* treatment with anti-CD5 MAb. Two-dimensional cell cultures containing T cells and 4T1 cells were maintained in an IncuCyte live cell analysis system to captured live image to detect the ability of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to kill and lyse tumour cells. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells treated with anti-CD5 were more capable in killing tumour cells compared to cells received isotype control or received nothing. At 6 and 10 hours post treatment there were more than 30 dead cells/mm<sup>3</sup> with cells received anti-CD5 blockade compared to less than 20 dead cells/mm<sup>3</sup> with cells received isotype control MAb with p < 0.05 (Figure 25).



- Unstimulated control
- Isotype control MAb
- -▲· Anti-CD5 MAb

Figure 25. Anti-CD5 MAb enhances ex vivo CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated killing of mouse 4T1 breast tumour cells. Cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were isolated from BALB/c mice bearing mouse 4T1 breast tumours, treated with the isotype control MAb or anti-CD5 MAb or control (nothing) and mixed with CFSE-stained 4T1 cells in vitro at a 1:1 ratio. PI was added to measure cell death and an IncuCyteR\_S3 Live-Cell Analysis System was used to image the cells every 2 h. Yellow objects which represent CFSE stained 4T1 (green) binding to PI (red) were counted as a measure of 4T1 tumour cell death. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 3mice), one representative experiment of two. \*p < 0.05 (Student's unpaired onetailed *t*-test).

#### **Chapter 5**

### Administration of anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo* enhances CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and function in a poorly immunogenic 4T1 breast tumour model

#### 5.1 Preamble

CD5 is a characteristic surface tumour marker for T and B cell malignancies. The therapeutic potential of depletion of non-solid CD5<sup>+</sup> tumour cells has been explored using anti-CD5 depleting antibodies and CD5 CAR T cells. In solid CD5<sup>-</sup> tumour cells, CD5 knockout mice exhibit increased antitumour immunity (134). This suggests that blocking CD5 function may have a therapeutic effect by enhancing cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity. The effect of administering an anti-CD5 antibody to block CD5 function and enhance T cell activation and function *in vivo* has not been explored. Here I injected immunocompetent mice with poorly immunogenic, triple-negative mouse 4T1 breast tumour cells and tested whether administration of anti-CD5 MAb in vivo could enhance normal T cell activation and effector function. The data show that administration of anti-CD5 MAb increased the ration of CD8<sup>+</sup> T/CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in draining lymph nodes and within tumours. In addition, I observed significantly increased activation and effector function of T cells isolated from spleen, draining lymph nodes, and tumours. Furthermore, the fraction of exhausted T cells was significantly enhanced after administration of effector-blocking anti-CD5 MAb. These data suggest a potential use of anti-CD5 MAb as an immune blockade to

enhance immune activation in response to poorly immunogenic antigens, either alone or in combination with other drugs including immunotherapeutic drugs.

#### 5.2 Results

### 5.2.1 Anti-CD5 MAb treatment increases the fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells relative to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in tumours and draining lymph nodes

Increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells relative to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in tumours correlate with better progression-free survival in breast cancer patients (186). I determined whether the administration of an anti-CD5 MAb in vivo affected the ratio of CD8<sup>+</sup>/CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell ratio in spleen, draining lymph nodes, and within tumours. As assessed by flow cytometry, there was a higher fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and a lower fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells among all CD3<sup>+</sup> cells (*i.e.*, T lymphocytes) in draining lymph nodes and among tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb (Figure 26A). However, treatment with anti-CD5 MAb did not induce a similar increase the fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and decrease in the fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleens (Figure 26A). These results were further confirmed in analysis of CD8<sup>+</sup>/CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell ratios (Figure 26B). As expected, there was a significant increase in the ratio of CD8<sup>+</sup>/CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in draining lymph nodes and TILs, but not in spleens of mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb compared to those treated with isotype control MAb (Figure 26B). These data suggested that treatment with anti-CD5 MAb enhances CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell fractions within tumours and draining lymph nodes.



Figure 26. Fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*. (A) CD8<sup>+</sup> T and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from spleen, draining lymph node, and TILs isolated from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. (B) CD8<sup>+</sup>/CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell ratios calculated from spleen, draining lymph node, and TILs. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, ns, not significant, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

## 5.2.2 Increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*

In a published study I show that splenocytes stimulated ex vivo with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs or 4T1 tumour lysate and treated with anti-CD5 MAb had an increased fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD69<sup>+</sup> T cells compared to cells stimulated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 or 4T1 tumour lysate and isotype control (177). To investigate whether in vivo administration of anti-CD5 MAb enhanced T cell activation, I excised spleens, draining lymph nodes, and 4T1 tumours from mice and assessed the levels of CD69 (a marker of T cell activation) on T cells in those organs. The results show an increase in the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleens and draining lymph nodes in anti-CD5 MAb-treated mice (Figure 27A). Furthermore, I assessed the levels of CD69 on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and I found the mean fluorescence intensity of CD69 was higher in CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs in anti-CD5 MAb-treated mice (Figure 27A). Furthermore, I found increased fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleen and draining lymph nodes of mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb compared to isotype control MAb-treated mice (Figure 27B). Furthermore, similar to CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs, CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs isolated from anti-CD5 MAbtreated mice had a higher level of CD69 compared to isotype control MAb-treated mice (Figure 27B). These data indicate that treatment with anti-CD5 MAb enhanced T cell activation in vivo.





Figure 27. Fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD69<sup>+</sup> T and CD4<sup>+</sup>CD69<sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*. (A) The fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD69<sup>+</sup> T and MFI of CD69 on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and TILs excised from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. (B) The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD69<sup>+</sup> T cells and MFI of CD69 on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and TILs isolated from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. Data are mean ± SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, ns, not significant, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test), MFI: mean fluorescence intensity.

## 5.2.3 Increased CD8<sup>+</sup>T cell exhaustion after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*

PD-1 is a co-inhibitory receptor that is highly expressed on exhausted T cell (187). It can also indicate chronic stimulation of T cells and is an indication of activation (179). The expression of the T cell exhaustion marker PD-1 was assessed on T cells following treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*. The data show that mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb had a higher fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleen, draining lymph nodes, and within 4T1 tumours compared to mice treated with isotype control MAb (Figure 28A). The MFI of PD-1 was also higher in anti-CD5 MAb-treated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (Figure 28A). Furthermore, treatment with anti-CD5 MAb increased the fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells and MFI of PD-1 in spleens and draining lymph nodes (Figure 28B). No significant difference in the fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells or PD-1 level was observed in CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs (Figure 28B) after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb.





Figure 28. The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> T and CD4<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*. (A) The fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> T cells and the MFI (mean fluorescence intensity) of PD-1 on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and TILs isolated from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. (B) The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> T cells and MFI of PD-1 on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and TILs isolated from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. (B) The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> T cells and MFI of PD-1 on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and TILs isolated from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. Data are mean ± SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test), MFI: mean fluorescence intensity.

### 5.2.4 Increased activation-induced cell death and level of Fas receptor on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after anti-CD5 MAb treatment

Increased T cell activation after CD5 blockade can lead to activationinduced cell death (AICD). To assess whether anti-CD5 MAb treatment resulted in increased T cell AICD, cells isolated from draining lymph nodes and TILs were stained with FITC-annexin V and PI and anti-Fas receptor MAb. The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells undergoing AICD (Annexin V<sup>+</sup>/PI<sup>+</sup>) and early apoptosis (Annexin V<sup>+</sup>/PI<sup>-</sup>) was increased among CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in draining lymph nodes and tumours from anti-CD5-treated mice (Figure 29). Because Fas receptor/Fas ligand interaction is important for AICD (185), I further determined the level of Fas receptor on T cells. There was an increased level of Fas receptor on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell in draining lymph nodes (Figure 30A). Furthermore, treatment with anti-CD5 MAb also induced an increase in the level of Fas on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from draining lymph nodes and tumours, but not spleens, from anti-CD5-treated mice (Figure 30B).



#### Early apoptosis

- Isotype control MAb-treated mice
- ▲ Anti-CD5 MAb-treated mice



# Figure 29. Increased early apoptosis of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells apoptosis (upper graph) and late apoptosis (low graph) after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb. Draining lymph nodes (DLN) and TILs from tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb, stained for Annexin V and/or PI, and analyzed by flow cytometry. Data are mean $\pm$ SD (n = 3 mice), one representative experiment of two. \*p < 0.05, (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).



Α.

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell



Figure 30. The level of Fas receptor on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*. (A) The MFI of Fas receptor on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) excised from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. (B) The MFI of Fas receptor on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) isolated from 4T1 tumourbearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, ns, not significant, \*p < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test), FMO = Fluorescence Minus One Control, MFI: mean fluorescence intensity.

### 5.2.5 Enhanced T cell tumour reactivity and degranulation after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*

I further determined cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) effector function after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb in vivo. CTL effector function was assessed by flow cytometric measurement of a surrogate marker for CTL degranulation: the level of CD107a (188). The fraction of CD107a<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and the mean fluorescence intensity of CD107a were significantly higher in spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) from anti-CD5 MAb-treated mice (Figure 31A). Furthermore, the fraction of CD107a<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells among all CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in both spleens and draining lymph nodes (DLN) from mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb was significantly increased compared to mice treated with isotype control MAb (Figure 31B). The MFI was also significantly higher in spleens, DLN, and TILs in anti-CD5 MAb-treated mice (Figure 31B). In addition, antigen-specific activation of T cells was assessed using a surrogate marker for antigen-specific T cell activation: CD137, a member of the TNFR family with costimulatory function (189). Anti-CD5 MAb-treated mice had an increased fraction of CD137<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleens and draining lymph nodes but not among TILs (Figure 32A). The MFI of CD137 was up-regulated in CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb (Figure 32A). Moreover, there was a significant increase in the fraction of CD137<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleens and among TILs (Figure 32B). The numerical increase in the fraction of CD137<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in DLN was not significant (Figure 32B). The MFI of CD137 was significantly higher in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleens, DLN, and among TILs from anti-CD5 MAb-treated mice (Figure 32B). Together these

data suggest antigen-specific and effector functions of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are enhanced after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb.





Figure 31. The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD107a<sup>+</sup> T and CD4<sup>+</sup>CD107a<sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*. (A) The fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD107a<sup>+</sup> T cells and MFI of CD107a on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and TILs from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. (B) The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD107a<sup>+</sup> T cells and MFI of CD107a on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and TILs isolated from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. Data are mean ± SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, ns, not significant, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test), MFI: mean fluorescence intensity.





Figure 32. The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD137<sup>+</sup> T and CD4<sup>+</sup>CD137<sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*. (A) The fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD137<sup>+</sup> T cells and MFI of CD137 on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleen, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. (B) The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD137<sup>+</sup> T cells and MFI of CD137 on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. (B) The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD137<sup>+</sup> T cells and MFI of CD137 on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb or isotype control MAb. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, ns, not significant, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test), MFI: mean fluorescence intensity.
#### 5.2.6 No overt toxicity is associated with anti-CD5 MAb treatment in vivo

To determine whether *in vivo* administration of anti-CD5 MAb has any overt toxicity, I measured body weight for all groups of mice from the first day of antibody injection and monitored the weight over the course of the treatment. No toxicity by this relatively crude measure (decreased body weight compared to mice treated with isotype control MAb) was observed as indicated by the body weight when mice received single treatments or when they received a combination of anti-CD5 MAb + anti-PD-1 MAb (Figure 33).



**Figure 33. Body weight measurements.** BALB/c mice bearing 4T1 tumours were treated with the indicated therapeutic modalities. Their body weights were measured and recorded regularly after treatments. Means and SDs of data are shown, (n = 6 mice).

# 5.2.7 Mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb had significant accumulation of $T_{reg}$ cells in tumour-draining lymph nodes

Accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) has been shown to suppress immunotherapy (64). In my model, I investigated the fraction of MDSC in spleens, DLN, and tumours (TILs) to determine if they were influenced by treatment with anti-CD5 MAb. The percentage of MDSC (Gr-1<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>) among all cells from spleens and tumours was significantly higher in mice harbouring 4T1 tumour cells compared to naïve mice but was not increased by treatment with anti-CD5 MAb (Figure 34A). The increase in MDSC in tumourbearing mice was observed only in spleen and in tumours and not in lymph nodes (Figure 34A). T<sub>regs</sub> (CD4<sup>+</sup>/CD25<sup>+</sup>/FoxP3<sup>+</sup>) were also assessed, with an increase in the fraction of T<sub>regs</sub> among all CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the draining lymph nodes of mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb (Figure 34B). No differences in the fraction of T<sub>regs</sub> were observed in spleens or tumours.



Figure 34. The fraction of T<sub>reg</sub> and MDSC after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb. (A) Spleens, lymph nodes, and tumours were collected at day 21 after 4T1 implantation and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb and the fraction of MDSC in those organs assessed by flow cytometry. (B) Spleens, lymph nodes, and tumours were collected at day 21 after 4T1 implantation and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb and the fraction of T<sub>reg</sub> cells was assessed by flow cytometry. Data are mean ± SD (n = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, ns, not significant, \*p <0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

## 5.2.8 Myeloid-derived suppressor cells express higher levels of inhibitory ligands in mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb

Although accumulation of MDSC was not significantly enhanced after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb, the levels of inhibitory ligands for PD-1 and Fas receptor were significantly higher in draining lymph nodes in mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb. The MFI of PD-L1 was higher in draining lymph nodes from mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb compared to the mice treated with isotype control MAb ( $0.3X10^3$  versus  $0.7X10^3$ , respectively, p < 0.05)(Figure 35A). In addition, the MFI of Fas ligand on MDSC from draining lymph nodes isolated from mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb was significantly higher compared to mice treated with isotype control MAb ( $0.14X10^3$  versus  $0.23X10^3$ , respectively, p < 0.05)(Figure 35B). No differences were observed in the levels of inhibitory ligands in T<sub>regs</sub> in the same mice (data not shown).



**Figure 35. Level of PD-L1 and Fas ligand on MDSC.** Draining lymph nodes were collected at day 21 after 4T1 implantation and treatment with anti-CD5 MAb. The level of PD-L1 and Fas ligand on MDSC were assessed by flow cytometry. **(A)** PD-L1 MFI on MDSC isolated from draining lymph nodes. **(B)** Fas ligand MFI on MDSC isolated from draining lymph nodes. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test), MFI: mean fluorescence intensity.

### 5.2.9 Increased fraction of activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in mice treated with anti-CD5 + anti-PD-1 MAbs

PD-1 blockade decreases exhaustion in effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells but does not increase activation. To investigate whether *in vivo* administration with anti-CD5 MAb could enhance CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation during anti-PD-1 treatment, I combined anti-CD5 and anti-PD1 treatment of mice (For treatment design see Figure 36C). The results show that addition of anti-CD5 MAb in combination with treatment with anti-PD-1 MAb significantly increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation in both spleens and draining lymph nodes compared to single treatment with anti-PD-1 MAb (14.2% vs 9.5% and 22.2% vs 14.7%, respectively; p<0.05; Figure 36A). Furthermore, additional treatment of anti-CD5 MAb in combination with treatment with anti-PD-1 MAb significantly increased CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell activation in both the spleen and draining lymph nodes compared to single treatment with anti-PD-1 MAb (25.7 vs 13.3% and 32.6% vs 22.7%, respectively; p<0.05; Figure 36B). These data suggest that addition blockade of anti-CD5 enhances CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation during anti-PD-1 blockade.



Anti-CD5 + anti-PD-1 MAbs

Figure 36. The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD69<sup>+</sup> T and CD4<sup>+</sup>CD69<sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD1 *in vivo*. (A) The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD69<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD-1 MAb. (B) The fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD69<sup>+</sup> T cells from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) isolated from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD-1 MAb. (C) treatment design. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, \**p* < 0.05, ns, not significant (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

## 5.2.10 Increased fraction of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after anti-CD5 and anti-PD-1 combination therapy

I further assessed whether addition of anti-CD5 MAb to anti-PD-1 MAb could increase effector T cell activation. I observed an increase in the fraction of CD107a<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in spleens and draining lymph nodes in mice treated with anti-CD5 + anti-PD-1 MAbs (Figure 37A). Furthermore, the fraction of CD107a<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens and draining lymph nodes was higher in mice treated with combination therapy (anti-CD5 + anti-PD-1 MAbs)(Figure 37B). In addition, the surrogate marker for antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (CD137) was assessed. The data show that the fraction of CD137<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens and draining lymph nodes was significantly higher in mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD-1 MAb compared to single treatment alone (Figure 38A). The fraction of CD137<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens and draining lymph nodes was also significantly higher in mice treated with anti-CD5 and anti-PD-1 compared to treatment with each of the MAbs alone (Figure 38B).







Figure 37. The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD107a<sup>+</sup> T and CD4<sup>+</sup>CD107a<sup>\*</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD1 *in vivo*. (A) The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD107a<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) isolated from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD-1 MAb. (B) The fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD107a<sup>+</sup> T cells from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) isolated from 4T1 tumourbearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD-1 MAb. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (*n* = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, ns, not significant, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).



Figure 38. The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD137<sup>+</sup> T and CD4<sup>+</sup>CD137<sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD1 *in vivo*. (A) The fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup>CD137<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) isolated from 4T1 tumour-bearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD-1 MAb. (B) The fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD137<sup>+</sup> T cells from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (TILs) isolated from 4T1 tumourbearing BALB/c mice that were treated with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD-1 MAb. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 3 mice), one representative experiment of three, \*p <0.05, ns, not significant (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

## 5.2.11 Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo* reduced 4T1 tumour growth in mice

To further test the hypothesis, I used anti-CD5 MAb as a single agent, combined with anti-PD-1 MAb, and combined with chemotherapeutic treatment in mice bearing 4T1 tumours to examine their affect in suppressing tumour growth. I found that treatment with anti-CD5 alone did not reduce tumour growth (Figure 39A for treatment design; B for tumour volume). I further tested anti-CD5 in combination with anti-PD-1 MAb and found no significant delay in tumour growth (Figure 39A and B). I then reduced the number of dosages to one injection only of anti-CD5 MAb followed by three dosage of anti-PD-1 MAb and found a trend in tumour delay that was not reproducible (Figure 40A for treatment design; B for tumour volume). I have shown previously that the 4T1 model has increased accumulation of MDSCs in spleens and in 4T1 tumours (Figure 34) which are associated with reduced response to immunotherapeutic agents (64). Therefore, MDSC-depleting drugs such as gemcitabine (190) and 5-FU (70) were next tested in combination with anti-CD5 MAb. The data show delayed tumour growth in mice treated with gemcitabine alone, but anti-CD5 MAb treatment did not enhance gemcitabine-mediated anti-tumour activity (Figure 41). I then tested 5-FU in combination with anti-CD5 MAb and changed the route of administration for anti-CD5 MAb from intraperitoneal (i.p.) to peritumoural injection (p.t) to determine if local administration of anti-CD5 MAb resulted in enhanced tumour regression and prevention of overactivation of T cell that might result in T cell

exhaustion and AICD. Similar to gemcitabine, 5-FU alone reduced tumour growth but anti-CD5 MAb treatment did not enhance 5-FU-mediated anti-tumour activity (Figure 42).

Another experiment was conducted to test the capacity of anti-CD5 MAb to affect tumour homograft growth in mice *in vivo* under different conditions: treatment with lower dosages of anti-CD5 MAb and inoculation with a lower number of 4T1 tumour cells (that, regardless, result in 100% tumour take). On day 0, mice were injected with 5000 4T1 tumour cells. In addition, they were treated with anti-CD5 MAb every 3 to 4 days for a total of 11 injections with MAb (euthanasia of mice when those with the largest tumours reached maximal tumour volume allowable according to humane animal management protocols as required by the Western University Animal Care Committee, the Canadian Council on Animal Care, and the approved protocol under which the experiment was conducted). Tumours volumes were estimated as described in *Materials and Methods*. The resulting data are shown in Figure 44. These data indicate that, anti-CD5 MAb administration *in vivo* did reduce 4T1 tumour growth in mice when administrated frequently at lower dosage.





145

Α.

Figure 39: Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb + anti-PD-1 MAb, first treatment design. 4T1 tumour-harbouring mice received anti-PD-1 and anti-CD5 MAbs 7 days after tumour inoculation and anti-CD5 MAb every three days. (A) Scheme for treatment plan. (B) Tumour volume. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 5 mice), one representative experiment of three, ns, not significant (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).



Β.



Figure 40: Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb + anti-PD-1 MAb, second treatment design. 4T1 tumour-harbouring mice received anti-CD5 MAbs 7 days after tumour inoculation followed by anti-PD-1 MAb every three days. (A) Scheme for treatment plan. (B) Tumour volume. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 6 mice), one representative experiment of three, ns, not significant (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).



Β.



**Figure 41: Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb + Gemcitabine**. 4T1 tumourharbouring mice received Gemcitabine 7 days after tumour inoculation and followed by one dosage of anti-CD5 MAb after three days. **(A)** Scheme for treatment plan. **(B)** Tumour volume. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (*n* = 6 mice), one experiment, ns, not significant, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).



Α.

**Figure 42: Treatment with anti-CD5 MAb + 5-FU**. 4T1 tumour-harbouring mice received 5-FU and anti-CD5 MAb 7 days after tumour inoculation and anti-CD5 MAb every three days. **(A)** Scheme for treatment plan. **(B)** Tumour volume. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (*n* = 6 mice), one experiment, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).



### Figure 43: Treatment with low dosage of anti-CD5 MAb. 4T1 tumour-

harbouring mice received 25 ug/mouse of anti-CD5 MAb on day 0 along with tumour inoculation and continued to receive the treatment of a total of 11 injections (A) Scheme for treatment plan. (B) Tumour volume. Data are mean  $\pm$ SEM (*n* = 7 mice), one representative experiment of two, \**p* < 0.05 (Student's unpaired one-tailed *t*-test).

### Chapter 6

#### 6.1 Discussion

CD5 is highly expressed on human leukemic cells, including leukemias arising in T and B cell populations (191). As an antigen preferentially and selectively expressed in leukemia, it has been therapeutically targeted in an antibody-drug conjugate approach using anti-CD5 MAb conjugated to toxin (165, 167, 192). More recently, in addition to molecule-based anti-CD5 cancer immunotherapy, cell-based anti-CD5 therapy has been introduced in the form of CAR-T cells engineered to target CD5 on human T and B cells to treat leukemias arising from these immune cell types (129) and a clinical trial has been launched targeting CD5 in CD5<sup>+</sup> cancer cells using CD5 CAR-T cells (NCT03081910) (193) with recent published result demonstrate the safety and positive outcome with the treatment (illustrated in section 1.8 pf this thesis) (168). In addition, CAR-T cells engineered to lack CD5 expression have been generated to prevent fratricide (*i.e.*, CAR T cell-mediated ablation of CD5-expressing effector CAR T cells) and enhance the potential value of anti-CD5 CAR T cell approaches (132).

With respect to CD5 on normal T cells, less is known but data suggest that lack of CD5 activity increases anti-tumour immune surveillance and reduces tumour growth (As illustrated in detail in section 1.6 of this thesis). This suggests that functionally blocking CD5 signalling could lead to increase anti-tumour

immunity and enhanced T cell activation. Thus, CD5 expression on non-solid tumours has been the focus of therapy.

In this thesis, I aimed to understand the relationship between CD5 and T cell activation and exhaustion and investigate the effect of targeting CD5 using monoclonal antibody ex vivo and in vivo on immune T cell and tumour growth. CD5 has been shown to interact with TCR and impair TCR signaling (89, 105). Previous studies have shown a correlation between CD5 and anti-tumour immunity where CD5 knockout mice inoculated with B16F10 melanoma cells had delayed tumour growth compared to wild type mice (134). However, the correlation between CD5 level and T cell activation and exhaustion in tumours and in peripheral organs is ill-defined and requires further investigation. In Chapter Three of this thesis, I determined the *in vivo* relationship between T cell CD5 level and T cell activation and exhaustion in primary mouse T cells isolated from different organs and syngeneic tumours. I found different patterns of CD5 expression in T cells isolated from different tissues in mice bearing tumour homografts. The differences in CD5 expression patterns correlated with the level of T cell activation and exhaustion in different organs and tumours. First, I determined CD5 levels in T cell subsets isolated from lymphoid organs and the tumour. CD5 expression was observed in T cell subsets including CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells: CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were found to express greater amounts of CD5 than CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

CD5 is associated with the TCR/CD3 complex and BCR and has been shown to negatively regulate the TCR signaling pathway (89). Elevated CD5 is

associated with B cell activation (194) and is found to be expressed on certain lymphoid tumours (91). I investigated CD5 levels on mouse CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during naïve, ex vivo activation and in vivo activation to determine their pattern of expression. My data reveal that T cell CD5 levels are enhanced following recognition of specific target (exposure to tumour antigen or stimulation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 MAbs)(177)). Primary CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from mice, activated ex vivo or in vivo by exposure to anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 MAbs or tumour cells, had an increased level of CD5 compared to non-activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. This is consistent with published data linking increased CD5 expression to the strength of T cell receptor signaling and function: a mechanism to fine-tune TCR signaling (89). My results indicate a clear correlation between CD5 and T cell activation. Considering that CD5 is associated with TCR and BCR (76, 195), this agrees with a published report that CD5 is indicator of B cell activation (194). Furthermore, I report that T cell subsets from mouse spleen and lymph nodes display similar CD5 levels. However, the fraction of both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell subsets infiltrated into tumours had a reduced level of CD5. Although I did not distinguish between the possibilities that T cells with reduced CD5 prior to infiltration into tumours were preferentially recruited into tumours, or that T cells with elevated CD5 infiltrated into tumours but had their CD5 levels reduced once they were within tumours, CD5 levels in T cells have been reported to be induced in correlation with the intensity of antigen recognition by TCR (76). Mouse 4T1 tumours are poorly immunogenic and highly metastatic (64), providing a context conducive to poor antigen recognition leading to low CD5 on T cells within those

tumours. That, along with our observation of reduced CD5 on T cells within the tumour and our previous report that experimental reduction of CD5 leads to increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation (177), collectively suggest that T cells with low CD5 within tumours (due wholly or in part to the poorly immunogenic characteristic of 4T1 tumours) may have increased sensitivity to poorly immunogenic 4T1 tumour antigens. These results demonstrated that CD5 may be downregulated in T cells based on the TCR/CD3 signaling intensity within tumours.

I further tested T cell activation in relation to CD5 expression levels in spleens, lymph nodes, and 4T1 tumours. In lymphoid organs, the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T and CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were significantly higher than the fraction of CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>low</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T and CD69<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>low</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, respectively. This suggests that CD5 levels increase on T cells as TCR stimulation proceeds and T cells undergo activation (as evidenced by increased CD69, an early marker of T cell activation). Interestingly, only the CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the tumour with low/undetectable CD5 expression exhibited higher levels of activation compared to CD5<sup>high</sup> TILs: an observation in accord with our previous report that inhibition of CD5 on T cells leads to enhanced T cell activation and proliferation (177) and suggesting that intra-tumoural T cells with naturally-occurring low CD5 are selected for increased presence within 4T1 tumours. Furthermore, CD5 has been reported to protect tumour-reactive circulating T cells from activation-induced cell death (AICD) following recognition of autologous tumour (137). Reduced CD5 levels on T cells within the 4T1

tumour may be evidence of selection of T cells with naturally-occurring low CD5 for enhanced activation and proliferation within tumours: such selection would promote interaction between T cells and tumour cells, enhance the TCR signaling response, and result in increased activation as shown by increased CD69 expression. This is consistent with a report of increased anti-tumour cytolytic activity in T cells with low CD5 levels (136). The mechanism regulating expression *in vivo* is not well understood and it is difficult, with our present level of understanding, to elucidate the reasons underlying our observation of T cells with reduced CD5 within tumours compared to T cells from lymph nodes and spleens. Regardless of that, low CD5 on T cells within tumours can conceivably lead to increased anti-tumour immune activity.

T cell exhaustion is mediated by the duration and magnitude of antigenic activation (196). The expression of PD-1 by T cells is one measurement for T cell exhaustion (197) and binding to its ligand results in limitation of T cell function (198). In this report I show that CD5 might protect T cell from exhaustion in the tumour through downregulation of PD-1. Indeed, our results indicate that the number of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>-/low</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs within tumours was significantly higher than PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD5<sup>high</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs. However, this was not the case with intra-tumoural CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs, where there was no observation of downregulated CD5 in an increased fraction of this PD-1<sup>+</sup> subset of T cells in tumours compared to the same subset in lymph and spleen. This may be due to the fact that PD-1 is upregulated when T cells are chronically exposed to non-self tumour antigens (our model of 4T1 breast tumour growth). This role in host defense is fulfilled by

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, making them preferentially susceptible to PD-1 upregulation after exposure to tumour antigen. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, on the other hand, do not recognize tumour cell directly due to the lack of MHC II on solid tumour cells (199). Therefore, they may not upregulate exhaustion markers when they are activated due to limited interaction with tumour cells.

Taken together, our data suggest that CD5 levels on T cells (particularly CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells) are correlated with T cell activation and exhaustion, as evidenced by the relationship between CD69 and PD-1: that correlation is evidence supportive of a role for CD5 in T cell survival. CD5 is induced based on the intensity of the TCR-MHC-1 interaction and poorly immunogenic tumour that can lead to T cells with reduced CD5: a situation promoting increased TCR-MHC-I interaction and enhanced T cell activation. A causal role for CD5 in T cell activation, supported by evidence presented here and by published previously (177), forms the basis to propose targeting of CD5 as a therapeutic intervention to enhance anti-tumour immunity. Immune checkpoint blockade is a current immunotherapeutic approach in cancer that is most effective in patients with an increased fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup> cells (200). Therapeutic interventions that lead to enhanced activation of T cells in the tumour (for example, interventions to reduce CD5) may be suitable components of combination therapy that include anti-CD5 treatment with immune checkpoint blockade: anti-CD5 would lead to increased PD-1 on tumour-resident T cells that, in turn, would lead to a situation promoting the effectiveness of anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint blockade. The current study provides evidence for a critical role for CD5 in regulating PD-1 expression in

tumour-associated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and suggests a therapeutic approach to sensitize T cell to immune checkpoint blockade.

The first report of anti-CD5 MAb-based therapy of tumours grown as solid tumours involved the effect of administration of anti-CD5 in mouse CD5<sup>+</sup> leukemias grown as solid tumour homografts (133). Mice injected subcutaneously with CD5<sup>+</sup> mouse leukemia tumours or CD5<sup>-</sup> mouse lung cancer cells had increased overall survival when treated with anti-CD5 treatment. This effect was abolished in thymectomized mice, suggesting that that the therapeutic effect of anti-CD5 MAb effects was mediated, not by direct effects on CD5<sup>+</sup> tumour cells, but on thymus-derived CD5<sup>+</sup> cells including non-tumour host mouse T cells. Further studies have shown that homografted mouse tumours grown in CD5 knockout (CD5<sup>-/-</sup>) mice grow more slowly than in wild type CD5<sup>+/+</sup> mice (134). This suggests that reducing CD5 signaling could lead to enhanced antitumour immunity. Assessment of the effect of direct administration of anti-CD5 MAb to block CD5 signaling on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells will lead to increased understanding of the effect of CD5 blockade in tumour immunity and facilitate the development of CD5-targeted anticancer immunotherapy. In chapter four, I investigated the direct effect of using anti-CD5 MAb on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and function ex vivo.

To investigate the effect of anti-CD5 MAb of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and function I treated primary CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from mice homografted (tumour-harbouring) and tumour-naïve (non-tumour bearing) with anti-CD5 MAb *ex vivo*. Using flow cytometry, I observed that *ex vivo* activation accompanied by
treatment with an antagonistic anti-CD5 MAb increased the fraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells expressing markers of activation (CD69 and IFNy) (201, 202) and increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation, indicating that anti-CD5 MAb enhances CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation. *Ex vivo* treatment with anti-CD5 MAb alone did not induce CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation suggesting that anti-CD5 treatment mediates enhanced activation by influencing CD5 effects on TCR signaling. In further support of this concept, ERK phosphorylation (indicative of increased TCR signaling) was increased in cells activated by treatment with anti-CD3, combined with treatment with anti-CD5 alone did not lead to increased ERK phosphorylation. This is consistent with a report that activation of ERK was greater in thymic cells from mice that express unfunctional CD5 challenged with OVA323-339-peptide to induce T cell activation compared to thymic cells from CD5 wildtype mice (183).

My data show increased AICD (a consequence correlated with increased T cell activation (20, 184)) in activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells treated with anti-CD5 MAb. In addition, and consistent with increased AICD, treatment of spleen cells increased the fraction of FasR<sup>+</sup> and FasL<sup>+</sup> T cells; TILs isolated from tumourbearing mice with CD5 deficiency have been reported to be similarly susceptible to AICD via increased FasR expression (134). AICD can occur as result of overstimulation of TCR (184). CD5 acts to fine-tune TCR responsiveness and, therefore, blockade of CD5 could lead to enhance TCR sensitivity to antigen and increased AICD. Based on these data showing that blocking CD5 on activated T cells by treatment with anti-CD5 blocking MAb enhances CD8<sup>+</sup> T activation as

shown by elevated CD69, and enhanced production of IFNy ex vivo, and that activation is associated with increased proliferation as shown by CFSE, I proposed that administration of blocking anti-CD5 MAb could enhance antitumour immunity. In a cytotoxic T cell lysis (CTL) assay, I observed that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells treated with anti-CD5 MAb were more capable of targeting and killing mouse 4T1 tumour cells ex vivo than cells treated with control Ab. These data strongly suggest that treatment with anti-CD5 MAb can increase the ability of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to target and eliminate tumour cells, and supports the concept that blocking CD5 to enhance anti-tumour CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell function has potential as an *in* vivo anti-cancer immunotherapy. Blocking CD5 on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells could lead to hyper-activation that, although potentially desirable in increasing anti-tumour action in the short term, could increase inhibitory receptors that, over time, act to suppress CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell function. Therefore, targeting additional T cell molecules in combination with CD5 blockade (for example, immune checkpoint molecules) may be necessary to prevent CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell exhaustion and sustain CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell function. With due consideration of additional effects, my data nevertheless show that blockade of CD5 on T cells ex vivo has promise as an anti-tumour immunotherapy.

The data described in Chapter Four reveal that blocking CD5 *ex vivo* results in increased CTL activation and tumour cell cytotoxicity (now published in the *European Journal of Immunology* (177)). In Chapter Five, I aimed to assess the consequences of administration of anti-CD5 MAb to tumour-bearing mice on tumour growth and possible adverse immune-related and other adverse effects,

and to determine whether blocking CD5 *in vivo* could increase activation of normal T cells and enhance detection of poorly immunogenic tumour antigen(s). The triple-negative 4T1 mouse breast tumour cell line was used as a model for poorly immunogenic and highly metastastatic tumours, reflecting similar breast tumours in humans (174). This makes them good candidates to determine whether anti-CD5 MAb delivered *in vivo* could enhance T cell activation and ability to recognize poorly immunogenic tumour antigens. Mice were injected with 4T1 mouse tumour cells and treated with anti-CD5 MAb. The activation and function of T cells isolated from spleens, draining lymph nodes, and tumours (tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes, or TILs) were further assessed using flow cytometry.

The data show that administration of anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo* increases the ratio of CD8<sup>+</sup> to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in draining lymph nodes and within tumours. The predominant numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and the minority CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were significantly activated in spleens, draining lymph nodes, and TILs, suggesting that anti-CD5 treatment mediates enhanced activation by influencing CD5 effects on TCR signalling. As a result of increased activation, the level of the exhaustion marker PD-1 and the fraction of PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and PD-1<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were significantly higher after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb. The data was consistent with our previous report showing increased activation-induced cell death (AICD) and early apoptosis in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *ex vivo* (177). I showed significantly increased AICD and early apoptosis in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from draining lymph nodes and TILs and, consistent with increased

AICD, treatment with anti-CD5 blocking MAb increased the level of Fas receptor on the surface of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Because AICD occurs after chronic stimulation of T cell receptors (TCRs)(184), treatment with anti-CD5 MAb may lead to TCR sensitivity to tumour antigen, resulting in increased AICD. These results suggest that treatment with anti-CD5 MAb could also enhance the effector function of T cells. I found significantly increased T cell effector function in response to anti-CD5 treatment in spleens, draining lymph nodes, and TILs as shown by increased expression of surrogate markers of T cell degranulation and antigenspecific T cell (CD107a and CD137). Together, these data suggest that treatment with non-depleting anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo* resulted in increase T cell activation, AICD, and effector function.

I further tested the fraction of suppressor cell such as T<sub>regs</sub> and MDSC after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*. I found that the fraction of MDSC did not increase after treatment with anti-CD5, but was influenced by the 4T1 tumour inoculation in the spleen and the tumour bed. T<sub>regs</sub>, on the other hand, were significantly enhanced in lymph nodes after treatment with anti-CD5 MAb *in vivo*. Although the fraction of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) was not altered upon anti-CD5 MAb treatment, the inhibitory ligands FasL and PD-L1 were significantly higher in the draining lymph nodes (DLN) from anti-CD5-treated mice. These data suggest that inhibitory signaling could affect T cell immunity in the 4T1 breast tumour model treated with anti-CD5 MAb and anti-PD-1 MAb could enhance T cell function and activation compared to single

treatment with anti-PD-1 MAb. The results show that treatment with both anti-CD5 MAb with anti-PD-1 MAb enhanced T cell activation and function compared to single treatment with anti-PD-1 in the spleen and DLN.

Administration of anti-CD5 in vivo results in significantly increased numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> cells relative to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and enhanced CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and effector function. To assess whether administration of anti-CD5 MAb can significantly delay in tumour growth, I evaluated several approaches. The first approach was to administer anti-CD5 MAb i.p. on day 7 after 4T1 tumour inoculation (Figures 4,5, 39, and 40). Although there was a trend toward tumour growth delay in one experiment, the result was not reproducible upon repetition. This could be due to several factors. First, there was a significant accumulation of immune suppressor cells in the 4T1 tumour cell model (Tregs and MDSC (203) and Figure 34). It has been previously reported that the 4T1 tumour model is resistant to immunotherapeutic approaches (64) and the authors suggested combining several approaches to suppress the growth of 4T1 tumours *in vivo* when treating with immunotherapies: possible additional approaches could include depletion of MDSC or combining immunotherapeutic drugs with chemotherapeutic drugs toxic to immunosuppressive cell populations (64). To address this question, I tested the third approach (Figures 6, 7, 41 and 42) by coadministering two drugs used to deplete MDSCs in vivo: 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) and the deoxycytidine analogue and antimetabolite gemcitabine. Although single doses of these drugs resulted in tumour delay, the combination of 5-FU or gemcitabine with anti-CD5 MAb did not significantly reduce tumour growth

compared to single treatment with either of the two drugs. Second, and similar to *ex vivo* results (177), I observed increased AICD in T lymphocytes in response to anti-CD5 MAb treatment: a consequence of increased activation in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from mice treated with anti-CD5 MAb. This observation was associated with increased Fas receptor levels in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. This was expected as increased activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells has been shown to associate with increased levels of Fas receptor and AICD (204). To overcome this limitation, I tested the fifth approach: that is, by reducing the dose of anti-CD5 MAb used to treat homograft tumors *in vivo* and administered CD5 MAb as early as day 0. In addition, the route of CD5 MAb administration was peritumoural to limit systemic overactivation of T cells and reduce the chance of developing AICD (Figure 8 and 43). This approach gave the best result in delaying tumour growth *in vivo* as a single treatment of anti-CD5 MAb (Figure 43).

Considering that CD5 is expressed on all T cells, treatment with anti-CD5 MAb could have multiple effects, including adverse consequences: such possible consequences require further investigation. It has been reported that B6 polyclonal T cells with no or low CD5 expression are less capable of generating induced  $T_{regs}$  (i $T_{regs}$ ) under certain conditions (205) which play a role in suppressing immune cells: anti-CD5 MAb administration could, therefore, result in adverse auto-immune effects. On the other hand, other have reported that generation of  $T_{regs}$  is not affected by the absence of the CK2 binding domain in CD5, suggesting that reduced CD5 activity have little or no  $T_{reg}$  effects (182). It is possible that the presence of the whole CD5 receptor could affect generation of

T<sub>regs</sub>, but that deletion of part of the CD5 molecule functional in affecting TCR signaling, or temporary blockade of the CD5 signaling pathway, would have little effect on generation of T<sub>regs</sub> and reduced danger of induction of autoimmune effects. Nevertheless, multiple immune cell types (B cells, dendritic cells, and others) have been reported to express CD5 (146, 161, 206) and the consequences of systemic administration of anti-CD5 capable of blocking CD5 function on both anti-tumour CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (with potential to enhance anti-tumour immunity) and other immune cells (where blockade may have adverse effects) requires further study.

The use of toxic molecule-conjugated anti-CD5 depleting MAb was studied to treat CD5<sup>+</sup> non-solid tumours. However, the impact of CD5 blocking antibody on normal T cells in CD5<sup>-</sup> solid tumours is not well illustrated. Despite the study that was conducted 1984 that shows continues administration of CD5 polyclonal antibodies to slow the growth of EL lung cancer (133) there has been no further reports of the consequences of administration of anti-CD5 MAb for normal T cells *in vivo* to enhance its function. This thesis is the first to describe the correlation between CD5 and T cell activation and exhaustion in lymphoid organs and tumour and assess the affect of blocking CD5 function *ex vivo* in normal T cell to increase their activation and function. In addition, it illustrates the phenotypic changes in immune cell subsets in lymphoid organs as well as within tumours after *in vivo* administration of anti-CD5 MAb. These results require further investigation, particularly in combination with current anti-tumour immunotherapies. The dosage of anti-CD5 MAb should be taken into

consideration as high dosage could results in unwanted high activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell and induced AICD.

# Chapter 7

#### 7.1 References

1. McCarthy EF. The toxins of William B. Coley and the treatment of bone and soft-tissue sarcomas. THE IOWA ORTHOPAEDIC JOURNAL. 2006;26:154.

2. Bernard P, Bedane C, Mounier M, Denis F, Catanzano G, Bonnetblanc J-M. Streptococcal cause of erysipelas and cellulitis in adults: a microbiologic study using a direct immunofluorescence technique. ARCHIVES OF DERMATOLOGY. 1989;125(6):779-782.

3. Decker WK, da Silva RF, Sanabria MH, Angelo LS, Guimarães F, Burt BM, et al. Cancer immunotherapy: historical perspective of a clinical revolution and emerging preclinical animal models. FRONTIERS IN IMMUNOLOGY. 2017;8:829.

4. BURNET M. Immunological factors in the process of carcinogenesis. BRITISH MEDICAL BULLETIN. 1964;20(2):154-158.

5. Thomas L. Reaction to homologous tissue antigens in relation to hypersensitivity, cellular and humoral aspects to the hypersensitivity state. CELLULAR AND HUMORAL ASPECTS OF THE HYPERSENSITIVITY STATE. 1959;529.

6. De Visser KE, Eichten A, Coussens LM. Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development. NATURE REVIEWS CANCER. 2006;6(1):24-37.

7. Shankaran V, Ikeda H, Bruce AT, White JM, Swanson PE, Old LJ, et al. IFNγ and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. NATURE. 2001;410(6832):1107-1111.

8. Gay L, Baker A-M, Graham TA. Tumour cell heterogeneity. F1000RESEARCH. 2016;5.

9. Dong L-q, Peng L-h, Ma L-j, Liu D-b, Zhang S, Luo S-z, et al. Heterogeneous immunogenomic features and distinct escape mechanisms in multifocal hepatocellular carcinoma. JOURNAL OF HEPATOLOGY. 2020;72(5):896-908.

10. Vicari AP, Caux C. Chemokines in cancer. CYTOKINE & GROWTH FACTOR REVIEWS. 2002;13(2):143-154.

11. Qin Z, Schwartzkopff J, Pradera F, Kammertæns T, Seliger B, Pircher H, et al. A critical requirement of interferon  $\gamma$ -mediated angiostasis for tumor rejection by CD8+ T cells. CANCER RESEARCH. 2003;63(14):4095-4100.

12. Smyth MJ, Thia KY, Street SE, MacGregor D, Godfrey DI, Trapani JA. Perforinmediated cytotoxicity is critical for surveillance of spontaneous lymphoma. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE. 2000;192(5):755-760.

13. Richards DM, Hettinger J, Feuerer M. Monocytes and macrophages in cancer: development and functions. CANCER MICROENVIRONMENT. 2013;6(2):179-191.

14. Hubackova S, Kucerova A, Michlits G, Kyjacova L, Reinis M, Korolov O, et al. IFN $\gamma$  induces oxidative stress, DNA damage and tumor cell senescence via TGF $\beta$ /SMAD signaling-dependent induction of Nox4 and suppression of ANT2. ONCOGENE. 2016;35(10):1236-1249.

15. Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. ANNU. REV. IMMUNOL. 2004;22:329-360.

16. Mirkeshavarz M, Ganjibakhsh M, Aminishakib P, Farzaneh P, Mahdavi N, Vakhshiteh F, et al. Interleukin-6 secreted by oral cancer-associated fibroblast accelerated VEGF expression in tumor and stroma cells. CELL MOL BIOL (NOISY LE GRAND). 2017;63(10).

17. O'connell J, O'sullivan GC, Collins JK, Shanahan F. The Fas counterattack: Fas-mediated T cell killing by colon cancer cells expressing Fas ligand. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE. 1996;184(3):1075-1082.

18. Sun H, Miao C, Liu W, Qiao X, Yang W, Li L, et al. TGF-β1/TβRII/Smad3 signaling pathway promotes VEGF expression in oral squamous cell carcinoma tumor-associated macrophages. BIOCHEMICAL AND BIOPHYSICAL RESEARCH COMMUNICATIONS. 2018;497(2):583-590.

19. Suda T, Okazaki T, Naito Y, Yokota T, Arai N, Ozaki S, et al. Expression of the Fas ligand in cells of T cell lineage. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 1995;154(8):3806-3813.

20. Green DR, Droin N, Pinkoski M. Activation-induced cell death in T cells. IMMUNOLOGICAL REVIEWS. 2003;193(1):70-81.

21. Okazaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 and PD-1 ligands: from discovery to clinical application. INTERNATIONAL IMMUNOLOGY. 2007;19(7):813-824.

22. Walunas TL, Lenschow DJ, Bakker CY, Linsley PS, Freeman GJ, Green JM, et al. CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation. IMMUNITY. 1994;1(5):405-413.

23. Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. NATURE REVIEWS IMMUNOLOGY. 2009;9(3):162-174.

24. Facciabene A, Motz GT, Coukos G. T-regulatory cells: key players in tumor immune escape and angiogenesis. CANCER RESEARCH. 2012;72(9):2162-2171.

25. Lisiecka U, Kostro K. Mechanisms of tumour escape from immune surveillance. JOURNAL OF VETERINARY RESEARCH. 2016;60(4):453-460.

26. Binnewies M, Roberts EW, Kersten K, Chan V, Fearon DF, Merad M, et al. Understanding the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) for effective therapy. NATURE MEDICINE. 2018;24(5):541-550.

27. Bazhin AV, Amedei A, Karakhanova S. Immune Checkpoint Molecules and Cancer Immunotherapy. FRONTIERS IN IMMUNOLOGY. 2018;9:2878.

28. Hargadon KM, Johnson CE, Williams CJ. Immune checkpoint blockade therapy for cancer: an overview of FDA-approved immune checkpoint inhibitors. INTERNATIONAL IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY. 2018;62:29-39.

29. Hodi FS, O'day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL OF MEDICINE. 2010;363(8):711-723.

30. Furue M, Ito T, Wada N, Wada M, Kadono T, Uchi H. Melanoma and immune checkpoint inhibitors. CURRENT ONCOLOGY REPORTS. 2018;20(3):29.

31. Lynch TJ, Bondarenko I, Luft A, Serwatowski P, Barlesi F, Chacko R, et al. Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line treatment in stage IIIB/IV non–small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase II study. JOURNAL OF CLINICAL ONCOLOGY. 2012;30(17):2046-2054.

32. Reck M, Bondarenko I, Luft A, Serwatowski P, Barlesi F, Chacko R, et al. Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line therapy in extensive-disease-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase 2 trial. ANNALS OF ONCOLOGY. 2013;24(1):75-83.

33. Yang JC, Hughes M, Kammula U, Royal R, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, et al. Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA4 antibody) causes regression of metastatic renal cell cancer associated with enteritis and hypophysitis. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOTHERAPY (HAGERSTOWN, MD.: 1997). 2007;30(8):825.

34. Kwon ED, Drake CG, Scher HI, Fizazi K, Bossi A, Van den Eertwegh AJ, et al. Ipilimumab versus placebo after radiotherapy in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel chemotherapy (CA184-043): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. THE LANCET ONCOLOGY. 2014;15(7):700-712.

35. Hirano F, Kaneko K, Tamura H, Dong H, Wang S, Ichikawa M, et al. Blockade of B7-H1 and PD-1 by monoclonal antibodies potentiates cancer therapeutic immunity. CANCER RESEARCH. 2005;65(3):1089-1096.

36. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti–PD-1 antibody in cancer. NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL OF MEDICINE. 2012;366(26):2443-2454.

37. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. NATURE REVIEWS CANCER. 2012;12(4):252.

38. Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu W-J, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti–PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL OF MEDICINE. 2012;366(26):2455-2465.

39. Mahoney KM, Freeman GJ, McDermott DF. The next immune-checkpoint inhibitors: PD-1/PD-L1 blockade in melanoma. CLINICAL THERAPEUTICS. 2015;37(4):764-782.

40. Raedler LA. Opdivo (nivolumab): second PD-1 inhibitor receives FDA approval for unresectable or metastatic melanoma. AMERICAN HEALTH & DRUG BENEFITS. 2015;8(Spec Feature):180.

41. Rizvi NA, Mazières J, Planchard D, Stinchcombe TE, Dy GK, Antonia SJ, et al. Activity and safety of nivolumab, an anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor, for patients with advanced, refractory squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 063): a phase 2, single-arm trial. THE LANCET ONCOLOGY. 2015;16(3):257-265.

42. Moskowitz CH, Zinzani PL, Fanale MA, Armand P, Johnson NA, Radford JA, et al. Pembrolizumab in relapsed/refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma: primary end point analysis of the phase 2 Keynote-087 study. American Society of Hematology Washington, DC; 2016.

43. Socinski MA, Jotte RM, Cappuzzo F, Orlandi F, Stroyakovskiy D, Nogami N, et al. Atezolizumab for first-line treatment of metastatic nonsquamous NSCLC. NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL OF MEDICINE. 2018;378(24):2288-2301.

44. Ding L, Chen F. Predicting tumor response to PD-1 blockade. NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL OF MEDICINE. 2019;381(5):477-479.

45. Southam CM, Brunschwig A, Levin AG, Dizon QS. Effect of leukocytes on transplantability of human cancer. CANCER. 1966;19(11):1743-1753.

46. Robertson J, Salm M, Dangl M. Adoptive cell therapy with tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes: the emerging importance of clonal neoantigen targets for next-generation products in non-small cell lung cancer. IMMUNO-ONCOLOGY TECHNOLOGY. 2019;3:1-7.

47. Rezvani K. Adoptive cell therapy using engineered natural killer cells. BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION. 2019;54(2):785-788.

48. Rosenberg SA, Yannelli JR, Yang JC, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, Weber JS, et al. Treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma with autologous tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and interleukin 2. JNCI: JOURNAL OF THE NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE. 1994;86(15):1159-1166.

49. Maher J, Brentjens RJ, Gunset G, Rivière I, Sadelain M. Human T-lymphocyte cytotoxicity and proliferation directed by a single chimeric TCRζ/CD28 receptor. NATURE BIOTECHNOLOGY. 2002;20(1):70-75.

50. Kuhn NF, Purdon TJ, van Leeuwen DG, Lopez AV, Curran KJ, Daniyan AF, et al. CD40 ligand-modified chimeric antigen receptor T cells enhance antitumor function by eliciting an endogenous antitumor response. CANCER CELL. 2019;35(3):473-488. e476.

51. McLemore MR. Gardasil: Introducing the new human papillomavirus vaccine. CLINICAL JOURNAL OF ONCOLOGY NURSING. 2006;10(5).

52. Guo C, Manjili MH, Subjeck JR, Sarkar D, Fisher PB, Wang X-Y. Therapeutic cancer vaccines: past, present, and future. Advances in cancer research. 119: Elsevier; 2013. p. 421-475.

53. Morales A, Eidinger D, Bruce A. Intracavitary Bacillus Calmette-Guerin in the treatment of superficial bladder tumors. THE JOURNAL OF UROLOGY. 1976;116(2):180-182.

54. Cheever MA, Higano CS. PROVENGE (Sipuleucel-T) in prostate cancer: the first FDAapproved therapeutic cancer vaccine. CLINICAL CANCER RESEARCH. 2011;17(11):3520-3526.

55. Curran MA, Allison JP. Tumor vaccines expressing flt3 ligand synergize with ctla-4 blockade to reject preimplanted tumors. CANCER RESEARCH. 2009;69(19):7747-7755.

56. Burugu S, Dancsok AR, Nielsen TO, editors. Emerging targets in cancer immunotherapy. Seminars in cancer biology; 2018: Elsevier.

57. He Y, Rivard CJ, Rozeboom L, Yu H, Ellison K, Kowalewski A, et al. Lymphocyteactivation gene-3, an important immune checkpoint in cancer. CANCER SCIENCE. 2016;107(9):1193-1197.

58. Brignone C, Gutierrez M, Mefti F, Brain E, Jarcau R, Cvitkovic F, et al. First-line chemoimmunotherapy in metastatic breast carcinoma: combination of paclitaxel and IMP321 (LAG-3Ig) enhances immune responses and antitumor activity. JOURNAL OF TRANSLATIONAL MEDICINE. 2010;8(1):1-11.

59. Zhu C, Anderson AC, Schubart A, Xiong H, Imitola J, Khoury SJ, et al. The Tim-3 ligand galectin-9 negatively regulates T helper type 1 immunity. NATURE IMMUNOLOGY. 2005;6(12):1245-1252.

60. Anderson AC, Joller N, Kuchroo VK. Lag-3, Tim-3, and TIGIT: co-inhibitory receptors with specialized functions in immune regulation. IMMUNITY. 2016;44(5):989-1004.

61. Koyama S, Akbay EA, Li YY, Herter-Sprie GS, Buczkowski KA, Richards WG, et al. Adaptive resistance to therapeutic PD-1 blockade is associated with upregulation of alternative immune checkpoints. NATURE COMMUNICATIONS. 2016;7(1):1-9.

62. Chauvin J-M, Pagliano O, Fourcade J, Sun Z, Wang H, Sander C, et al. TIGIT and PD-1 impair tumor antigen–specific CD8+ T cells in melanoma patients. THE JOURNAL OF CLINICAL INVESTIGATION. 2015;125(5):2046-2058.

63. Marin-Acevedo JA, Dholaria B, Soyano AE, Knutson KL, Chumsri S, Lou Y. Next generation of immune checkpoint therapy in cancer: new developments and challenges. JOURNAL OF HEMATOLOGY & ONCOLOGY. 2018;11(1):39.

64. Kim K, Skora AD, Li Z, Liu Q, Tam AJ, Blosser RL, et al. Eradication of metastatic mouse cancers resistant to immune checkpoint blockade by suppression of myeloid-derived cells. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 2014;111(32):11774-11779.

65. Srivastava MK, Sinha P, Clements VK, Rodriguez P, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloidderived suppressor cells inhibit T-cell activation by depleting cystine and cysteine. CANCER RESEARCH. 2010;70(1):68-77.

66. Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Fenselau C. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: immunesuppressive cells that impair antitumor immunity and are sculpted by their environment. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2018;200(2):422-431. 67. Wang Z, Till B, Gao Q. Chemotherapeutic agent-mediated elimination of myeloidderived suppressor cells. ONCOIMMUNOLOGY. 2017;6(7):e1331807.

68. Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. CLINICAL CANCER RESEARCH. 2005;11(18):6713-6721.

69. Alizadeh D, Trad M, Hanke NT, Larmonier CB, Janikashvili N, Bonnotte B, et al. Doxorubicin eliminates myeloid-derived suppressor cells and enhances the efficacy of adoptive T-cell transfer in breast cancer. CANCER RESEARCH. 2014;74(1):104-118.

70. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-Fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell–dependent antitumor immunity. CANCER RESEARCH. 2010;70(8):3052-3061.

71. Greene S, Robbins Y, Mydlarz WK, Huynh AP, Schmitt NC, Friedman J, et al. Inhibition of MDSC Trafficking with SX-682, a CXCR1/2 inhibitor, enhances NK-cell immunotherapy in head and neck cancer models. CLINICAL CANCER RESEARCH. 2020;26(6):1420-1431.

72. Wang H-F, Ning F, Liu Z-C, Wu L, Li Z-Q, Qi Y-F, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors deplete myeloid-derived suppressor cells induced by 4T1 mammary tumors in vivo and in vitro. CANCER IMMUNOLOGY, IMMUNOTHERAPY. 2017;66(3):355-366.

73. Hennecke J, Wiley DC. T cell receptor-MHC interactions up close. CELL. 2001;104(1):14.

74. Tian S, Maile R, Collins EJ, Frelinger JA. CD8+ T cell activation is governed by TCRpeptide/MHC affinity, not dissociation rate. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2007;179(5):2952-2960.

75. Boniface JJ, Davis MM. T-cell recognition of antigen. A process controlled by transient intermolecular interactions. ANNALS OF THE NEW YORK ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 1995;766:62-69.

76. Azzam HS, Grinberg A, Lui K, Shen H, Shores EW, Love PE. CD5 expression is developmentally regulated by T cell receptor (TCR) signals and TCR avidity. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE. 1998;188(12):2301-2311.

77. Boyse EA, Old LJ, Stockert E. An approach to the mapping of antigens on the cell surface. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. 1968;60(3):886.

78. Boumsell L. The International Workshops and Conferences on Human Leukocyte Differentiation Antigens: Birth, current status and future. TISSUE ANTIGENS. 1996;48(4):238-241.

79. Cantor H, Boyse EA. Functional subclasses of T-lymphocytes bearing different Ly antigens. I. The generation of functionally distinct T-cell subclasses is a differentiative process independent of antigen. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE. 1975;141(6):1376-1389.
80. Ledbetter JA, Rouse RV, Micklem HS, Herzenberg LA. T cell subsets defined by expression of Lyt-1, 2, 3 and Thy-1 antigens. Two-parameter immunofluorescence and cytotoxicity analysis with monoclonal antibodies modifies current views. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE. 1980;152(2):280-295.

81. Jones NH, Clabby ML, Dialynas DP, Huang H-JS, Herzenberg LA, Strominger JL. Isolation of complementary DNA clones encoding the human lymphocyte glycoprotein T1/Leu-1. NATURE. 1986;323(6086):346-349.

82. Huang H, Jones NH, Strominger JL, Herzenberg LA. Molecular cloning of Ly-1, a membrane glycoprotein of mouse T lymphocytes and a subset of B cells: molecular homology to

its human counterpart Leu-1/T1 (CD5). PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 1987;84(1):204-208.

83. Simarro M, Calvo J, Vilà JM, Places L, Padilla O, Alberola-Ila J, et al. Signaling Through CD5 Involves Acidic Sphingomyelinase, Protein Kinase C-ζ, Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Kinase, and c-Jun NH2-Terminal Kinase. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 1999;162(9):5149-5155.

84. Padilla O, Calvo J, Vilà JM, Arman M, Gimferrer I, Places L, et al. Genomic organization of the human CD5 gene. IMMUNOGENETICS. 2000;51(12):993-1001.

85. Martinez VG, Moestrup SK, Holmskov U, Mollenhauer J, Lozano F. The conserved scavenger receptor cysteine-rich superfamily in therapy and diagnosis. PHARMACOL REV. 2011;63(4):967-1000.

86. Gebe JA, Kiener PA, Ring HZ, Li X, Francke U, Aruffo A. Molecular cloning, mapping to human chromosome 1 q21-q23, and cell binding characteristics of Spalpha, a new member of the scavenger receptor cysteine-rich (SRCR) family of proteins. J BIOL CHEM. 1997;272(10):6151-6158.

87. Aruffo A, Bowen MA, Patel DD, Haynes BF, Starling GC, Gebe JA, et al. CD6-ligand interactions: a paradigm for SRCR domain function? IMMUNOL TODAY. 1997;18(10):498-504.
88. Martinez-Florensa M, Consuegra-Fernandez M, Martinez VG, Canadas O, Armiger-Borras N, Bonet-Rosello L, et al. Targeting of key pathogenic factors from gram-positive bacteria by the soluble ectodomain of the scavenger-like lymphocyte receptor CD6. J INFECT DIS. 2014;209(7):1077-1086.

89. Azzam HS, DeJarnette JB, Huang K, Emmons R, Park C-S, Sommers CL, et al. Fine tuning of TCR signaling by CD5. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2001;166(9):5464-5472.
90. Bondada S, Bikah G, Robertson D, Sen G. Role of CD5 in growth regulation of B-1 cells. CURRENT TOPICS IN MICROBIOLOGY AND IMMUNOLOGY. 2000;252:141-149.

91. Gupta R, Jain P, Deo S, Sharma A. Flow cytometric analysis of CD5+ B cells: a frame of reference for minimal residual disease analysis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. AMERICAN JOURNAL OF CLINICAL PATHOLOGY. 2004;121(3):368-372.

92. Mizoguchi A, Mizoguchi E, Jong YPd, Takedatsu H, Preffer FI, Terhorst C, et al. Role of the CD5 molecule on TCR  $\gamma\delta$  T cell-mediated immune functions: Development of germinal centers and chronic intestinal inflammation. INTERNATIONAL IMMUNOLOGY. 2003;15(1):97-108.

93. Takahashi K, Miyakawa K, Wynn AA, Nakayama K, Myint YY, Naito M, et al. Effects of granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor on the development and differentiation of CD5-positive macrophages and their potential derivation from a CD5-positive B-cell lineage in mice. THE AMERICAN JOURNAL OF PATHOLOGY. 1998;152(2):445.

94. Xu H, Li H, He D, Xu S, Raman C. CD5 inhibits the activity of dendritic cells to activate T cells and induce immune responses (IRM7P. 703). Am Assoc Immnol; 2015.

95. Ordoñez-Rueda D, Lozano F, Sarukhan A, Raman C, Garcia-Zepeda EA, Soldevila G. Increased numbers of thymic and peripheral CD4+ CD25+ Foxp3+ cells in the absence of CD5 signaling. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2009;39(8):2233-2247.

96. Jeong Y-I, Hong S-H, Cho S-H, Lee W-J, Lee S-E. Induction of IL-10-producing CD1dhighCD5+ regulatory B cells following Babesia microti-infection. PLOS ONE. 2012;7(10).
97. Stamou P, de Jersey J, Carmignac D, Mamalaki C, Kioussis D, Stockinger B. Chronic exposure to low levels of antigen in the periphery causes reversible functional impairment correlating with changes in CD5 levels in monoclonal CD8 T cells. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2003;171(3):1278-1284. 98. Hippen KL, Tze LE, Behrens TW. CD5 maintains tolerance in anergic B cells. JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE. 2000;191(5):883-890.

99. Brown MH, Lacey E. A ligand for CD5 is CD5. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2010:0903823.

100. de Velde Van H, Luo W, Parnes J, Thielemans K. The B-cell surface protein CD72/Lyb-2 is the ligand for CD5. NATURE. 1991;351(6328):662-665.

101. Mukhopadhyay S, Gordon S. The role of scavenger receptors in pathogen recognition and innate immunity. IMMUNOBIOLOGY. 2004;209(1-2):39-49.

102. Vera J, Fenutría R, Cañadas O, Figueras M, Mota R, Sarrias M-R, et al. The CD5 ectodomain interacts with conserved fungal cell wall components and protects from zymosaninduced septic shock-like syndrome. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 2009:pnas. 0805846106.

103. Mantovani MS, Bellini MF, Angeli JPF, Oliveira RJ, Silva AF, Ribeiro LR. β-Glucans in promoting health: Prevention against mutation and cancer. MUTATION RESEARCH/REVIEWS IN MUTATION RESEARCH. 2008;658(3):154-161.

104. Vetvicka V, Vetvickova J.  $\beta$  1, 3-glucan in cancer treatment. AMERICAN JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2012;8(2):38-43.

105. Voisinne G, Gonzalez de Peredo A, Roncagalli R. CD5, an undercover regulator of TCR signaling. FRONTIERS IN IMMUNOLOGY. 2018;9:2900.

106. Lukes RJ, Collins RD. Immunologic characterization of human malignant lymphomas. CANCER. 1974;34(S8):1488-1503.

107. Taylor CR. Immunocytochemical methods in the study of lymphoma and related conditions. JOURNAL OF HISTOCHEMISTRY & CYTOCHEMISTRY. 1978;26(7):496-512.

108. Pan Z, Chen M, Zhang Q, Wang E, Yin L, Xu Y, et al. CD3-positive plasmablastic B-cell neoplasms: a diagnostic pitfall. MODERN PATHOLOGY. 2018;31(5):718-731.

109. Renaudineau Y, Bariller E, Olivier Pers J. B1-and CD5-positive B cells. ELS. 2001.

110. Pui C-H, Behm FG, Crist WM. Clinical and biologic relevance of immunologic marker studies in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. BLOOD. 1993;82(2):343-362.

111. Sundeen JT, Longo DL, Jaffe ES. CD5 expression in B-cell small lymphocytic malignancies. Correlations with clinical presentation and sites of disease. THE AMERICAN JOURNAL OF SURGICAL PATHOLOGY. 1992;16(2):130-137.

112. Paiva A, Alves GV, Silveira LS, Gil EA, Soares RD, Silva DG, et al. Expression of the

CD5 Molecule in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. BLOOD. 2017;130(Supplement 1):5322-5322. 113. Skarbnik AP, Goy AH. Mantle cell lymphoma: state of the art. CLIN ADV HEMATOL ONCOL. 2015;13(1):44-55.

114. Yamaguchi M, Seto M, Okamoto M, Ichinohasama R, Nakamura N, Yoshino T, et al. De novo CD5+ diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: a clinicopathologic study of 109 patients. BLOOD, THE JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF HEMATOLOGY. 2002;99(3):815-821.

115. Tibaldi E, Brunati A, Zonta F, Frezzato F, Gattazzo C, Zambello R, et al. Lyn-mediated SHP-1 recruitment to CD5 contributes to resistance to apoptosis of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. LEUKEMIA. 2011;25(11):1768-1781.

116. Bashford-Rogers RJ, Palser AL, Hodkinson C, Baxter J, Follows GA, Vassiliou GS, et al. Dynamic variation of CD5 surface expression levels within individual chronic lymphocytic leukemia clones. EXPERIMENTAL HEMATOLOGY. 2017;46:31-37. e10.

117. Friedman DR, Guadalupe E, Volkheimer A, Moore JO, Weinberg JB. Clinical outcomes in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia associated with expression of CD5, a negative regulator of B-cell receptor signalling. BRITISH JOURNAL OF HAEMATOLOGY. 2018;183(5):747-754.

118. Ochi H, Watanabe T. Negative regulation of B cell receptor-mediated signaling in B-1 cells through CD5 and Ly49 co-receptors via Lyn kinase activity. INTERNATIONAL IMMUNOLOGY. 2000;12(10):1417-1423.

119. Friedman DR, Guadeloupe E, Volkheimer A, Weinberg JB. Surface CD5 Protein Risk Stratifies Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. American Society of Hematology Washington, DC; 2016.

Huang H, Li Z, Huang C, Rao J, Xie Q, Cui W, et al. CD5 and CD43 expression are associate with poor prognosis in DLBCL patients. OPEN MEDICINE. 2018;13(1):605-609.
Norris D, Stone J. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. GENEVA: WHO. 2008:22-23.

122. Hans CP, Weisenburger DD, Greiner TC, Gascoyne RD, Delabie J, Ott G, et al. Confirmation of the molecular classification of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma by immunohistochemistry using a tissue microarray. BLOOD. 2004;103(1):275-282.

123. Chuang W-Y, Chang H, Shih L-Y, Wang P-N, Chang Y-S, Lin T-L, et al. CD5 positivity is an independent adverse prognostic factor in elderly patients with diffuse large B cell lymphoma. VIRCHOWS ARCHIV. 2015;467(5):571-582.

124. Pileri SA, Falini B. Mantle cell lymphoma. Haematologica; 2009.

125. Todorovic M, Balint B, Andjelic B, Stanisavljevic D, Kurtovic NK, Radisavljevic Z, et al. Outcome prediction of advanced mantle cell lymphoma by international prognostic index versus different mantle cell lymphoma indexes: one institution study. MEDICAL ONCOLOGY. 2012;29(3):2212-2219.

126. Dillman RO, Shawler DL, Johnson DE, Meyer DL, Koziol JA, Frincke JM. Preclinical trials with combinations and conjugates of T101 monoclonal antibody and doxorubicin. CANCER RESEARCH. 1986;46(10):4886-4891.

127. Buchsbaum DJ, Nelson LA, Hanna DE, Vallera DA. Human leukemia cell binding and killing by anti-CD5 radioimmunotoxins. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF RADIATION ONCOLOGY• BIOLOGY• PHYSICS. 1987;13(11):1701-1712.

128. Olsnes S, Pihl A. Different biological properties of the two constituent peptide chains of ricin a toxic protein inhibiting protein synthesis. BIOCHEMISTRY. 1973;12(16):3121-3126.

129. Mamonkin M, Rouce RH, Tashiro H, Brenner MK. AT cell-directed chimeric antigen receptor for the selective treatment of T cell malignancies. BLOOD. 2015:blood-2015-2002-629527.

130. Chen KH, Wada M, Pinz KG, Liu H, Lin K-W, Jares A, et al. Preclinical targeting of aggressive T-cell malignancies using anti-CD5 chimeric antigen receptor. LEUKEMIA. 2017;31(10):2151.

131. Kochenderfer JN, Rosenberg SA. Treating B-cell cancer with T cells expressing anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptors. NATURE REVIEWS CLINICAL ONCOLOGY. 2013;10(5):267.

132. Raikar SS, Fleischer LC, Moot R, Fedanov A, Paik NY, Knight KA, et al. Development of chimeric antigen receptors targeting T-cell malignancies using two structurally different anti-CD5 antigen binding domains in NK and CRISPR-edited T cell lines. ONCOIMMUNOLOGY. 2018;7(3):e1407898.

133. Hollander N. Immunotherapy of lymphoid and nonlymphoid tumors with monoclonal anti-Lyt-1 antibodies. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 1984;133(5):2801-2805.

134. Tabbekh M, Franciszkiewicz K, Haouas H, Lécluse Y, Benihoud K, Raman C, et al. Rescue of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes from activation-induced cell death enhances the antitumor CTL response in CD5-deficient mice. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2011;187(1):102-109.

135. Fenutría R, Martinez VG, Simões I, Postigo J, Gil V, Martínez-Florensa M, et al. Transgenic expression of soluble human CD5 enhances experimentally-induced autoimmune and anti-tumoral immune responses. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(1):e84895.

136. Dorothée G, Vergnon I, El Hage F, Chansac BLM, Ferrand V, Lécluse Y, et al. In situ sensory adaptation of tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes to peptide-MHC levels elicits strong antitumor reactivity. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2005;174(11):6888-6897.

137. Friedlein G, El Hage F, Vergnon I, Richon C, Saulnier P, Lécluse Y, et al. Human CD5 protects circulating tumor antigen-specific CTL from tumor-mediated activation-induced cell death. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2007;178(11):6821-6827.

138. Davies AA, Ley SC, Crumpton MJ. CD5 is phosphorylated on tyrosine after stimulation of the T-cell antigen receptor complex. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 1992;89(14):6368-6372.

139. Burgess KE, Yamamoto M, Prasad K, Rudd CE. CD5 acts as a tyrosine kinase substrate within a receptor complex comprising T-cell receptor zeta chain/CD3 and protein-tyrosine kinases p56lck and p59fyn. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 1992;89(19):9311-9315.

140. June C, Rabinovitch P, Ledbetter J. CD5 antibodies increase intracellular ionized calcium concentration in T cells. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 1987;138(9):2782-2792.

141. Tabbekh M, Mokrani-Hammani MB, Bismuth G, Mami-Chouaib F. T-cell modulatory properties of CD5 and its role in antitumor immune responses. ONCOIMMUNOLOGY. 2013;2(1):e22841.

142. Perez-Villar JJ, Whitney GS, Bowen MA, Hewgill DH, Aruffo AA, Kanner SB. CD5 negatively regulates the T-cell antigen receptor signal transduction pathway: involvement of SH2-containing phosphotyrosine phosphatase SHP-1. MOLECULAR AND CELLULAR BIOLOGY. 1999;19(4):2903-2912.

143. Samelson LE. Signal transduction mediated by the T cell antigen receptor: the role of adapter proteins. ANNU REV IMMUNOL. 2002;20:371-394.

144. Colovai AI, Giatzikis C, Ho EK, Farooqi M, Suciu-Foca N, Cattoretti G, et al. Flow cytometric analysis of normal and reactive spleen. MODERN PATHOLOGY. 2004;17(8):918-927.

145. Wong S, Sewell H. CD5 positive B cells in peripheral blood and lymph nodes in rheumatoid arthritis. JOURNAL OF CLINICAL PATHOLOGY. 1991;44(1):85.

146. Dono M, Cerruti G, Zupo S. The CD5+ B-cell. THE INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF BIOCHEMISTRY & CELL BIOLOGY. 2004;36(11):2105-2111.

147. Bikah G, Carey J, Ciallella JR, Tarakhovsky A, Bondada S. CD5-mediated negative regulation of antigen receptor-induced growth signals in B-1 B cells. SCIENCE. 1996;274(5294):1906-1909.

148. Zhang C, Xin H, Zhang W, Yazaki PJ, Zhang Z, Le K, et al. CD5 binds to interleukin-6 and induces a feed-forward loop with the transcription factor STAT3 in B cells to promote cancer. IMMUNITY. 2016;44(4):913-923.

149. Masuda K, Kishimoto T. CD5: A new partner for IL-6. IMMUNITY. 2016;44(4):720-722.

150. Garaud S, Taher TE, Debant M, Burgos M, Melayah S, Berthou C, et al. CD5 expression promotes IL-10 production through activation of the MAPK/Erk pathway and upregulation of

TRPC1 channels in B lymphocytes. CELLULAR & MOLECULAR IMMUNOLOGY. 2018;15(2):158-170.

151. Gary-Gouy H, Harriague J, Bismuth G, Platzer C, Schmitt C, Dalloul AH. Human CD5 promotes B-cell survival through stimulation of autocrine IL-10 production. BLOOD, THE JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF HEMATOLOGY. 2002;100(13):4537-4543.

152. Gary-Gouy H, Sainz-Perez A, Marteau J-B, Marfaing-Koka A, Delic J, Merle-Beral H, et al. Natural phosphorylation of CD5 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells and analysis of CD5-regulated genes in a B cell line suggest a role for CD5 in malignant phenotype. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2007;179(7):4335-4344.

153. Perez-Chacon G, Vargas JA, Jorda J, Morado M, Rosado S, Martin-Donaire T, et al. CD5 provides viability signals to B cells from a subset of B-CLL patients by a mechanism that involves PKC. LEUKEMIA RESEARCH. 2007;31(2):183-193.

154. Pers JO, Jamin C, Corre RL, Lydyard PM, Youinou P. Ligation of CD5 on resting B cells, but not on resting T cells, results in apoptosis. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 1998;28(12):4170-4176.

155. Cioca D, Kitano K. Apoptosis induction by hypercross-linking of the surface antigen CD5 with anti-CD5 monoclonal antibodies in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. LEUKEMIA. 2002;16(3):335-343.

156. Pers J-O, Berthou C, Porakishvili N, Burdjanadze M, Le Calvez G, Abgrall J, et al. CD5induced apoptosis of B cells in some patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. LEUKEMIA. 2002;16(1):44-52.

157. Klitgaard JL, Koefoed K, Geisler C, Gadeberg OV, Frank DA, Petersen J, et al. Combination of two anti-CD 5 monoclonal antibodies synergistically induces complementdependent cytotoxicity of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells. BRITISH JOURNAL OF HAEMATOLOGY. 2013;163(2):182-193.

158. Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. NATURE. 1998;392(6673):245-252.

159. Wood GS, Freudenthal P. CD5 monoclonal antibodies react with human peripheral blood dendritic cells. THE AMERICAN JOURNAL OF PATHOLOGY. 1992;141(4):789.

160. Yin X, Yu H, Jin X, Li J, Guo H, Shi Q, et al. Human blood CD1c+ dendritic cells encompass CD5high and CD5low subsets that differ significantly in phenotype, gene expression, and functions. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2017;198(4):1553-1564.

161. Korenfeld D, Gorvel L, Munk A, Man J, Schaffer A, Tung T, et al. A type of human skin dendritic cell marked by CD5 is associated with the development of inflammatory skin disease. JCI INSIGHT. 2017;2(18).

162. Zhang H, Gregorio JD, Iwahori T, Zhang X, Choi O, Tolentino LL, et al. A distinct subset of plasmacytoid dendritic cells induces activation and differentiation of B and T lymphocytes. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 2017;114(8):1988-1993.

163. Li H, Burgueno-Bucio E, Xu S, Das S, Olguin-Alor R, Elmets CA, et al. CD5 on dendritic cells regulates CD4+ and CD8+ T cell activation and induction of immune responses. PLOS ONE. 2019;14(9).

164. Dillman RO, Shawler DL, Dillman JB, Royston I. Therapy of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and cutaneous T-cell lymphoma with T101 monoclonal antibody. JOURNAL OF CLINICAL ONCOLOGY. 1984;2(8):881-891.

165. Bertram JH, Gill PS, Levine AM, Boquiren D, Hoffman FM, Meyer P, et al. Monoclonal antibody T101 in T cell malignancies: a clinical, pharmacokinetic, and immunologic correlation. BLOOD. 1986;68(3):752-761.

166. Foss FM, Raubitscheck A, Mulshine JL, Fleisher TA, Reynolds JC, Paik CH, et al. Phase I study of the pharmacokinetics of a radioimmunoconjugate, 90Y-T101, in patients with CD5-expressing leukemia and lymphoma. CLINICAL CANCER RESEARCH. 1998;4(11):2691-2700.

167. LeMaistre C, Rosen S, Frankel A, Kornfeld S, Saria E, Meneghetti C, et al. Phase I trial of H65-RTA immunoconjugate in patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. BLOOD. 1991;78(5):1173-1182.

168. Hill L, Rouce RH, Smith TS, Yang L, Srinivasan M, Zhang H, et al. CD5 CAR T-Cells for Treatment of Patients with Relapsed/Refractory CD5 Expressing T-Cell Lymphoma Demonstrates Safety and Anti-Tumor Activity. BIOLOGY OF BLOOD AND MARROW TRANSPLANTATION. 2020;26(3):S237.

169. Potrony M, Carreras E, Aranda F, Zimmer L, Puig-Butille JA, Tell-Martí G, et al. Inherited functional variants of the lymphocyte receptor CD5 influence melanoma survival. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF CANCER. 2016;139(6):1297-1302.

170. Delgado J, Bielig T, Bonet L, Carnero-Montoro E, Puente XS, Colomer D, et al. Impact of the functional CD5 polymorphism A471V on the response of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia to conventional chemotherapy regimens. BRITISH JOURNAL OF HAEMATOLOGY. 2017;177(1):147-150.

171. Bankert RB, Egilmez NK, Hess SD. Human–SCID mouse chimeric models for the evaluation of anti-cancer therapies. TRENDS IN IMMUNOLOGY. 2001;22(7):386-393.

172. Dexter DL, Kowalski HM, Blazar BA, Fligiel Z, Vogel R, Heppner GH. Heterogeneity of tumor cells from a single mouse mammary tumor. CANCER RESEARCH. 1978;38(10):3174-3181.
173. Heppner GH, Miller FR, Shekhar PM. Nontransgenic models of breast cancer. BREAST CANCER RESEARCH. 2000;2(5):331.

174. Pulaski BA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Mouse 4T1 breast tumor model. CURRENT PROTOCOLS IN IMMUNOLOGY. 2000;39(1):20.22. 21-20.22. 16.

175. Cossarizza A, Chang HD, Radbruch A, Acs A, Adam D, Adam-Klages S, et al. Guidelines for the use of flow cytometry and cell sorting in immunological studies. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2019;49(10):1457-1973.

176. Freeman BE, Hammarlund E, Raué H-P, Slifka MK. Regulation of innate CD8+ T-cell activation mediated by cytokines. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 2012;109(25):9971-9976.

177. Alotaibi F, Rytelewski M, Figueredo R, Zareardalan R, Zhang M, Ferguson PJ, et al. CD5 blockade enhances ex vivo CD8+ T cell activation and tumour cell cytotoxicity. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2020;50(5):695-704.

178. Cibrián D, Sánchez-Madrid F. CD69: from activation marker to metabolic gatekeeper. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2017;47(6):946-953.

179. Davidson TB, Lee A, Hsu M, Sedighim S, Orpilla J, Treger J, et al. Expression of PD-1 by T cells in malignant glioma patients reflects exhaustion and activation. CLINICAL CANCER RESEARCH. 2019;25(6):1913-1922.

180. Delgado P, Fernández E, Dave V, Kappes D, Alarcón B. CD3δ couples T-cell receptor signalling to ERK activation and thymocyte positive selection. NATURE. 2000;406(6794):426.
181. D'Souza WN, Chang C-F, Fischer AM, Li M, Hedrick SM. The Erk2 MAPK regulates CD8 T cell proliferation and survival. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2008;181(11):7617-7629.

182. Mier-Aguilar CA, Cashman KS, Raman C, Soldevila G. CD5-CK2 signaling modulates Erk activation and thymocyte survival. PLOS ONE. 2016;11(12):e0168155.

183. Sestero CM, McGuire DJ, De Sarno P, Brantley EC, Soldevila G, Axtell RC, et al. CD5dependent CK2 activation pathway regulates threshold for T cell anergy. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2012:1200065.

184. Varadhachary AS, Perdow SN, Hu C, Ramanarayanan M, Salgame P. Differential ability of T cell subsets to undergo activation-induced cell death. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 1997;94(11):5778-5783.

185. Ju S-T, Panka DJ, Cui H, Ettinger R, Maan E-K, Sherr DH, et al. Fas (CD95)/FasL interactions required for programmed cell death after T-cell activation. NATURE. 1995;373(6513):444.

186. Yang X, Ren H, Sun Y, Shao Y, Zhang L, Li H, et al. Prognostic significance of CD4/CD8 ratio in patients with breast cancer. INT J CLIN EXP PATHOL. 2017;10(4):4787-4793.
187. Del Rio ML, Buhler L, Gibbons C, Tian J, Rodriguez-Barbosa JI. PD-1/PD-L1, PD-1/PD-L2, and other co-inhibitory signaling pathways in transplantation. TRANSPLANT INTERNATIONAL. 2008;21(11):1015-1028.

188. Betts MR, Koup RA. Detection of T-cell degranulation: CD107a and b. Methods in cell biology. 75: Elsevier; 2004. p. 497-512.

189. Wolfl M, Kuball J, Ho WY, Nguyen H, Manley TJ, Bleakley M, et al. Activationinduced expression of CD137 permits detection, isolation, and expansion of the full repertoire of CD8+ T cells responding to antigen without requiring knowledge of epitope specificities.

BLOOD, THE JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF HEMATOLOGY. 2007;110(1):201-210.

190. Le HK, Graham L, Cha E, Morales JK, Manjili MH, Bear HD. Gemcitabine directly inhibits myeloid derived suppressor cells in BALB/c mice bearing 4T1 mammary carcinoma and augments expansion of T cells from tumor-bearing mice. INTERNATIONAL IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY. 2009;9(7-8):900-909.

191. Paiva A, Alves GV, Silveira LS, Gil EA, Soares RD, Silva DG, et al. Expression of the CD5 Molecule in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Am Soc Hematology; 2017.

192. Kernan N, Knowles R, Burns M, Broxmeyer H, Lu L, Lee H, et al. Specific inhibition of in vitro lymphocyte transformation by an anti-pan T cell (gp67) ricin A chain immunotoxin. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 1984;133(1):137-146.

193. Rouce RH. CD5.CAR / 28 T Cells, Cyclophosphamide, and Fludarabine in Treating Participants with Recurrent T-Cell Malignancies Expressing the CD5 Antigen. First posted March 16, 2017 and ongoing.

194. Werner-Favre C, Vischer TL, Wohlwend D, Zubler RH. Cell surface antigen CD5 is a marker for activated human B cells. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 1989;19(7):1209-1213.

195. Cantor GH, Pritchard SM, Dequiedt F, Willems L, Kettmann R, Davis WC. CD5 is dissociated from the B-cell receptor in B cells from bovine leukemia virus-infected, persistently lymphocytotic cattle: consequences to B-cell receptor-mediated apoptosis. JOURNAL OF VIROLOGY. 2001;75(4):1689-1696.

196. Yi JS, Cox MA, Zajac AJ. T-cell exhaustion: characteristics, causes and conversion. IMMUNOLOGY. 2010;129(4):474-481.

197. Ma J, Zheng B, Goswami S, Meng L, Zhang D, Cao C, et al. PD1 Hi CD8+ T cells correlate with exhausted signature and poor clinical outcome in hepatocellular carcinoma. JOURNAL FOR IMMUNOTHERAPY OF CANCER. 2019;7(1):1-15.

198. Quigley M, Pereyra F, Nilsson B, Porichis F, Fonseca C, Eichbaum Q, et al. Transcriptional analysis of HIV-specific CD8+ T cells shows that PD-1 inhibits T cell function by upregulating BATF. NATURE MEDICINE. 2010;16(10):1147-1151.

199. Mumberg D, Monach PA, Wanderling S, Philip M, Toledano AY, Schreiber RD, et al. CD4+ T cells eliminate MHC class II-negative cancer cells in vivo by indirect effects of IFN-γ. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES. 1999;96(15):8633-8638.

200. Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu W-J, Kefford R, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti–PD-1) in melanoma. NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL OF MEDICINE. 2013;369(2):134-144.

201. Simms PE, Ellis TM. Utility of flow cytometric detection of CD69 expression as a rapid method for determining poly-and oligoclonal lymphocyte activation. CLIN. DIAGN. LAB. IMMUNOL. 1996;3(3):301-304.

202. Ghanekar SA, Nomura LE, Suni MA, Picker LJ, Maecker HT, Maino VC. Gamma interferon expression in CD8+ T cells is a marker for circulating cytotoxic T lymphocytes that recognize an HLA A2-restricted epitope of human cytomegalovirus phosphoprotein pp65. CLIN. DIAGN. LAB. IMMUNOL. 2001;8(3):628-631.

203. Bunt SK, Sinha P, Clements VK, Leips J, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Inflammation induces myeloid-derived suppressor cells that facilitate tumor progression. THE JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY. 2006;176(1):284-290.

204. Alderson MR, Tough TW, Davis-Smith T, Braddy S, Falk B, Schooley KA, et al. Fas ligand mediates activation-induced cell death in human T lymphocytes. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE. 1995;181(1):71-77.

205. Henderson JG, Opejin A, Jones A, Gross C, Hawiger D. CD5 instructs extrathymic regulatory T cell development in response to self and tolerizing antigens. IMMUNITY. 2015;42(3):471-483.

206. Moreau M-F, Thibaud J-L, Miled LB, Chaussepied M, Baumgartner M, Davis WC, et al. Theileria annulata in CD5+ macrophages and B1 B cells. INFECTION AND IMMUNITY. 1999;67(12):6678-6682.

## **Curriculum Vitae**

## Name: Faizah Alotaibi

### Post-secondary Education and Degrees:

• The University of Western Ontario

London, Ontario, Canada

2016-2020 PhD (Dr. James Koropatnick and Dr. Wei-Ping Min, thesis supervisors)

• Queen's university

Kingston, Ontario, Canada 2013-2015 MSc (Dr. Peter Greer, thesis supervisor)

Taibah University
 Madinah, Saudi Arabia
 2007-2011 B.Sc. with honors.

## Honors and Awards:

- Graduate Student Innovation Scholars (GSIS).
   2020 cohort I have been selected with other 11 candidates from 90 applicants
- Nominated by the Chair of the Graduate Studies Committee for the Drs. Madge and Charles Macklin Fellowship award for Teaching & Research in Medical Sciences I 2020
- UWO Department of Microbiology and Immunology travel award 2019 | Departmental level award based on academic merit
- King Abdullah Doctoral Scholarship
   2017- 2020 | From the High Ministry of Education in Saudi Arabia to support my PhD training

- CIHR Training Program in Cancer Research and Technology Transfer (CaRTT, a CIHR Strategic Training Initiative in Health Research [STIHR] program) Scholarship.
   2017 – 2018
- Western Graduate Research Scholarship (WGRS), 2016 – 2017 | Western Ontario University
- High Academic Achievement Award
   2020 | From Saudi Cultural Bureau in Canada for publishing a first author paper.
- King Abdullah scholarship for MSc training 2012- 2015
- High Academic Achievement Award
   2012 | From Saudi Cultural Bureau in Canada for achieving high academic record
- Undergraduate research project award
   2011 | From Taibah University for achieving 98% in the final year research project
- High Academic Achievement in undergraduate
   2010 | Award from Taibah University for achieving high GPA score during the last two years.
- Red Crescent Award for Volunteers
   2010 | Red Crescent

## Peer-reviewed published papers

- <u>Alotaibi F, Min WP and Koropatnick J. Reduced CD5 on CD8+ T cells in</u> tumors but not lymphoid organs is associated with increased activation and effector function. Journal Frontiers in Immunology. Impact factor (3 Yrs Avg) 5.65. Accepted 8th of December 2020.
- Zhang M, Shi Y, Zhang Y, Wang Y, <u>Alotaibi F</u>, Qiu L, Wang H, Peng S, Liu Y, Li Q, Gao D, Wang Z, Yuan K, Dou FF, Koropatnick J, Xiong J, Min W. miRNA-5119 regulates immune checkpoints in dendritic cells to

enhance breast cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2020 Jun;69(6):951-967. doi: 10.1007/s00262-020-02507-w. Epub 2020 Feb 20. PMID: 32076794.Impact factor 4.9 (2018/2019)

- <u>Alotaibi F</u>, Rytelewski M, Figueredo R, Zareardalan R, Zhang M, Ferguson PJ, Maleki Vareki S, Najajreh Y, El-Hajjar M, Zheng X, Min WP, Koropatnick J. CD5 blockade enhances *ex vivo* CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and tumour cell cytotoxicity. Eur J Immunol. 2020 May;50(5):695-704. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948309. Epub 2020 Feb 25. PMID: 31943150.Impact factor 4.7 (2018/2019)
- Zhu C, Su Y, Juriasingani S, Zheng H, Veramkovich V, Jiang J, Sener A, Whiteman M, Lacefield J, Nagpal D, <u>Alotaibi F</u>, Liu K, Zheng X. Supplementing preservation solution with mitochondria-targeted H2 S donor AP39 protects cardiac grafts from prolonged cold ischemiareperfusion injury in heart transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2019 Nov;19(11):3139-3148. doi: 10.1111/ajt.15539. Epub 2019 Sep 3. PMID: 31338943. Impact factor 7.1 (2018)
- Zhang M, Gao D, Shi Y, Wang Y, Joshi R, Yu Q, Liu D, <u>Alotaibi F</u>, Zhang Y, Wang H, Li Q, Zhang ZX, Koropatnick J, Min W. miR-149-3p reverses CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell exhaustion by reducing inhibitory receptors and promoting cytokine secretion in breast cancer cells. Open Biol. 2019 Oct 31;9(10):190061. doi: 10.1098/rsob.190061. Epub 2019 Oct 9. PMID: 31594465; PMCID: PMC6833224.Impact factor 3.9 (2018)
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. An immune modulatory role for the fes proto-oncogene. MSc Dissertation. 2015.

#### Book chapter:

 <u>Alotaibi F</u>. Book title: Exosomes in biological communication system. Chapter 16: Exosomal microRNAs: Potential Biomarkers for Cancer Diagnosis, Treatment Response, and Prognosis. Springer Nature. Doi: 10.1007/978-981-15-6599-1. 2020.

#### Papers in Preparation

- <u>Alotaibi, F</u> and Koropatnick, J. CD5 as a targetable antigen in solid and non-solid tumours. Review article in preparation
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>, Min, WP and Koropatnick, J. Administration of anti-CD5 MAb in vivo enhances CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and function in poorly immunogenic 4T1 breast tumour model. Article in preparation
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u> and Koropatnick, J. Destabilizing the genome: a therapeutic strategy to enhance immune checkpoint blockade. Review article in preparation

#### Accepted abstracts and posters at international and local conferences

- <u>Alotaibi, F.</u> Figueredo, R. Zareardalan, R. Ferguson, P. Zheng, X. Min, WP. And Koropatnick, J. (2020). Abstract: Enhancing efficacy of PD-1 blockade in 4T1 breast tumour model. The American Association for Cancer Research annual meeting. San Diego, CA, USA which turned to virtual meeting due to COVID-19.
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Figueredo, R. Zareardalan, R. Min, WP. And Koropatnick, J. (2020). Abstract: Enhancing T cell tumour immunity. Immune-oncology symposia. London, Ontario, Canada
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Figueredo, R. Zareardalan, R. Min, WP. And Koropatnick, J. (2019). Abstract: Downregulation of CD5 enhances immune T cell activation *ex vivo*. Infection and immunity research day. London, Ontario, Canada
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Figueredo, R. Zareardalan, R. Zheng, X. Min, WP. And Koropatnick, J. (2019). Abstract: CD5 blockade as a novel immune-therapy. London health research day, London, Ontario, Canada.
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Min, WP. And Koropatnick, J. (2019). Abstract: CD5 blockade enhances CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and tumour cell cytotoxicity. the American Association for Cancer Research for Tumour Immunology and Immunotherapy, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- Wang, Y. <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Zhang, M. Joshi, R..& Min, W. (2019). Abstract: microRNA-5119 engineered DC Vaccine for breast cancer

immunotherapy. Oncology Research and Education Day, London, Ontario, Canada.

- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Figueredo, R. Zareardalan, R. Min, WP. And Koropatnick, J. (2018). Abstract: Downregulation of CD5 and FasR on CD8<sup>+</sup> immune T cells to supress tumour growth. Infection and immunity research day. London, Ontario, Canada
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Min, WP. And Koropatnick, J. (2018). Abstract: Targeting CD5 receptor on CD8<sup>+</sup> immune T cells to improve anti-tumour immunity. The Canadian Society for Immunology, London, Ontario, Canada.
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Min, WP. And Koropatnick, J. (2018). Abstract: Targeting CD5 on CD8<sup>+</sup> immune T cells to improve anti-tumour immunity. Keystone Symposia sponsored meeting entitled "Regulation and Dysregulation of Innate Immunity in Disease (B9). Vancouver, British Columbia.
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Figueredo, R. Zareardalan, R. Min, WP. And Koropatnick, J. (2017). Abstract: Combine siRNA targeting of CD5 and FasR on CD8<sup>+</sup> immune T cells to improve anti-tumour immunity. Infection and immunity research day. London, Ontario, Canada
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Ferguson, P. And Koropatnick, J. (2016). Abstract: Combined targeting of IDO and BRCA2 for anticancer therapy. London health research day, London, Ontario, Canada.
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. Basta, S., & Greer, P. A. (2015). Abstract: The role for the fes oncogene in immunity. Health Science Research Trainee Day, Kingston, Ontario, Canada
- <u>Alotaibi, F</u>. M., Zhang, C., Basta, S., & Greer, P. A. (2015). Abstract B05: An immune modulatory role for the Fes protein tyrosine kinase. the American Association for Cancer Research for the Tumour Angiogenesis and Vascular Normalization conference, Orlando, Florida, USA.

#### Invited talks, lectures, and delivered papers

- Invited oral presentation. Title: Novel strategy to improve cancer immune checkpoint inhibitors efficacy. Presented at Lawson's Talk on Mondays (TOMs). Feb 10<sup>th</sup>, 2020. London, Ontario, Canada
- Invited lecture. Title: Pathogenic bacteria part of Microbiology and Immunology 3820A course for nursing students. The course size was 400 students. Nov 15<sup>th</sup>, 2019. London, Ontario, Canada
- Invited poster presentation. Title: Targeting CD5 and FasR to improve tumour immunity. Presented at Western University Health and Research Conference (WUHRC). March 22<sup>nd</sup>, 2019.
- Invited review paper. Title: Destabilizing the genome: a therapeutic strategy for treatment of cancer. In preparation for the journal *Biomolecules.*

#### **Professional experience**

#### **Teaching experience**

• Teaching Assistant | Western university | 2019-2020

TA in the microbiology and immunology course for nursing students (MICROIMM 3820A), my role was to help in the pathological bacteria part of the course, answering students questions and writing case studies and marking them. As well as holding a review session to 400 students.

### • Teaching Assistant | Western university | 2016-2017

TA in the Infection and immunology course (MICROIMM 2500A), the course design to tough students concept in immunity including: innate and adaptive immunity, T and B cell immunity, pathogen recognition, and more.

#### **Research experience**

- Graduate research Assistant | Western university | 2016-2020 Conducting research for projects investigating the effect of targeting CD5 and Fas receptors to improve cancer immunity.
- Research Assistant | London Regional Cancer Program, Cancer Research Laboratory Program | 2016-2017

Conducting research for projects investigating the effect of IBR2 drugs targeting RAD51 on human lung cancer cell lines.

• Graduate Research assistant | Queen's university | 2013-2015 Conducting research for projects investigating the effect of fes/fps oncogene in Macrophages and T cells in the immune system.

#### Work-related experience

- Judge | Thames Valley Science & Engineering Fair | 2019. The Thames Valley Science & Engineering Fair is an annual event that provides an opportunity for Grades 4 to 12 students in the city of London and Middlesex, Oxford and Elgin counties to showcase their knowledge, talents and ingenuity in science, engineering and technology. My work involved reviewing and evaluating the student's projects in science as well as exam them.
- Judge | The Frontenac, Lennox and Addington Science Fair (FLASF) | 2015.

The Frontenac, Lennox and Addington Science Fair (FLASF) is an annual event that provides an opportunity for Grades 5 to 12 students in Kingston, Ontario to showcase their knowledge, talents and ingenuity in science, engineering and technology. My work involved reviewing and evaluating the student's projects in science as well as exam them.

- Member of the organization committee of the UWO Department of Microbiology and Immunology Infection and Immunity Research Forum (IIRF) | 2018 – 2020
- Member of the Program Advisory Committee of the Cancer Research and Technology Transfer (CaRTT) program (trainee representative) | 2017-2018.

Helped in organizing its most recent Annual Retreat to consider and recommend improvements to the CaRTT program as well as other tasks related to the committee, including designing and analyzing a survey and presenting data at the Annual Retreat to improve the CaRTT program for the upcoming year. • Lab internship | Maternity and Children Hospital | 2011-2012 Helped in collecting samples from patients and perform sample analysis including blood samples, tissue samples. Report collected data to system.

#### Workshop and professional training

• Western certificate in university teaching and learning | 2020 The goal of the Western Certificate in University Teaching and Learning is to enhance the quality of teaching by graduate students and postdoctoral scholars, and to prepare them for a future faculty or professional career.

#### • Teaching Assistant Training Program | 2016

The Teaching Assistant Training Program (TATP) is a 2½ day intensive training program designed for new TAs, including workshops on building lessons, providing feedback, grading fairly, running tutorials/labs, managing TA duties, and intercultural competence.

- Netiquette: Communicating with Your Students workshop 2016 | western university, London, Ontario
- Open Educational Resources for Teaching and Learning: Trends and Opportunities workshop

2016 | western university, London, Ontario

• Designing Your Own Course: Components of a Great Syllabus workshop

2016 | western university, London, Ontario

### Privacy and confidently training

2016 | London health science center, London, Ontario

• Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System (WHIMS) Advanced level training

2016 | London health science center, London, Ontario

### • Writing Advanced course

2013 | Algonquin college, Ottawa, Canada

### Memberships

 Member of The Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer's (SITC). 2020 – Present

- Member of the American Association for Cancer research (AACR). 2019 present
- Member of the Canadian society for Immunology. 2017 2019
- Member of the Saudi Cancer Society. 2011 2015